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ARMOR-PIERCING AMMUNITION 

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 7, 1984 

U.S. SENATE, 
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY, 
SUBCOMMIT'rEE ON CRIMINAL LAW, 

Washington, DC. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:35 a.m., in room 

226, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Paul Laxalt (chairman of 
the subcommittee presiding. 

Present: Senators Biden and Kennedy. 
Staff present: John F. Nash, Jr., chief counsel and staff director, 

Bill Miller, general counsel, Beverly McKittrick, counsel, and Fred­
erick D. Nelson, counsel. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. PAUL LAXALT, A U.S. SENATOR 
FROM THE STATE OF NEVADA, CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON 
CRIMINAL LAW 

Senator LAXALT. The subcommittee will be in order. 
On behalf of the Subcommittee on Criminal Law, I welcome all 

of you to this hearing on armor-piercing ammunition and in par­
ticular on the legislation introduced by Senator Moynihan, S. 555. 
Identical legislation was introduced in the House last year by Con­
gressman Biaggi, who is also with us today. I want to welcome both 
of these distinguished Members of Congress to the hearing and 
invite them to participate as long as their schedules will permit. 

The Reagan administration has also been actively interested in 
this issue and has recommended legislation that was recently 
passed by the Senate in the Comprehensive Crime Control Act of 
1984. That, of course, is S. 1762. Representatives from both the De­
partment of Justice and the Department of the Treasury are here 
this morning to testify on the general issues surrounding armor­
piercing ammunition, as well as on the legislation proposed by Sen­
ator Moynihan and Congressman Biaggi and by the administration. 

We are fortunate to have with us representatives from three mu­
nicipal police departments to lend their expertise and experience to 
our deliberations. These are the men and women whose lives are 
daily on the line in the fight against crime. The provisions in S. 
555 and in the Comprehensive Crime Control Act are intended to 
benefit directly the police of our Nation. 

We shall also hear from spokesmen from several organizations 
who have been extremely interested in this legislation since it was 
first introduced. The National Rifle Association and the California 
Wildlife Federation speak for many of the sportsmen and gun 
owners in America. The Fraternal Order of Police and the New 

(l) 



\ 

2 

York City Patrolmen's Benevolent Association represent the larg­
est organizations of policemen in the Nation and in the Nation's 
largest city. I welcome you all to be with us this morning. 

I shall also place into the record written statements from Con­
gressman Norman D' Amours, from the Citizens Committee for the 
Right to Keep and Bear Arms, and from other organizations. I 
should note at this time the subcommittee will keep the record 
open until March 23 for written statements submitted by other 
qualified, interested parties and organizations. 

I would like to take a moment to outline what I believe are the 
main issues presented to the subcommittee by S. 555. S. 555 con­
tains provisions for mandatory prison sentences for criminals con­
victed of using or carrying armor-piercing ammunition during the 
commission of Federal felonies. 

This approach to the problem is similar to the approach taken by 
the administration and recently approved by the Senate in S. 1762, 
the Comprehensive Crime Control Act. This approach, to my 
knowledge, is not controversial. 

S. 555 also prohibits the manufacture, importation, and sale of 
certain armor-piercing handgun ammunition, and it is on this pro­
posal and more specifically on the question of defining the ammu­
nition in question that there is vigorous debate and disagreement. 

Some ammunition, when used in the handguns that criminals 
often carry, will penetrate the soft body armor that is worn by 
more and more police officers today. Body armor is generally made 
of multiple layers of Kevlar fabric, which eliminates much of the 
bulkiness associated with older types of body armor. 

The purpose of this legislation is to keep this handgun ammuni­
tion from the hands and guns of the criminals by making it un­
available to the general public. This prohibition approach assumes 
that the ammunition in question can be defined to an acceptable 
degree of precision so that ammunition that is legitimately used by 
sportsmen, hunters, and target shooters and that is made by hun­
dreds of large and small manufacturers here and abroad will not 
be affected. 

This problem of avoiding an overly broad sweep in the scope of 
the bill is a difficult one, to say the least, and one on which the 
subcommittee needs the assistance of our witnesses who are here 
this morning. 

With this brief introduction in mind, I turn very happily to the 
first witness this morning, my good friend from the Empire State, 
Senator Pat Moynihan. Senator Moynihan, welcome. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Mr. Chairman, could Representative Biaggi 
join me? 

Senator LAXALT. Of course. 

STATEMENT OF HON. DANIEL PATRICK MOYNIHAN, A U.S. SENA­
TOR FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK; AND, HON. MARIO 
BIAGGI, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE 
OF NEW YORK 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Mr. Chairman, I want first to thank you, sir, 
for your great courtesy in making these hearings possible. It was 
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very thoughtful of you to propose this hearing last month when the 
issue s.rose in connection with the omnibus crime control bill. 

I have a statement, Mr. Chairman, which I would like to put in 
the record at this point and then briefly summarize the purposes. 

Senator LAXALT. Surely. Without objection, so ordered. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Mr. Chairman, it seems to me that in your 

opening statement you made the essential case. I will speak briefly 
and then my colleague and friend, Mario Biaggi, will make some 
remarks. He is a former police officer who was shot 10 times in the 
course of his active duty and speaks with an authority in this 
matter that few Members of Congress can summon. 

It is the case, Mr. Chairman, that about a decade ago the Du 
Pont Co. developed soft body armor from a fiber which, in multiple 
layers, effectively stops a. lead bullet slug of the kind that is nor­
mally used for target shooting, for hunting, or self-defense pur­
poses. 

This body armor began to be used by police in the mid-1970's and 
now is worn regularly by about half the Nation's 525,000 law en­
forcement officers. One of the positive aspects of the increased use 
of body armor has been the involvement of entire communities in 
efforts to provide police with access to these protective devices. Citi­
zens across the country have raised money to buy bullet-resistant 
vests for their local police at bake sales, raffles, and other fundrais­
ing events. It's a very common thing. 

And it gives a sense of security to the police, in association with 
the community, that is important to them. But this security is 
threatened by bullets that have one single purpose, to kill cops. 
These bullets serve no purpose, but to penetrate body armor. The 
two vests you see here have been penetrated by such bullets. These 
bullets can be bought anywhere. You are going to hear later, Mr. 
Chairman, from Detective Richard J anelli of the Nassau County 
Police. He will describe cop-killer bullets that he has bought over­
the-counter in Nassau County, where he is a police inspector. I 
have here the receipts he received for them. 

Some of these bullets, in order to alert you to their uses, are sold 
in boxes marked, "for police use only," which is to tell a potential 
criminal that he can kill a police officer with them. The police do 
not need them and, further, do not use them. These bullets have no 
use in hunting, and no use in handgun sports, typically target prac­
tice. They also are not cheap. No one in a firing range would fire 
these rounds. Some of them cost $1.50 apiece. 

The only reason to have a round like this is to kill a cop. Mr. 
Chairman, the purpose of our legislation is very simple: to prevent 
their manufacture, sale, or importation. Some are domestically 
manufactured. Others are manufactured in Czechoslovakia and 
other foreign countries and are imported into the United States. 
Thirteen million rounds of Czechoslovakian 9-millimeter ammuni­
tion have already been distributed in this country. 

And we feel that you can define these bullets. They are so ele­
mental in their purpose. One type has a Teflon covering, which 
was developed by the Du Pont Co. When Du Pont found what the 
Teflon-coated bullets were being used for, they refused to continue 
to sell it to munitions manufacturers. The Teflon is a lubricant 



\ 

4 

that makes it p~ssible to use an armor-piercing bullet without ruin-
ing the barrel of the gun. . . 

The problem of defining such a bullet, It seems ~o us, IS elemen­
tal. The Department of Justice has has been provIded funds to do 
so. We think it can be done.. . 

And with that, Mr. Chairman, I would lIke to conclu~e and awaIt 
questions from this distinguished and honorable commIttee and my 
colleague, Mario Biaggi. . 

[The prepared statement of Senator Moymhan and the text of S. 
555 follow:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON, PATRICK r10YNIHAN 

Mr. Chairman: 

I come before you tOclclY 011 lJelwlr of the NilUon'g 52El,()()() 

law enforcement officers. We have but a single purpose: To ask, 

will the Unitecl States Congress enact legislation to prot~ct them 

from armor-pierc ing handgun ammuni tion, capable of penetriJ ti ng 

the standarcl bullet-proof vest now worn routinely by more than 

250,000 of these officers? Or will Congress fail to act, fOT 

fear of offending the special interest groups that as a matter of 

orthocloxy will oppose any government restriction on any bullet? 

The job of a law enforcement officer is to risk his life, 

every clay, maintaining the peace ancl ferreting out criminal activi-

tie~. Our job is to govern. If we do not address the serious 

danger posed to law enforcement officers by armor-piercing ammuni-

t1on,' commonly referred to as cop-killer bullets, and do not do 

so promptly, we shoUld and shall be held accountable by the men 

and women who perform so valiantly at our behest. 

'l'wo years ago, I jOined with my distinguished colleague in 

the House and fellow New Yorker, Mario Biaggi __ himself a former 

police officer wounded 10 times during his 23 year career __ and 

on behalf of the New York City Police Department, in introducing 

a bill to ban the manufacture, import, sale, and use of cop-

killer bUllets. The need to limit the availability of such ammunition 

was urgent then, and remains so today. The development of bUllet­

proof vests in the mid-1970s provided law enforcement officers 

with greater protection than ever before. These vests, made of 

layers of Woven Revlar, a synthetic fiber produced by the DUPont 

Company, have so far been credited with saving the lives of more 

than 400 officers. The' FBI's most recent statistics document 

that 'the number of law enforcement officers killecl in tIle' lino oj" 

duty by handguns declined 43 percent from 1974 (when such vests 

were first made available to police departments) to 1983. These 

vests, however, are rendered virtually use}ess by cap-killer 
bullets. 

These small caliber, pointed bUllets, usually made of brass .' 
, or steel, differ from regUlar ammunition in two chief respects: 
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their rapid speed of travel, <lnd their C<lp<lcity to retain tlJuil' 

shape on impact. Perhaps the best known version of this ammunition 

is the I<'l'lv bullet, lI1anuf<lcturecl by the North 1Illiericun OrdnClncC' 

Corporation in Pontiac, Michigun. In a test conducted by the 

California State PoJ ice, thi.s bullet, with an <lpple green 'l'0.f1011 

coating to enhance iti penetrating ability, was found capable of 

piercing four st<lndard bulJetproof vests (72 layers of I<evlar) 

and five Los Angeles County phone books placed behind the vests. 

The awesome power of the KTW bullet is not significantly greater 

than other types of armor-piercing ammunition. In fact, a 1982 

FBI stUdy identified eight different bullets __ five domestically_ 

produced and three imported -- that can easily pierce the standard 

vests worn by law enforcement officers (18 layers of Kevlar). 

I SUbmit that these bullets have absolutely no commercial 

value. Armor-piercing bUllets were first designed for Use by law 

enforcement officers themselves, shooting at cars and barricades, 

but si~ce then they have been strictly prohibited by most police 

departments. In fact, there is not one single police department 

in the country ~nown to sanction offiCially the Use of this ammuntion. 

With good reason: Armor-piercing handgun ammunition is too unpre-

dictable for police use. It orten richochets orr tIle' oIJ:j<.'cb; 

toward which it is fired, significantly increasing the chance of 

bodily injury to other law enforcement officers and innocent 

bystanders. Some types of armor-piercing ammunition ar0 so voJntile 

that thE!Y damage irreperably the barrel of <lny handgun from which 

they are fired. As Captain John Sibley of the Rochester (Minnesot<l) 
polIce Force observed: 

'l'here can't be <lny othcr reClSon for such buJ]ets in 
a handgun except to shoot police officers. 

Every major law enforcement organization in the United States 

shares this sentiment. The National Fraternal Order or Police, 

1;:he ,International Association of Chiefs of Police, the Tntel-11C1tionClJ 

Union of Police AssOCiations, the International Brotherhood of 

'Police Officers, the National Association of Police Organizations, 

and the Federal Law Enforcement Officers Association, in addition 

to hUndreds of State and local police groups and the National 

AssOCiation of Counties, strongly support a ban on cop-killer 
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bullets and have urged Congress to act on this legislation. While 

some individual law enforcement officers may advocate the use of 

armor-piercing handgun ammunition, they do not speak for the 

overwhelming number of police who are outraged about the lack of 

restrictions on cop-killer bullets. 

Armor-piercing handgun ammunition is of no Use to hUnters 

and sportsmen. Standard ammunition can be used to achieve the 

same objectives, and in' a safer and more certain fashion. Animals 

shot with armor-piercing projectiles die slow deaths, usually 

from loss of blood, because the bUllets typically pass through 

the body cavity without fragmenting on impact. Indeed, for this 

reason, In'any States explicitly forbid the usc or such IJuIJ<,'l:s rOl; 

shooting game. 

The legislation Congressman Biaggi and I proposed in the 

97th Congress, and introdUced in this Congress as S. 555 and II.R. 

953, would direct the Department of the 'Preasury to detel-mine 

which bullets, when fired from a handgun with a barrel 5 inches 

or iess in length, are capable of penetrating the eguiva10nt of 

18 layers o[ I<evlar, the stnndnrd Composition o[ most polie0 

vosts. The Department then would publish its findings in the 

Federal Register, and 60 days after publication those bullets so 

identified Would be banned from fUrther manufacture, import, 

sale, and Use - except when <luthorized by the Secretary of the 

'freasury for pub~ic safety or national securi ty' purposes". The 

Secretary o[ Treasury cQuld allow domestic manufacturers. to continue 

testing armor-piercing bUllets, and authorize the sale of such 

bullets to local law enforcement agencies or foreign governments. 

A licensed importer, manufact~rer, or dealer who violated 

this act would be subject to a fine of not more than $10,000, 

imprisonment for not more than 10 years, and the revocation of 

his Federal license. In addition, a person using or carrying an 

illegal bullet during the commission of a Federal felony would be 

subject to a mandatory sentence of not less than 1 year nor more 

than 10 years for a first offense, and not less than 2 years nor 

more than 25 years [or a second or SUbsequent orfensc. 

The stipulation in the testing procedures, to focus on bullets 

for handguns with a barrel length of five inches or less, Was not 

I , 
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arbitrary. In 1981, Joseph Albright of Cox Newspap~rs studied 

data on some 14,268 handguns confiscated from criulinals. l1is 

study, widely acknowledged as the most comprehensiv~ of its kind, 
revealed, 

Two out of every three handguns used in murders, 
rapes, robberies, and muggings were ... hanguns with 
barrels protruding no more than three inches beyond 
the cylinder. 

Mr. Albright also found that the 15 handguns predominantly used 

by driminals all had barrel lengths of four inches or less. 

The vest thickness prescribed in the testing procedures of 

my legislation ~lso was carefully chosen. The vast m~jority of 

police vests worn today consists of 18 layers of kevlar. This is 

the same vest thickness used in the FBI's 1982 demonstration 

project, a study which showed these vests capable of stopping any 

conventional handgun bullets (including the .44 magnum, the most 

powerful standard handgun ammunition), but unable to defeat eight 

types of specially-designed armor-piercing ammuntion. 

Let me make clear what this bill does not do. Our legislation 

would not limit the availability of rifle ammunition'with armor-

piercing capability. We recognize that soft body armor is not 

intended to stop high-powered rifle cartridges. Time and again, 

Congressman Biaggi and I have stressed that' only bullets capable 

of penetrating body armor and designed to be fired from a handgun 

would be banned; rifle ammunition would not be covered. To fUrther 

clarify this intent in our legislation, bot!l CongresSllliln 13.inSJ9i 

and I would favor an amendment explicitly to exclude rifle i1l11ll1unj tion. 

In addition, our bill would not limit the availability of 

conventional handgun ammunition to law-abiding citizens for self-

defense and sporting purposes. 'j'he legislat.ion Iws boon C/)"nfl:ccl 

so as to apply only to the narrow class of bullets capable of 

penetrating bullet-resistant armor when fired from a handgun. 

Gun owners who already have armor-piercing handgun ammunition in 

their possession would not be subject to criminal sanctions. Our 

sole objective is to keep those handgun bullets specially designed 

to pierce soft body armor out of the hands of criminals. Nothing 

more is intende~; nothing less will sUffice. 

In the spring of 1982, the House Subcommittee on Crime con-

ducted hGarings on our legislation. At that tilllO, tho Ac1minj.c;t.rn-

o 
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tion raised some legitimate questions about the Scope of our 

proposal. Officials from the Department of Justice and the Depart­

ment of the Treasury, while agreeing with the thrust of our legisla­

tion, expressed concern about the adGquacy of our definition of 

armor-piercing ammunition. 

Since that time, the Department of Justice has tried to 

develop a legislative response to the threat of cop-killer bullets, 

one that incorporates these concerns. Funds were allocated at 

the beginning of 1983 for a joint project by the National Institute 

of Justice and National Bureau of Standards to formulate a legis­

lative definition of armor-piercing ammunition. An initial draft 

version of the study's findings was forwarded to the Department 

in August, 1983. Following further revisions. a final draft 

proposal was sent to the Office of Management and Budget fo)". 

review. In a letter to Congressman Biaggi of January 31, 1984, 

Robert A. MCConnell, Assistant Attorney General, stated, 

. .. I remain optimistic that we have now resolved 
the definitional problems which have plagued ~his 
legislation in the past and that we will hav( <:. 
proposal for submission to the Congress in tho near future. " 

What, then, happened to this proposal? Quite .simply, nothing. 

Someone, someWhere, in the Administration decided that the DepClrt-

ment of Justice's proposal was unacceptable. As a result, the 

Department of Justice has not released any findings, although 

some details of its proposed legislation were made available to 

me and Congressman Biaggi. 'l'he 1J1ain difference between the Justice 

Department's proposal and our legislation seems to be the device 

Used to test the penetration capacity of armor-piercing buJJots. 

The Justice Department proposal SUbstitute a metal plate for the 

18 layer Kevlar vest included in our testing procedUres. 

The response of the Department of the Treasury since the 

House hearing has been deeply disappointing. Treasury officials 

have done nothing to assist the Justice Department in its efforts 

to produce a legislative definition of armor-piercing handgun 

ammunition. Instead, Robert E. Powis, Deputy Assistant Treasury 

Secretary for Enforcement, permitted the National Rifle AssOCiation 

to circulate a letter, from Mt. Powis, dated April 7, 1983, to 

members of the Senate. In this letter, Mr.powis wrote the NHl\, 

\ 
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There has been little significant progress in 
the develo~ment of a regulatory definition for armor­
piercing ammunition that would not also include a 
wide range of ammunition commonly used for sporting 
purposes. 

This letter, an almost exact reiteration of Mr. Powis's 

testimony before the House Subcommittee in 1982, was scnt the 

~ day that Robert A. McConnell, Assistant Attorney General, 

wrote to Mr. Donald E. Fraher, Legislative Director of Handgun 

Control, Inc. to inform him that, 

In an effort to develop a precise legislative 
definition of armor-piercing bullets, the Department 
of Justice has funded a research project now being 
carried out by the National Institute of Justice and 
the National Bureau of Standards. It is hoped that 
this research effort will produce a workable defini­
tion of armor-piercing ammunition. Once the results 
are in, we expect to offer legislation banning armor­
piercing handgun ammunition. 

Was Mr. Powis unaware of the Justice Department's work on a l0gis-

lative solution, or simply uQinterested' ~n its results? 

Mr. Powis also asserted in his letter to the NRA that the 

Department of the ~~easury was controlling the distributi~n of 

specially designed armor-piercing ammunition, through voluntary 

compliance agreements. How, I must ask, could the Department of 

Treasury limit the availability of armor-piercing handgun ammun~tion, 

if it considered it impossible to differentiate such bullets from 

standard ammunition? I might add that the NRA also sent a second 

letter to members of the House, dated June 10, 1983 in which it 

averred, 

Federally licensed firearms dealers no longer 
stock armor-piercing bullets for purchase by police 
officers as they once did. There are no importers 
that the Treasury Departm~nt does not have a voluntary 
comliance agreement with limiting the sale directly 

~. to police departments. 

I, for one, have doubts about the existence of any such 

"voluntary compliance agreements" with domestic manufacturers, 

Federally lice~1sed firearms dealers, and importers. Last week r 

wrote Mr. Powis, requesting documentation of al] these voluntary 

compliance agreements before today's hearing. I have not received 

a response. Several police witnesses will appear before the 

Subcommittee this morning to respond to the Treasury Department's 

assur~nces about controls allegedly placed on the distribution of 

cop-killer bUllets. In particular, Detective Richard Janelli, of 

11 

the Nassau County Police Department, will testify to tl1~: uvail-

ability of armor-piercing hand-gun ammunition in gun shops throughout 

his Department's juriSdiction. Permit me to mention that last 

September the Nassau County Police arrested a suspected bank 

robber in his residence. During a search pursuant to the cll~r0st I 

pol~ce discovered both domestically-manufactured and imported 

armor-piercing handgun ammunition. 

Some opponents of oui 1~gislati6n, primarily the NRA, contend 

there is no need to restrict the availability of armor-piercing 

handgun ammunition. This type of bullet, it is argued, poses no 

danger to law enforcement officers. Could the NRA be unaware 

that a Canadian police officer and a Florida Highway Patrolman 

were shot and killed with KTW ammunition in Broward County, Florida 

in 1976? Had not the NRA spoken with law enforcement officers 

who are well aware of stocks of armor-piercing handgun ammunition 

available in local gunshops? 

Writing in the Au~ust 15, 1983 edition of The Firing Line, 

the official publication of the California Rifle and Pistol Associa-

tion, Inc., Warren Cassidy, Executive Director of the NRA stated, 

Clearly, ammunition designed to cut through 
armor is not used by hunters or competitive shooters. 
The ammunition is for specialized law enforcement 
and military uses only. The NRA understands this. 

The NRA, then, does recognize the distinction between specially 

designed armor-piercing bull cts and standard cllllllluni tion. Nc'vc:rl:!](;.'] ('~;S, 

the NRA seems unable to go one step beyond, and recognize that a 

legislative definition can encompass one type of bullet without 

including the other. }nstead Mr. Cassidy chargos in his nrtic10 

that tho legislation s[.lonsOl~ed by myself Clncl Congl~0ssJllUn Biaggi 

Would ban virtually all types of sporting ammunition. 

Yet Mr. Cassidy and other NHA representatives cannot document 

what types of standard handqun amlllunition would be outlawed by 

our bill. When· pressed for specifics, they argue that our legis­

lation would ban 90 percent of all ~ ammlinition, a tyre of 

ammunition not addressed by our legislation. Even if the NRA • 
, 
were able to identify standard handgun bullets that would be 

outlawed under S. 555, I would contend, as'di-d forme~'Associate 

~--------
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Attorney General Rudolph W. Gialiani, in his letter to Congressman 

Biaggi on February 1, 1983, that 

... any further delay is a tragic mistake. If legisla­
tion bans some bullets which are not stictly armor­
piercing -- if it is in some sense overinclusive -­
that is a small price to pay when the safety of law 
enforcement officers and others hangs in the balance. 

Let there be no mistake. Any effort to ban armor-piercing 

handgun ammunition will be opposed by the NRA on narrow ideological 

reasons, no matter how carefully we define the ban. The NRA 

would have us wait to enact such a ban until dozens, perhaps 

hundreds, of law enforcement officers wearing vests are shot dead 

by these wholly unnecessary bullets. In the meantime, domestic 

manufacturers and importers and Federally licensed firearm dealers 

would continue to pedal cop-killer bullets, at the potential 

expense of every law enforcement officer wearing a vest. My 

question is, "why must we wOli l: un til tlwn?" 

I would like to menti6n and commend the efforts of Handgun 

Control, Inc., an organization that has assisted local officials 

here in Washington, D.C., as well as el~ewhere in providing soft 

body armor to police officers who previously had no access to 

these vests. Handgun Control has joined with law enforcement 

organizations in vigorously supporting legislation to ban cop-

ki 11er bullets, and in so doing hi1s per formed an inlportnn t pub] ic 

service. 

While the Congress has yet to act upon this legJslation J i1111 

encouraged by the response our bill has elicited from state legis­

latures. Since we first offered our legislation nine States 

(Kansas, Oklahoma, Alabama, ihode Island, Illinois, Califor~ii, 

Floridi1, Texas, i1nd Indii1na) i1nd the District o[ Columbia have 

- ~--- --------- -~-

outlawed cop-killer bullets. Six more States (Minnesota, Louisiana, 

Montana, New Jersey, Maine and Virginia) have increased existing 

penalties for criminal possession or use of such bullets, and 

many others currently have legislation pending. The Administration 

also included, in the crime package approved by the Senate last 

month, criminal sanctions for the use of armor-piercing ammunition. 

In addition, Winchester-Western, one of the Nation's largest 

ammunition manufacturers, has stopped producing armor-piercing 

bullets, and the DuPont Company has stopped selling Teflon to 

13 

manufacturers of the KTW bullet, after determining the ammunition 

was being distributed to the general public. 

Unfortunately, these efforts cannot provide law enforcement 

officers the protection they so deserve. We must do everything 

possible at the Fede~al level to prevent the criminal use of 

armor-piercing handgun ammuni ti.on. Cerl:Cli.n.1 y, DB Mr. ,;:(lw(lrc1 

Murphy, Legislative Counsel to the International Brotherhood of 

Police Officers, pointed out in his testimony before the House 

Subcommittee on Crime, there is ample precedent for Fede~al legis­

lation to bi1n this type of lethi11 i1111/llunition: 

The Congress has adopted a policy of restricting 
the availability and use of certain types of firearms 
and weapons in order to assist police officers in 
fighting crime. Congress has outlawed the sale of 
the short-barreled rifle, the sawed-off shotgun, 
machine guns, and classes of weapons known as "destructive 
devices." Congress has provided a stiff deterrent 
to the sale or possessi.on of such weapons as the 
means of controlling their availability. This method, 
while not completely effective, has at least provided 
officers with an instrument to combat their availability 
and use. 

Police officers are pleading" for this additional protection. 

How l~ng can we ignore these pleas? 

As sentiment against cop-killer bullets continues to build 

across the country, it is incumbent on the U.S. Congress to address 

the issue. 

37-220 0 85 - 2 
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8.555 
To stop the proliferation of "cop-killer" bullets. 

IN TI:m SENATE OF TIm UNITED STATES 

IT 

FEBRUARY 22 Oegislative day, FEBRUARY 14), 1983 

Mr. MOYNIHAN (for himself, Mr. BIDEN, !vIr. HEINZ, Mr. KENNEDY, Mr. INOUYE, 
Mr. PELL, Mr. BRADLEY, and Mr. METZENBAUM) introduced the following 
bill· which was read twice and referred to the Committee on the JUdiciary , 

A BILL 
To stop the proliferation of "cop-killer" bullets. 

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, 

3 

4 

SHORT TITLE 

SECTION 1. This Act may be cited as the "Law En-

5 forcement Officers Protection Act of 1983". 

6 SEC. 2. (a) Whoever, being a licensed importer, manu-

7 facturer, or dealer under chapter 44 of title 18, United States 

8 Oode, imports, manufactures, or sells a restricted handgun 

9 bullet, except as specifically authorized by the Secretary of 

10 the Treasury for purposes of public safety or national secu-

11 rity, shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not 
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1 more than ten years, or both, and the license of such person 

2 shall be subject to revocation under such chapter. 

3 (b) Whoever-

4 
(1) uses a restricted handgun bullet to commit any 

5 felony for which he may be prosecuted in a court of 

6 

7 

8 

the United States; or 

(2) carries a restricted handgun bullet unlawfully 

during the commission of any felony for which he may 

9 be prosecuted in a court of the United States; 

10 shall, in addition to the punishment provided for the commis-

11 sion of such felony, be sentenced to a term of imprisonment 

12 for not less than one year nor more than ten years. In the 

13 case of his second or subsequent conviction under this subsec-

14 tion, such person shall be sentenced to a term of imprison-

15 ment for not less than two nor more than twenty-five years. 

16 Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the court shall 

17 not suspend the sentence in the case of a conviction of such 

18 person under this subsection or gi,:e him a probationary sen-

19 tence, nor shall the term of imprisonment imposed under this 

20 subsection run concurrently with any term of imprisonment 

21 imposed for the commission of such felony. 

22 
SEC. 3. (a) The Secretary of the Treasury may prescribe 

23. such regulations as may be necessary to carry out this Act, 

24 including regulations requiring appropriate persons to provide 

25 samples of bullets for testing under this Act. 

S 555 is 
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1 (b) Any regulation identifying a bullet as a restricted 

2 handgun bullet shall take effect sixty days after the date on 

3 which such regulation is promulgated in accordance with ap-

4 plicable law. 

5 SEC. 4. As used in this Act, the term-

6 (1) "body armor" means a commercially available, 

7 soft, lightweight material with penetration resistance 

8 equal to or greater than that of eighteen layers of 

9 Kevlar; 

10 (2) "handgun" means a firearm originally de-

II signed to be fired by the use of a single hand; and 

12 (3) "restricted handgun bullet" means a bullet 

13 that, as determined by the Secretary of the Treasury, 

14 when fired from a handgun with a barrel five inches or 

15 less in length, is capable of penetrating body armor. 

o 

S 555 IS 
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Senator LAXALT. I thank the Senator. I noticed during the time 
the Senator was testifying that my distinguished friend and col­
league, Senator Kennedy, came in. Did you have an opening state­
ment, Senator, that you would like to make preparatory to the 
questioning? 

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. EDWARD M. KENNEDY, A U.S. 
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF MASSACHUSETTS 

Senator KENNEDY. Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman. I just want to 
commend Senator Moynihan and Congressman Biaggi for introduc­
ing this legislation. I am very hopeful that we will get action on 
this important proposal. As the chairman of this subcommittee re­
members, when the Senate was considering the changes in the ex­
isting laws relating to the interstate sales of handguns and Satur­
day night specials, I offered an amendment at that time to ban the 
production of these bullets. And I was reminded at that time that 
Treasury was reviewing this whole issue and that they were going 
to make recommendations to the Judiciary Committee about how 
this could effectively be achieved. So I withdrew my amendment. 

That was 2 years ago. And over that period of time there have 
been many policemen who have been shot and two who lost their 
lives while we find bureaucrats doing more studies about how to 
stop this kind of a terrible situation . 

. I fee~ tha~ the ~ecoI?mend~tions that are made by Senator Moy­
nlhan In thIS leglslatIOn, whlCh I welcome the opportunity to co­
sponsor, makes a great deal of sense. I am hopeful that we can get 
the legislation out and get it passed. And I will certainly join with 
tJ:e Senato~ fro.m NmlV York in att~ching it to any appropriate 
pIece of legIslatIOn that comes along In the U.s. Senate, if we are 
not able to get it successfully out of the Judiciary Committee, in 
order to give an opportunity for other Members of the Senate to 
speak on this issue. 

Vie hear a great deal in our society now about violence in our 
society and about how we are going to support our law enforcement 
officials. Well, I think the Senator from New York and the Con­
gressman from New York have given a very clear way in which we 
can make some contribution to ensuring the preservation of life for 
those men and sometimes women who are the front line of defense 
for our communities. And I just want to thank the chairman, Sena­
tor Laxalt, for holding these hearings. And I welcome the testimo­
ny of our two witnesses here this morning and commend them for 
making a very important contribution to the preservation and well 
being of law enforcement officials in this society. 

Senator LAXALT. I thank the Senator. 
. S~nator MoynihaI?-, i:r: your .written statement, I notice that you 
IndlCate that the bIll IS not Intended to affect rifle ammunition 
even though it may be able to pierce soft body armor. I understand 
that many sporting pistols today are designed to fire rifle car­
tridges. 

Does this I?ean that rifle ammunition that can pierce body 
armor when 6.red from handguns will also be banned by this bill? 
Senato~ MOY.NIHA~. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I do not want to play 

games wIth thIS subject. Any round that was designed originally 

-----
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for handguns but could be fired from rifles and that will penetrate 
the armor of police officers and peace officers and kill cops, we are 
against; that is what this is for. 

And that kind of round would not ordinarily be used by a sports­
man. You have handled rifles in your day; so have 1. You do not 
fire steel cased cartridges at game. It does not stop them, among 
other things. It goes right through them. It goes right through 
game, as it goes right through police officers. 

Senator LAXALT. True. Senator, do you have any questions to ask 
Senator Moynihan before we go on to Congressman Biaggi. 

Senator KENNEDY. Just to be the devil's advocate, there are those 
who say in terms of hunting that this is really a humane missile 
because what it does do is instead of another kind of a shell if it 
hits an animal, that may wound the animal, this effectively does 
the job, so to speak, and therefore puts the animals out of their 
misery and does it quick. 

And, therefore, there is a compelling sporting interest for this 
kind of a round. That is the argument that I heard in our Judici­
ary Committee when I brought this measure up a little over a year 
ago. 

I think you have answered it, but if there is anything further 
you want to add to that, because we will hear that argument made 
again. And I would just like to hear your response. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Well, Senator, I live in Delaware County, 
NY, where more deer are shot each year than in any other county 
in the State and more, I think, than in many other States in the 
Nation. And we know something about deer hunting in that part of 
the world, which is the main big game hunting that we do. 

What would you do with a steel-jacketed round of that type 
which does not stop the deer, but just puts a bullet through him so 
he can bleed to death 24 hours later? 

Now, I do not know that you get very far in the discussion of the 
humane way to kill anim~ls, and I am not trying to get into that. 
But if you want to be specific, if you were a deer hunter in Dela­
ware County, the last thing in the world you would ever do is put 
in your rifle an armor-piercing round because it will pierce the 
deer without stopping him. Now, it is just as simple as that. I do 
not want to speak to the relative humanity of the matter, but if 
you are trying to bring home some venison, a sportsman would 
never do so in that manner. 

Senator KENNEDY. I just have a final question. As I understand 
it, there have been at least two officers who have been killed by 
these bullets. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Yes, sir. 
Senator KENNEDY. And I think their families have some interest 

in being protected and I think their colleagues-I do not know the 
numbers that have been wounded, but I know that it has been sig­
nificant, and I think that their families are entitled to have some 
protection as well and some consideration as these other interests 
which we hear so much about. 

I thank the Senator. 
Senator LAXALT. All right Congressman Biaggi, we would be 

pleased to hear from you. 
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STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE MARIO BIAGGI 

Mr. BlAGG!. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I have a 
lengthy statement, which I would ask the permission of the Chair 
to have included in the record. 

Senator LAXALT. Without objection, it will be so ordered. 
Mr. BlAGG!. And I would like to make some observations. With 

relation to the humane aspect, I share the sentiments of my col­
league from New York, Sen~tor Moypihan. Tha~ is a~other ques­
tion. But really the same thIng applIes to a pohce offIcer. We .do 
not need armor-piercing bullets for law enforcement. We emphasIze 
that. 

What the police officer requires is a bullet that will stop the 
felon, and an armor-piercing bullet will not stop the felon. M?r.e­
over, it will pierce him quite readily and ,Pose a danger to the ~lVll­
ians in the area. Oft-times we have seen Innocent bystanders kIlled 
in this kind of exchange. 

Before I go into my written comments, I have been involved in 
this thing for 4 years and some of the comments we get from repre­
sentatives of the NRA is that no police officer has been killed. Let 
us assume that none have been, even though we know that two 
have been killed, both in Florida. One was a Florida highway pa­
trolman. The other was visiting a Canadian police officer, who was 
killed in the same incident. 

Is it necessary to wait until a police officer is killed before we 
pass legislation or do we share the horrible experience and oft­
times hypocritical experience of participating in memorial services 
for law enforcement officials and wait for them to die before we 
shed those crocodile tears. 

I sayan ounce of prevention is worth considerably more than 
those fraudulent expressions. I have been in law enforcement over 
23 years. I have attended many a policeman's funeral. And we are 
familiar with the entire process. I am at odd's end to understand 
why the NRA takes the position that it does. 

But hopefully this committee-and forgive me, Mr. Chairman, I 
am a little upset about this because I am passionately involved 
with this issue. There is a responsibility on the part of government, 
on the part of society at large to protect the police officer when 
possible. 

Here we have an opportunity and it is not being done and it is 
being resisted by the very same people who should be out there in 
the vanguard and not be the main obstacle to the enactment of this 
legislation. 

With relation to the question of using rifle ammunition in hand­
guns, the bill would only affect ammunition that is originally de­
signed for handguns. And again I agree with the Senator from New 
York; it is a rare occasion when a sportsman will take a rifle car­
tridge and put it in a handgun. This legislation deals with the rule, 
not the exception. Frankly, there is no legislation that perfectly ap­
plies in all cases. 

But if it deals effectively with the problem at large, then it is 
worth enacting. As I said before, it was nearly 4 years ago tha.t I 
authored legislation to address the problem of cop-killer bullets. I 
did so at the request of the law enforcement community. In 1979, 
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the then president of the New York C!ty Pat~olmen's Benevolent 
Association brought this to my attentIOn .saYIng that New York 
City had become the dumping ground for thIS type of bullet. .. 

And as a 23 year veteran police offlcer, I understand the crItIcal 
nature of the problem, but I cannot understand how such a prob­
lem can be talked about by so ~any and acted ~n by so few. And 
that is why I appreciate .your ~nterest, Mr. ChaIrman. And I am 
hopeful that today's hearIng WIll allow us to ~vercome the obsta­
cles that have stalled this vital police protectIOn measure for so 
long. . . h d b 11 t First, let me emphasize that armor pIercmg .an gu~ u e s ~re 
not used for legitimate p~rposes. Ev~n th~ NatIOnal RIfle .~ssoCla­
tion has acknowledged thIS fact, statmg, Clearly ammumtIo~ de­
signed to cut through armor is not used by hunters or competItIve 
shooters." My legislation seeks to ensure these bUllets are not used 
for unlawful purposes. '. '. 

Actually, these high powered cartrIdges, ~hlCh th.e polIce com­
munity fear, were originally made ~o help polIce, partIcularly when 
shooting at automobiles. The notorIOUS Teflon coa.ted KTW armor­
piercing cartridge was developed by three men In OhIO for that very purpose. . 

But we have witnessed a change in the polIcy of law en/orcement 
over the years. Police officers today are generally restrIcted ~rom 
firing at fleeing cars. Now, the KTV bulle.t and other armor-pIerc­
ing ammunition no longer serves any specIal law enfo!cement pur­
pose. I have brought a KTV bullet to show the c0ID:mlttee because 
it is quite unique. It has the green apple 1\?lflon coatIng. The Teflon 
was provided by Du Pont. ". 

And, in fairness to Du Pont and to theIr everlastI;'1g cred~t, we 
had their representatives in several years ago and pomted th~ ?ut 
and they agreed to discontinue the sale of Teflon to ammUnItIOn 
manufacturers for this purpose. But there ar~ a~out a ~~lf a dozen 
other cartridges that have the same armor-pIercIng abIlIty, and do not have the Teflon coating. 

Adding to the irony is the fact that the law enforcement ~ommu­
nity considers this ammurution too da~gerous eyen for pohce ,~se. 
According to the InternatIOnal AssoClat~on ?f ChIefs of~ohce,. We 
can find no legitimate use for armor-plercmg a)llm~~ItlOn, eI~her 
in or out of law enforcement. The manufacturers PO~ItIon that It IS 
for 'police use only' is ludicrous." The problem 18 really qUl~ 
simple. More than half our Nation's 528,000 la:v enfo~cement offI­
cers wear bUllet resistant body armor on a dally baSIS. A~d t~at 
soft body armor came into being long after ~he .armor-plerclI~g 
bullet was developed. So, initially, the armor-pIercIng bUllets dId 
not pose any special threat to police. '. 

Now, we have the soft body armor and the I?olIce offIcers who 
wear it have every right to expect that they WIll be afforded the 
kind of protection that it allegedly represents. 

Senator LAXALT. For the purpose of the record, Congres~m:>n, 
what was the reason why we had the policy change restrIctmg 
police officers from using this on vehic1e~? . , 

Mr. BrAGG!. Most police departments, mcludmg New York CIty s, 
restrict their officers from flring at fleeing fugitives; the theory 
being we have the means to pursue and capture them later rather 
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than jeopardizing innocent bystanders, who have too often been in­
jured or killed dUring an exchange of gunfire between police and felons. 

The problem is really quite simple. More than half of OUr Na­
tion's 528,000 law enforcement officers wear bUllet resistant body 
armor on a daily basis. The U.S. Justice Department reports that 
more than 400 lives have been saved by these vests, and that is reason enough for wearing them. 

In fact, dUring the 10 years that bulletproof vests have been in 
use, handgun related police deaths have declined by 43 percent. Al­
though not designed to stop rifle ammunition, the 18 layer Kevlar 
vest that most police officers wear will stop conventional handgun 
ammunition, including the Powerful .44 Magnum. 

As a result, mOre and more police are looking to soft body armor 
for protection. Just last year, in fact, I joined in the effort to raise 
$624,000 to furnish more than 3,000 District of Columbia police offi­
cers with a bulletproof vest identical to the one displayed here by 
District of Columbia police officer Alan Harper. Yet, despite its 
ability to stop conventional handgun ammunition, soft body armor 
is totally useless against a small class of handgun bUllets especially made for maximum penetration. 

And there has been demonstration after demonstration in the 
city of New York and other places around the country that have 
revealed to police officers just how dangerous the bUllets can be. 
There Was a film shown this morning when Senator Moynihan ap­
peared on the "Today Show," which demonstrated how these bUl­lets can rip through a police vest and--

Senator MOYNIHAN. Five telephone books. 
Mr. BrAGG!. These bullets can penetrate both sides of the vest, go 

through a SUbstance equivalent to the human body and then go 
through several thick telephone books. What Officer Harper is now 
holding is a vest that provided as much resistance as a piece of 
paper When tested against a KTW bullet. As you can see, the KTW 
bullet easily penetrated the front and back panels of this vest and kept on traveling. 

Significantly different from other handgun ammunition, the 
armor-piercing handgun bUllets are made of extremely hard 
metals, Usually steel, which allow the bullets to retain their shape on impact. 

In addition, they travel at exceptionally high speeds. Contrary to 
a popular misconception, the apple green Teflon coating, which is 
unique to the KTW bUllet, is not the key ingredient to armor-pierc_ 
ing ammunition, although it does increase the penetrability by some 10 to 20 percent. 

My initial research identified eight different manufacturers, both 
foreign and domestic, that made a handgun cartridge capable of 
penetrating the most popular police vest. The current availability 
of armor-piercing handgun ammunition is difficult to assess in pre­cise terms. 

However, we do know they have been easily obtained by ciVilians 
through local gun shops and we know that criminals have used 
them to shoot and kill police omcers. cTust last September a bank 
rObbery suspect Was arrested by Nassau County and New York 
police. DUring a search of the suspect's home, the police found a 
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stockpile of w~apons and ammunition, including 32 armor-piercing 
handgun cartrIdges. The Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco and Firearms 
reports that approximately 30 million rou'nds of C~echoslovakian 
armor-pi~rcing ammunition were imported during the 1970's for 
commercIal sales. 

D~sp~t~ these alarII?-ing. facts, ~ederal law does not limit the 
avall~b~hty of ~rmor-plercmg cop-klller bullets in any way. 

Thls lS especlally surpri~in~, since even the manufacturers agree 
that. these awesome projectIles should not be available to the 
pubhc. In fact, the producers of the notorious KTW armor-piercing 
b~llets haye labelled their product "for police use only." And, not­
wlthstandlng that label, we have it right here. People go into the 
shops and buy them without difficulty. 

Now, the~e are sO.me critics of our legislation who say that since 
we have rals~d the Issue ther~ has be.en a more cautious approach, 
a more ?onslder~d apPt;0ach m maklng these bullets available to 
the pubhc. The ImpreSSlOn they give you is that only law enforce­
ment people can now get it. Nothing could be further from the 
truth. 

Senator ~OYNIHAN. This was bought over the counter two 
months ago In Nassau County. 

Mr. BrAGG!. In February 1982, I offered what I felt was a logical 
response. to the serious problem. All handgun bullets capable of 
penetrating the 18 layer Kevlar: yest, most of~en worn by police, 
,,:,"ould be outlawed, e.xcept for mIhtary and polIce use. This legisla­
tion would also proYIde a ma!1datory 1 to 10 year prison sentence 
for any person convIcted of usmg these bullets in crime 

. As a police ot:fic:er, I have always recommended that 'anyone con­
v.Icted of commlttmg a crime with a firearm should have an addi­
tional mandat~ry penalty imposed. The bill, H.R. 953, and its 
Senate companlOn, S. 555, have been endorsed by individual police 
depanm~nts and major police organizations across the country. 
CongresslOnal support has been overwhelming with over 200 Mem­
bers of C?l?-gress cosponsoring this legislation. 

In ad.dl~lOn) 10 States as well as a number of localities have en­
acted simllar laws ba~r:ing ~rmor-piercing handgun bullets. Con­
t~ary. to what some .cntIcs mlg~t want you to believe, my legisla­
~IO~1.. IS .not some deVIOusly contnved gun control measure aimed at 
~nfnn~mg on the legitimate use of firearms or ammunition, which 
~s a. nght I fully.support. I am not for -gun control measures that 
l~fnnge on the nghts of legitimate gun owners and users. I would 
lIke to make that point clear. 

I am simply for protecting of the lives of police officers. My bill 
uses an approach based on common sense to outlaw a very small 
class of h~n~gun bullets that benefit only one element of our socie­
ty, the cnminal element. Despite the compelling need for such a 
measur~, t~e Congre~s has failed to enact a Federal ban against 
armor-plerclng, cop-kIller bullets. 

There are two reasons. First, the National Rifle Association 
str<;mgly oPl?oses a ban on these bullets; second, the administration 
whlle. seemIngly not opposed to the idea, has offered very littl~ 
meanIngful support for ~ Federal ban. The gun lobby's opposition 
to a ban on armor-plercing handgun ammunition is nothing but a 
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knee jerk reaction based more on paranoia than on any semblance 
of reason. 

Consider, for example, an article written by Evan Marshall for 
the Gun Owners of America, which stated: . 

The National Rifle Association has wisely recognized that the killer bullet contro­
versy represents a gun control issue. If the antigun people can begin to restrict am­
munition, they can get gun control through the back door. 

Simply put, the issue my bill seeks to address is police protection, 
not gun control. For nearly 2 years the Justice and Treasury De­
partments have offered assurances that they share my deep con­
cern about the serious threat armor-piercing ammunition poses to 
our law enforcement community. They have given assurances that 
they would work with me in developing appropriate legislative 
remedies. Yet they refuse to endorse the legislation before the sub­
committee today to ban armor-piercing bullets, and they have 
failed to develop alternative legislation of their own. 

Simply stated, this administration, which has long prided itself 
on a strong law and order stance, for which I am grateful,. notwith­
standing the fact I am a Democrat, has used bureaucratIc double 
talk to effectively stonewall the most important police protection 
initiative in recent years, a ban on cop-killer bullets. It appears 
that at least part of the reason for these mixed signals we are get­
ting from the administration stems from a bureaucratic squabble 
between the Departments of Justice and Treasury. 

While both Departments have pledged their willingness to work 
toward a legislative ban against armor-piercing handgun bullets, 
only the Justice Department appears to have followed through on 
that pledge, and their constructive efforts have met continued re­
sistance from Treasury officials. In a letter dated January 31, 1984, 
Assistant Attorney General Robert McConnell informed me that: 

The Department of Justice has just recently forwarded a draft armor-piercing 
bullet package to the bffice of Management and Budget for review within the ad-
ministra tion. 

I remain optimistic that we have now resolved the definitional problems which 
have plagued this legislation in the past. 

And the question of definition has been the plague, but apparent­
ly Mr. McConnell feels that the Justice Department's proposal re­
solves that problem and that we will have a legislative proposal for 
submission to the Congress in the near future. 

Although the Justice Department proposal has not been made 
available fOl' my review, I have been informed by a Justice official 
that the general thrust is very similar to the Biaggi-Moynihan leg­
islation. The major differences are that the Justice proposal would 
require testing to be conducted by the industry rather by than the 
Treasury Department, and the standard of penetration would con­
sist of a certain number of aluminum plates rather than the 18 
layers of Kevlar. For the record, I wou.ld have no problem with 
either change. In fact, I find the Justice approach rather appealing, 
and I am hopeful the Congress will have an opportunity to give it 
the prompt and careful consideration it deserves. 

I am bothered by the reports I have received, however, indicating 
the Treasury Department is opposed to the Justice draft and may 
block its submission to Congress. I would urge Treasury to recon­
sider their position and join the Justice Department. 
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While State laws and voluntary restrictions are encouraging, 
they are far from satisfactory. Only 1.0 S.tates have restricted the 
availability of these high powered projectIles and the laws that do 
exist vary from one State to the next. Voluntary efforts are unen­
forceable and have already proven unsuccessful in keeping armor 
piercing bullets out of the hands of cop killers. . . 

Suffice it to say that without a Federal ban on armor-plercmg 
handgun ammunition, there will be nothing to stop the ~oney 
hungry businessmen .fr?m mal?ng. an ea~y dolla:: at. the rIsk of 
police lives. Whether It IS the BlaggI-Moynlhan le~Isl~tlOn, the J';ls­
tice Department proposal, or some othe~ alt.ernatIv~ IS really qUIte 
insignificant. No matter what the legIslatIve vehIcle, we ca~not 
afford to wait any longer to impose a Federal ban on armor-pIerc­
ing cop-killer bullets. 

Simply put cop killers do not wait for others to act. So, why 
should we? We must try to prevent police deaths rather than re-
spond to them. . . 

[The prepared statement of Mr. BlaggI follows:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF REP, MARIO BlAGGl 

Mr. Chairman, it was nearly four y0ar~ ago that T first 
authored legislation to address the problem of armor-piercing 
"cop killer" bullets. I <.lid so at the request of the la,,' 
enforcement community. They carne to me hecause T served 23 
years as a Nel, York Ci ty police officer . . . because I h'as 
hounded 10 times in the 1 ine of uuty ... hpc(luse I fully 
recognize the necd for better police protection. With good 
reason, they were deeply concerned that the Pllhlic was being 
allowed easy access to a special type of han<.lgun ammunition 
that could penetrate their soft hody armor. 

It is unthinkable to me that slIch a <:riticnl problem can 
be talked about by so many and acted on by so few. I appreciate 
your interest, ~Ir. Chairma.n and am hopeful thnt t('\day's hearing 
will allow us to overcome the obstacles that have stalled this 
vital police protection measure for so v0ry long. 

Significantly, armor-pierci.ng "cop killer" bUllets are not 
used for legitimate purposes. In fact, th0 l3urean of Alcohol, 
Tobacco and Firearms informed me in n report dated July 22, 1983, 
that "most Statt.' game laws ... precJucie tht' legitir.wtc, IISC' of 
armor-piercing bul1C'ts." lIow0ver, these hullets ha\"C' been used 
by criminals to shoot an<.l kill policC' officers. The most alarming 
fact, though, is thC' nonexistC'ncC' of anr fC'deral law limiting 
the manUfacture, sale or importation of thC'se awesome projectiles. 

Currently, more than half of our nation's 528,000 law 
enforcement officers wear bullet resistant body a.rmor on a daily 
basis. The U.S. Justice Dt.'partmC'nt reports that more than 400 . 
polict.' lives have heen saved by these vests. In fact, during 
the 10 years (1974-1983) that bulletproof n'sts have been lIsad, 
handgun-related polict.' deaths have declined by 13 percent (93 in 
1974 to 53 in 1983). 

Our newspap0rs tell the story. For instancc, on December 1, 
1982, Washington Post readers were told in graphic detail just 
how effectiva hulletproof VC'sts can b0: 

"William .Tohn50n struggled for th(' .357 magnum r(''\"olver 
held 0111)' inches [1'0111 hi.s chest. He watched th0 gun as 
it fired seconds J ~ltl'r. He sal, hi s sh1 rt tear as the 
hullet struck. JIe fC'lt its crushing fOl'ce. And hecause 
the 62-year-old Alexanuria deputy sheriff was wearing 
a bulletproof vest, he was olive yesterday to help 
convict the man nccuscd of trying to- kill him." 

Soft body armor, first started heing usC'd hy low C'nforcemcnt 
officers around. 1974. The Ve'st:; be<.:ume popular Idth police offict>rs 
because they are comfol'tahlc--I~eighing only about three pounds--
and they con stop the conventional handgun ammunition used by 
most criminals. The most cOl1lmon hullC'tproof vest used by p0Jice 
costs about $150 and 'includes 18 layers of Kevlar--a bUllet 
resistant fiber produced by Du Pont. Although not designed to 
stop rifle ammunition, the l8-1ayer Kevlar vest will stop most 
handgun bullets, including the powerful .44 magnum. As a result, 
more and more police are looking to soft body armor for protection. 
Just last year, in fact, I joined in the effort to raise $624,000 
to furnish more than 3,000 District of Columbia police officers with a bulletproof best. 

Yet. despite its ability to stop conventional handgun 
ammunition, soft body armor is totally useless against n small 
class of handgun bullets speCially made for maximum penetration. 
FOT example, the T~flon-coated KTW bullet, which is generally 
regarded as the most powerful of these armor-piC'rcing bullets, 
can penetrate the equivalent of four hulletproof vests (~2 lnv0rs 
of Kevlar) in a single shot. " 

Signif~cantly different from other handgun ammunition, 
the armor-pIercing handgun bullets arc made of 0xtremcly hard 
metals--usually steel or h1'ass-which allow the hulle ts to retain 
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their shape on impact. In addition, they travel at exceptionally 
high speeds. The more conventional handgun bullets are slower 
and they flatten ?u~ on impact due to their hollow point and/or 
s~ft metal.composltlon, most notably lead. Contrary to a popular 
mlsperceptlon, t~e apple green !eflon.coating, which is unique to 
the KyW.bullet, IS not.th~ key lngr~dlent to armor-piercing 
ammunItIon. In fact, It IS responsIble for no more than about 
10 to 20 percent added penetration. 

My initial research identified eight different manufacturers 
both foreig~ and domestic, that mad~ a handgun cartridge capable ' 
of penetratIng the most popular polIce vest. The current 
availability of armor-piercing handgun ammunition is difficult 
to assess in precise terms. However, we do know they have been 
easily obtai~e~ by civilians through local gun shops, and we 
know that crImInals have used them to shoot and kill police officers. 

. ~or example, on Feb~u~ry 20, 1976, Florida Highway Patrolman 
PhIllIP A. Bl~ck and a vISIting Canadian police officer, 
Donal~ ~. I~wIn, were shot and killed by KTW armor-piercing 
ammunItIon In Broward County, Florida. Their murderers were 
arrested shortly after the shooting armed with several boxes of 
the KTW bullets. Interestingly, the manufacturers of KTN bullets 
claim their ammunition is made and sold "For Police Use Only" 
and is not available to the public. . , 

. More recently, on the night of September 13, 1983, 
DaVId Schwartz was arrested by Nassau County (NY) police on 
bank robbery charges. During a search of his home, police 
found a.sto~kpile of weapons and ammunition, including 32 
armor-pIerCIng handgun cartridges. 

~ report prepared by the U.S. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, 
and FIrearms states that "approximatelv 30 million rounds" 
of a Czechoslovakian 9mm handgun bullei, that will easily 
penetrate the vests worn hy police, were imported during the 
1970' s for commercial sale. Recent reports from la\~ enforcement 
officials in my home state of New York indicate that "cop killer" 
bullets are still being sold in large quantities at local gun 
shops. 

Beyond these facts,however, it is virtually iwpossible 
for anyone to determine the precise availability and use of 
these so-called "cop killer" bullets because national crime 
statistics do not show whether a bullet used in a crime is 
armor-piercing or otherwise. Commonsense, however, tells 
us that as the number of police officers wearing bullet resistant 
vests continues to grow, criminals have more reason to seck 
and use armor-piercing handgun ammunition. 

T~ese al~rming facts have led individual police departments 
and major poll~e o~ganizatio~s across the country to endorse a 
ban o~ ar,?or-p~erclng "cop kIller" bullets. These police 
o~g~nlzatlons lnc~ude the International Brotherhood of Police 
Otflcers, the N~~lonal A~sociation of Police Organizations, 
and the InternaLlonal UnIon of Police Associations. 

Public support has been. equ~lly overwhelmi ng, as demonstT?t:\d 
by the ~act that over 140 edItorIal boards from every region of 
the natIon ha!e.called for a federal ban on armor-piercing 
handgun ammunItIon. Further, H.R. 953 has 184 House cosponsors 
and S. 555 has 17 Senate cosponsors. 

Further, 10 states, as well as a number of localities 
~ave enacted laws ban~ing ~rmor-pi~rcing handgun bullets. 'They 
In~lude, Alabama, CalIfornIa, FlorIda, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, 
MaIne, Oklahoma, Rhode Island and Texas. 

Even the man~facturers agree that these awesome projectiles 
shou~d not be avalJable to the public. In fact, as stated 
prevIously, the manufac~urers of the notorious KTI'I armor-piercing 
bullet have labeled theIr product for "Police Use Only." 
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Raising serious questions about their fierce opposition to 
a ban on "cop killer" bullets, the Executive Director of the NRA's 
Institute for Legislative Action, Warren Cassidy, has written 
that clearly, ammunition designed to cut through armor is not 
used by hUnters or competitive shooters. The ammunition is for 
specialized law enforcement and military uses only. The NRA 
understands this." (The Firing Line, August 15, 1983). One 
must wonder, then, why the NRA does not understand the need for 
a ban on armor-piercing handgun ammunition, except for police 
or military use. 

"How ironic," I thought, afteT learning that the armor-piercing 
"cop killer" bullets the police community feared \vere made originally 
to help police. Adding to the irony was the fact that the law 
enforcement community--for whom the bullets were intended--considered 
the armor-piercing handgun ammunition too dangerous even for police 
use. In fact, the International Association of Chiefs of Police, 
Inc., commented in a letter to me in January 1982 that "we .can find 
no legitimate use for (armor-piercing) ammunition, either in or 
out of law enforcement. The manufacturer's position that it is 
'for police use only' is ludicrous." 

The IACP's claim is further substantiated by Remington Arms 
and Winchester, two of our nation's largest ammunition manufacturers. 
Remington began making a special metal penetrating load for police 
use in 1938. However, it was discontinued in 1965. According 
to Du Pont, Remington's parent company, "These loads were originally 
intended for use by police officers for penetrating metal, 
particularly fleeing cars. They were discontinued long before 
the advent of modeTn soft body armor. There does not appear to 
be sufficient demand for such loads for law enforcement purposes 
to justify their current production." 

Winchester began making a metal-pieTcing handgun cartridge 
in 1937. However, according to their parent company, Olin 
Corporation, "The revelation that some pis-tal cartridges have 
the ability to penetrate body armor caused Winchester to review 
their product line. Although the .357 magnum and .38 special 
metal-piercing cartridges were added to our product line in 
1937 as a result of police requests, due to low CUTrent interest 
by police departments ... on February 22, (1982) the President 
of Winchester, H.E. Blaine, issued the directive that the 
metal-piercing cartridges no longer be manufactured." 

With these facts in mind, it was certainly no surprise, 
then, to learn that both the Treasury and Justice Departments 
shared my concern about this problem. As far back as September 
1979, the Treasury Department informed me that "\Ve share your 
concern and that of all law enrorcement agencies with the _ 
availability of (the KTW) and other ammunition capable of going 
through the body armor used by officers. We sincerely regret 
that law officers have lost their lives through misuse of this 
ammunition." In February of 1982, the Treasury Department 
reiterated their concern in a letter to me stating that "the 
Department shaTes your concern that armor-piercing bullets 
pose a danger to law enforcement officers." 

In testimony nearly two ye,rs ago before the House Subcommittee 
on Crime, then-Associate Attorney General Rudolph W. Giuliani 
was even more specific in stating Justice Department concerns. 
He stated, "1'Ie see no legitimate reason for pTivate use or 
possession of handgun bullets, such as the KTW that are 
designed to penetrate aTmOT." ' 

Acting with what appeared to be consensus support from the 
police community, the Administration, and even the manufacturers 
of armor-pierCing handgun ammunition, I first authoTed a bill 
in February 1982 to ban these so-called "cop killer" bullets' 
except when needed for police or military use (my earlier bili 
had me~ely called for a study). An identical bill, H.R. 953, 
was reIntroduced this Congress, and a companion bill. S. 555 
has also been introduced in the Senate by my distinguished ' 
colleague from New York, Pat Moynihan. 
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Contrary to what some critics might want to believe, H.R. 
953/S. 555 is not some deviously contrived gun control· measure 
aimed at infringing on the legitimate use of firearms or ammunition-­
a right which I fully support. Instead, it Uses an approach 
based largely on commonsense to outlaw a very small class of 
handgun bullets that benefit only one element of our SOCiety--the criminal element. 

Specifically, this legislation Would direct our federal 
firearms regulatory agency, the Department of Treasury, to 
determine which handgun cartridges can penetrate the equivalent 
of an IS-layer Kevlar vest (the most popular police vest) when 
fired out of a gun barrel five inches or less in length. 

Once identified as armor-piercing, those handgun cartridges 
Would be banned from future manUfacture, importation, or sale, 
except When needed for police or military Use. The bill would 
also provide mandatory penalties for any person convicted of 
using armor-piercing handgun bullets in a crime. 

The penalties imposed by this measure are consistent with 
current firearms violation laws. Under the prOvisions of this 
Act, any person who makes, imports, or sells one of these 
restricted bUllets Would be subject to a fine of not more than 
$10,000, imprisonment for not more than 10 years, and revocation of their Federal license. 

A person using or carrying a restricted bUllet during the 
commission of a felony Would be Subject to a mandatory, minimum 
prison sentence of not less than one year nor more than 10 
years for the first offense, and not less than two years nor 
more than 25 years for the second or subsequent offense. This 
mandatory sentence Would be in addition to any penalty imposed for the original crime. 

Let me emphasize that this bill is not in any way intended 
to penalize those persons who possess this type of ammunition 
for legitimate purposes, such as gun collectors. My sole intent 
is to keep these bullets away from criminals. While the future 
manufacture, importation, or sa~e would be banned, this Act 
Would not be retroactive in SCope. 

The problem has been clearly defined and a reasonable solution 
has been proposed by myself and Sen. Moynihan. Yet, the Congress 
has failed to enact a federal ban against armor-piercing "cop killer" 
bullets. Why? There are two major reasons; first, the 
National Rifle Association strongly opposes a ban on armor-
pierCing handgun ammunition; second, the Reagan Administration, 
while seemingly not opposed to the idea, has offfered very 
little meaningful support for such a ban. 

The gun lobby's opposition to a ban on armor-piercing 
handgun ammunition is nothing but a knee-jerk reaction 
based more on paranoia than on any semblance of reason. 
ConSider, for example, an article written by Evan Marshall 
for the Gun Owners of America, which stated, "The National 
Rifle ASSOCiation has Wisely recognized that the "Killer Bullet" 
controversy represents a gun control issue. If the anti-gun 
people can begin to restrict ammunition, they can get gun 
control through the back door. 

Normally, I Would not waste my time to respond to such a 
ludicrous and wreckless statement. Yet, because this paranoic 
mentality has placed the lives of our police officers in grave 
jeopardy, I cannot allow such warped reasoning to go unchallenged. 
Let me first reemphasize th~ the bullets my bill seeks to ban 
are not used for legitimate purposes. Secondly, I want to once 
again state my Support of the right to bear firearms for legitimate 
purposes. Simply stated, the issue my bill seeks to address is 
pOlice protection, not gun control. 
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As a veteran police officer, I deeply resent the NRA's 
attempts to usc their C~OS? ties to. the law enf~rce~ent 
community to excUSe theIr IrresponSIble and Sholt-slghted 
position'on this vital police protection issue. Simply put, 
the NRA has revealed that their long stated commi!ment to 
police safety can be compromised, even when the rIghts of 
legitimate gun users are not threatened. 

A brief review of the facts shows that When I first authored 
legislation to ban armor-piercin¥ l?andguI.1 am~uni tioI?, the NRA 
made blanket statements of OPPOSItIon, lIke' there IS.n? ~uch 
thing as a good or bad bullet." They were sharply.c~ltlclzed 
by the police community for such an outrageous posltlon, but . 
rather than changing their stance they. merely res!ruct~red theIr 
words. There are technical problems wlth the leglslatlon, they said. 

I remain convinced that my legislation is sound, ~lthough 
I have long indicated my willingness to make any technIcal 
changes that the NRA or anyone else can prove are.necessary. 
The NRA has chosen to ignore this challenge and, Instead, 
continues to attack my effort by making totally inaccurate 
and misleading statements. For instance, they r~cently . 
attempted to stir the emotions of their. membershIp bf saYIng 
that my bill "would ban 90 percent of lugh powered rl~le . 
cartridges." In fact, my bill "ould only ban armo:-plerClng. 
bullets made originally for "handgun': use. Th~r~ IS no mentIon 
anywhere in the bill about banning rIfle ammunItIon, and there 
is certainly no such intent. 

In a letter to law enforcement offiCials, the NRA makes 
the incredible statement thay my legislation "will caus~ the 
people to think something is ~ein¥ don~ to help our pOlIce 
officers, when, in fact, nothIng IS beIng done.to protect. them 
or to control those who ,lttack them." The merl ts of my bIll 
as a police protection measure are obvious--handgu~ bullets 
that can penetrate the soft body armor w?rn by polIce would be 
far more difficult for criminals to obtaIn. 

The NRA apparently does not understand hOI, that might help 
save police lives. Instead, they argue. tha! "t0e only workable 
approach is to impose, with vigor an~ WIth JUstlce,.man~at~ry 
penalties for the use or the posseSSIon Of. 'armor-pIercIng 
ammunition in the commission of violent crIme. Strong words. 
I support tougher penalties, too, and have includ~d such a. 
provision in my bill. However, is.th~ NRA ~o naIve that It 
h01icves a criminal intent on commIttIng a VIolent act WOuld 
think twice if giVen the chance to arm himself with high-powered "cop killer" bullets? 

Once again, I challenge the NRA to stop waging their war 
of words from the sidelines, and do their battle for police 
protection in the trenches, with those of us who are truly 
committed to saving police lives. 

For nearly two years, the Justice and Treasury Departments 
have offered assurances that they share my deep concern about 
the serious threat armor-piercing ammunition poses to our law 
enforcement community. They have given assurance that they 
would work with me in developing an appropriate legislative 
remedy. Yet, they refuse to endo:,se my bill to ban armor~piercing 
handgun bullets, a~d they ha!e faIled to ~evelD~ ~ltern~tlve . 
legislation of theIr Own. SImply put, tIllS AdmInIstratIon, whIch 
has long prided itself on a strong law and order stance, has used 
bureaucratic double talk to effectively stonewall the most . 
important police protection initiative in recent years--a ban 
on "cop killer" bullets. 

It appears that at l~ast part of the.r~Rson ~or these 
mixed signals we are gettIng from the AdmInIstratIon st~ms from 
a bureaucratic squabble between the Departments of JUstIce 
and Treasury. While both departments have pledg~d their . . 
willingness to work toward a legislative han agaInst armor-pIercIng 
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handgun bullets, only the Justice Department appears to have 
followed through on that pledge, and their constructive efforts 
have met continued resistance from Treasury officials. 

Consider, for example, that when testifying on March 30, 1982, 
before the House Subcommittee on Crime, Deputy Assistant 
Treasury Secretary Robert E. Powis, stated, "We are continuing 
to explore with the Justice Department other legislative 
alternatives. We will, of course, report to the committee, if 
and when we are better able to deal with this issue by means of 
legislation." Since that statement, as best as I have been able 
to de~rmine, the Treasury Department has not conducted any further. 
studies or attempted in any other way to develop legislation 
aimed at restricting the availability of armor-piercing handgun 
ammunition. 

The Justice Department, while far from expeditious in their 
handling of this serious problem, has at least lived up to the 
spirit of their pledge of May 12, 1982, "to develop a workable 
definition of (armor-piercing) bullets.~ In fact, in a letter 
to me dated January 31, 1984, Assistant Attorney General 
Robert McConnell stated, "The Department of Justice has just 
recently forwarded a draft armor-piercing bullet package to the 
Office of Management and Budget for review within the Administration. 
I must caution ... that this proposal is still subject to 
review (particularly by the Departments of Treasury and Commerce 
which have substantial expertise concerning firearms and body armor). 
Therefore, it may yet be found technically deficient in some 
respect. Nevertheless I remain optimistic that we have now 
resolved the definitional problems which have plagued this legislation 
in the past and that we will have a proposal for submission to the 
Congress in the near future." 

The fact that this proposal has not been formally proposed 
to Congress prior to today's hearing leads me to reach a very 
distressing conclusion--the Treasury Department has blocked the 
Justice proposal, which was developed after months of careful 
study and deliberation. If that conclusion is accurate, the 
Congress in all likelihood will be left to act on the "cop killer" 
bullet issue without an official Administration endorsement. 
I hope I am proven wrong on this assessment. 

Although the Justice Department proposal was not made 
available for my review, I have been informed by Justice officials 
that its general thrust is very similar to the Biaggi/Moynihan 
legislation. For example, it supposedly contains a ban on 
armor-piercing handgun ammunition based on a standard of 
penetration, and it would provide enhanced mandatory penalties 
for criminals who use such ammunition in a crime. The major 
differences are that the Justice proposal would require testing 
to be conducted by the industry, rather than by the Treasury 
Department, and the standard of penetration would consist of 
a certain number of aluminum plates, rather than the 18 layers 
of Ke vlar. For the record, I would have no problem with either 
change. In fact, I find the Justice approach rather appealing, 
and am hopeful the Congress will have an opportunity to give it 
the prompt and careful consideration it deserves. 

While state laws and voluntary restrictions are encouraging, 
they are far from satisfactory. Only 10 states have restricted 
the availability of these high powered projectiles and the laws 
that do exist vary from one state to the next. Vol~ntary 
~fforts.are unenforceable and have already proven unsuccessful 
l.n keepIng KTW bullets out of the hands of "cop killers." 
The president.o~ one U.S. company that manufactures armor-piercing 
handgun ammurtl.tIon has been quoted as saying, "It's not up to 
me to regulate who gets the bullets." An importer of the "cop 
killer" bullets has attempted to shift the blame to the vest 
manufacturers, saying, "(the armor-piercing bullets') penetration 
speaks less of bullet design than of the inherent limitations 
or the vest." 

.. 
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It should be noted that Du Pont, the maker of Kevlar, has 
informed me that ~at present . . . there are no strong leads 
on a new fiber which will make a vest capable of defeating the 
KTW or other armor-piercing handgun bullets at a weight low 
enough for routine wear." Suffice it to say that without a 
federal ban on armor-piercing handgun ammunition, there will 
be nothing to stop the money hungry businessman from making an 
easy dollar at the risk of police lives. 

Whether it is the Biaggi/Moynihan legislation, the Justice 
Department proposal, or some other alternative is really quite 
insignificant. The simple fact is, no matter what the legislative 
vehicle, we cannot afford to wait any longer to impose a federal 
ban on armor-piercing "cop killer" bullets. 

Simply put, cop killers don't wait for others to act, so 
~hy should we? We should be trying to prevent police deaths 
lnstead of responding to them. 

Senator LAXALT. I thank you, Congressman, for an excellent 
state~ent. I guess you heard, Congressman, during part of my 
openIng statement that we will have representatives of Justice and 
Treasury-as a matter of fact they are going to testify right after 
we are completed here. And if you would like, you are welcome to 
stay on to hear that testimony to see where we are at the present 
time in terms of policy positions coming out of both those agencies. 

Let me ask you one question, and it has been submitted by staff 
which I guess reaches some of the concerns that have been ex~ 
pressed to the committee. 

Is it your understanding that only a few types of cartridges, per­
haps no more than a dozen, would be affected by this bill? Is that 
what we are talking about, essentially about a dozen or so? Is that 
ballpark? 

Mr. BlAGG!. That is correct. 
Senator LAxALT. OK. What if many types of ammunition, includ­

ing ammunition that is presently being used for legitimate sporting 
uses would be banned by the bill? I gather from your testimony 
you do not intend to attain that result, do you? 

Mr. BlAGG!. Absolutely not, Mr. Chairman. Absolutely not. 
Senator LAXALT. But what if that would be the effect of it? 
Mr. BlAGG!. Well, I do not see how it could, but let us deal with 

the hypothe~ical, for example the sportsman who might want to 
use a rifle bullet in a handgun. I would support placing additional 
language in the bill that would further clarify that rifle ammuni­
tio~ is ?ot to be a.ffec~ed ~n any yvay by this legislation. If this legis­
latIon IS passed, It WIll, In my Judgment, do the job well. And for 
those sportsmen or hunters who would like to use the rifle ammu­
nition into the handgun, we have no problem with that. 
. Senator LAXALT. I thank the Congressman. At this point I would 

lIke to welcome to the hearing the distinguished ranking member 
of the full Committee on the Judiciary, Senator Biden of Delaware. 

The chairman would be pleased to hear any statement that the 
Senator would like to make or any questions that he wants to ad­
dress to the panel. 

Q 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. JOSEPH R. BIDEN, A U.S. 
SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF DELAWARE 

Senator BIDEN. I will not take an unnecessary amount of time 
from my colleagues. I would ask that my statement be put in the 
record. I am a cosponsor of the Senator's legislation. And let me 
proceed to questions. 

Welcome, Congressman, by the way. Let me ask you fellows, if 
you would, each of you, to respond. Obviously, there are not a lot of 
animals that wear bullet proof vests. So we are not really trying to 
work but how we can keep competitive and sport~manlike conduct 
underway in the forests of America. 

But there is, as one well known, Southern police officer who ap-
peared in several Ja}TIes Bond movies stated, we have a communi­
cations problem here. And that problem relates to-is a definition­
alone. And really all I would like to ask you gentlemen is whether 
or not you are willing to work out the details of the definition of 
what constitutes an armor-piercing bullet. We will hear testimony 
shortly from opponents of this legislation, that there are a whole 
range of bullets that would fall into the category of being banned if 
your legislation passed. And rather than go into much detail with 
you right now before I hear all their testimony, do I understand 
you both to be in a position that you are prepared to work on and 
work out a clear definition of what constitutes such a bullet to be 
covered by your legislation? 

Senator MOYNIHAN. If I could just speak, Senator Bjden, as far as 
we know that definition has already been worked out; it is in the 
Office of Management and Budget and we cannot get'it out. 

I said ear lier--
Senator BIDEN. We have trouble getting a lot of things out of 

there. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. On the subject of big game hunting, I live in 

Delaware County, New York where more deer are shot each year 
than in any other county of New York many States through the 
Nation. I think I know something about deer hunting. I can tell 
you, no deer hunter in Prosses Hollow would use one of these bul-
lets. 

Senator BIDEN. 'Well, there is a new strain of deer coming on. We 
are a little worried. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. You would not find your deer. Two days 
later it finally would die, 5 miles away. You will not stop your deer 
with these bullets. The only thing you can kill with these bullets 
are police officers, even wearing body armor. 

This is a spent bullet of the kind we are describing. This one was 
shot at body armor. It penetrated this armor. It has destroyed 
something. It has barely changed shape. It is still the same spheri­
cal, metal bullet designed to penetrate and kill, as against a lead 
slug which flattens on impact. You ban these five and all like 
them, and you have done the job. It is not hard. 

Mr. BlAGG!. I think the point that is made relates to the law en­
forcement community, why there is no real need for it even in law 
enforcement area. The police officer requires a cartridge that will 
have stopping effect. If he has this type of ammunition-if he uses 
this type of ammunition, it will not have a stopping effect. It will 
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penet!ate the f~llo~ .and go on and jeopardize pedestrians and the 
stoppmg effect IS CrItIcal. 

We ?ave seen police officers who in fact shot a felon that was 
a~tackmg the polIce officer with a knife. Yes, the felon eventually 
dIed, but the felon. was able to come forward and kill the police offi­
cer. It happened .In the Bo~ery and it killed a sergeant 10 or 15 
years ag~. !,here IS no stoppmg power, no impact. 

A tradItIOnal bullet would have stopped that felon in his tracks 
a~d would ):lave at least stopped him in his tracks. Whether he 
dIed or not IS another matter. No, the same consequence flows with 
game. 
. Sena~or BIDEN. I ~ill not tie you fellows up anymore, but let me 
J":ls~ ,POInt out, sometImes we talk about the need for social respon­
~nbI.lIty on. the part of corporate America, that as a consequence of 
Its IngenUIty, reached the bounty of this country and sometimes we 
suggest they are not very responsible. 

I would like to not~ publicly that E. 1. Du Pont de Nemours & 
Co., a company that IS one of the larger companies in the world 
last year stopped the sale of Teflon coating to ammunition maker~ 
that produce and develop armor piercing bullets. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Senator Biden, can I speak to this point? 
Senator BIDEN. Yes. 
~e~ator MOYNIH;\N. This has come up. Nobody wants these damn 

thIngs. l?u Pont WIll not have anything to do with producing them. 
The polIce do n~t want them. The people do not want them. The 
only pe.ople makIng an;r mon~y are the Czechs who have sold some 
30 mlllI~n rounds of thIS partIcular cop-killer bullet. Nobody wants 
these thmgs. 

An issue ~as been rais.ed ~Y the National Rifle Association about 
whether thIS son;.ehow. ImpInges on constitutional rights. This is 
no~ so. :rhe only Issue IS, are you in favor of safety for your police 
offIcers. That IS all. No respectable American corporation should 
want to make a penny out of these things. 

Senator LAXALT. Are the Czechs presently manufacturing these 
bullets? 

Senator MOYNrH~N. Yes, sir, buy all you want. 
Mr. BlAGG!. 30 mIllion rounds last year. 
Senator !:AXALT. Are we talking about big dollars in these items? 

Are these bIg dollars? 
Mr. BrAGG!. There is a premium--
Senator BIDEN. On the sale of Communist bullets to kill Ameri­

can people. 
Mr. BrAGG!. To kill Americans. 
Senator BIDEN. I think this is an issue of communism versus de­

mocracy here. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. I think you may have just gotten the Treas­

ury Department. 
IY!-r. BIA?GI: Senator, i!l relation to Du Pont, I acknowledged 

thelr publIc mterest attItude. We had their representatives in 
almo~t 2 years ago, a year and a half ago. And when we put the 
questIOn to them and told them what the consequence was of this 
Teflon, they agreed to discontinue sale to the ammunition manu­
lacturers. 

o 
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Now, as far as the definitional question is concerned, that is one 
that has been problemsome. The Justice Department's proposal, I 
think, resolves that. That is now languishing before the OMB and 
we are hoping that unlike many other proposals that sit there this 
one will be reviewed and--

Senator BIDEN. One last question, Mr. Chairman. 
Do we have any idea what the financial stake is that ammuni­

tion manufacturers in this country have in the sale of these bul­
lets? Is it an economic question? 

Senator MOYNIHAN. I would say almost zero. There is one corpo­
ration in Michigan that manufactures them. Yes, there is some 
money being made out of killing police officers. But it is not the 
money you and I would want to have anything to do with. And no 
respectable ordnance manufacturer would do so either. 

Senator LAXALT. Are you telling us that most of these kinds of 
bullets are being imported? 

Mr. BIAGGI. Most of them. 
Senator LAXALT. Are we importing from any other country other 

than Czechoslovakia? 
Mr. BlAGG!. Yes, we are, with Czechoslovakia providing the larg­

est supply at this point. We have some small companies in America 
that produce the armor-piercing bullets and it is a fair portion of 
their-well, relatively small portion of their business. 
. Senator LAXALT. Congressman, in view of the changed policies 
apparently of the police departments around the country not to use 
these armor-piercing bullets for their own purposes, what market 
is there for them currently? 

Mr. BlAGG!. Criminal market. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Criminals, that is all, and seriously no re­

spectable ordnance company wants anything to do with these 
things. 

Senator BIDEN. These things cost $1.50 apiece? 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Oh, yes, they do not come cheap. 
Senator LAXALT. Now, what would a cartridge of similar-­
Senator MOYNIHAN. Around 40 cents. You would never use a 

pistol for target practice, so you would never use them. 
Senator LAXALT. OK. I think that is all we have. As I indicated 

before, you are both welcome to stay on. Thank you very kindly. 
Mr. BlAGG!. Thank you. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Thank you. You have been very gracious. 
Senator LAXALT. All right. Let us hear from the Government. 

Our next witnesses will be Jay B. Stephens who is Deputy Associ­
ate Attorney General from the Department of Justice, and we also 
have with us Robert Powis, who is the Deputy Assistant Secretary 
of Enforcement from Treasury. 

We will hear first the presentation from Justice; as we previous­
ly indicated, because of the multitude of witnesses we have on 
these various panels, I would appreciate it greatly if you can limit 
your formal testimony. We are going to take your written testimo­
ny, of course, and file it for the record for the edification of our 
colleagues. 

Mr. Stephens, will you please proceed. 
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STATEMENTS OF JAY B. STEPHENS, DEPUTY ASSOCIATE ATTOR­
NEY GENERAL, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE; AND ROBERT E. 
POWIS, DEPUTY ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF ENFORCEMENT, DE­
PARTMENT OF THE TREASURY 

Mr. STEPHENS. Thank you very much, Chairman Laxalt. Mr. 
Chairman, Senator Biden, Senator Moynihan, I would like briefly 
to introduce the individuals who are on the panel with me this 
morning. On my far left is Mr. Lester Shubin, who is with the Na­
tional Institute of Justice and has been instrumental in developing 
soft body armor. On my immediate left is Special Agent William 
Vanderpool, who is with the Firearms Training Unit of the- FBI at 
Quantico, VA; and on my immediate right is Special Agent David 
Pisante, who is also with the Firearms Training Unit of the FBI 
Academy at Quantico. 

Senator LAXALT. We welcome you all. 
Mr. STEPHENS. Mr. Chairman, it is indeed a pleasure to be here 

today to testify on behalf of the Department of Justice to discuss 
with the committee the issue of armor-piercing handgun ammuni­
tion. 

We believe that the threat which certain armor-piercing hand­
gun ammunition poses to law enforcement officers and to others 
who wear soft body armor is an issue which needs to be addressed. 
We have concern about this issue and we support the thrust of the 
legislation restricting availability of all armor-piercing bullets, 
while recognizing that this does not create a panacea for the prob­
lems and dangers which police officers face on front line duties. 

To understand the interest which the Department of Justice has 
in this, I think it is important to realize we have a substantial and 
significant concern about the safety of law enforcement officers. 
They are indeed our front line defense against crime; we have had 
a significant initiative to strike at crime and we believe it is impor­
tant and imperative to protect those officers who are out in the 
front lines doing that job for us. 

Senator LAXALT. May I ask you a question at this point, and I 
guess it is a turf question more than anything else. How is the re­
sponsibility divided up here between Justice and Treasury? And 
there have been references made to OMB. How is that all cut up 
jurisdIctionally so that we will understand it a bit better? 

Mr. STEPHENS. Jurisdictionally, Senator, there are different as­
pects of this particular proposal or any proposal that might come 
out of the administration which would be treated differently; for 
example, those aspects which would deal with mandatory mini­
mum sentences, mandatory minimum penalties for use of armor­
piercing handgun ammunition during the course or commission of 
a violent crime would probably be title 18 offenses. The enforce­
ment of those would be by the Department of Justice. The issue re­
lating to the ban on importation or manufacturing of armor-pierc­
ing ammunition would be enforced through the Treasury Depart­
ment's Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms. 

Senator LAXALT. Justice generally looks at the criminal aspects 
and otherwise Treasury has jurisdiction? 

Mr. STEPHENS. That is correct. 
Senator LAXALT. Is that roughly the division? 

....,. 
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Mr. STEPHENS. We would look at the enforcement aspects on the 
criminal use side. Treasury would look at the enforcement aspects 
from the trade, transfer, sale, and importation of firearms and fire­
arm ammunition. OMB, of course, is the umbrella to harmonize 
those positions and develop a position for the administration on this. 

Senator LAXALT. Congressman Biaggi in his testimony or in re­
sponse to a question, I do not recall which, made reference to the 
fact that this whole issue has been languishing somewhere in the 
bureaucracy f?r a couple of years. Is that the case? Have you 
people at JustIce and at Treasury been pondering this problem for 
the last couple of years in terms of coming forward with policy? 

Mr. STEPHENS. Senator, I think we have made significant 
progress. I can only speak for the Department of Justice, but speak­
mg for the Department of Justice, I believe we have made some 
very positive steps in dealing with the issue. 

First of all, with respect to use of armor-piercing ammunition 
we have proposed legislation as part of the administration's crim~ 
p~ckage to provide a m~nd~tory mini~l.lm sen~ence for any indi­
vIdual who uses armor-pIercmg ammunItIOn durmg the commission 
of a felony or violent crime. W'e propose to have a 5-year minimum 
manda~o~y sentence for the first such offense and a lO-year manda~ 
tory ~mImum for the second such offense. I think that is a sub­
stantIally greater penalty than is in S. 555. 

Second, and Treasury will want to speak to this more specifical­
ly, we have-the administration has developed a number of volun­
tary agreements with the importers and manufacturers of so-called 
armo,r-piercing a~munition. As I indicated, Treasury will speak to 
that ISsue more dIrectly. My understanding is they have effectively 
thr.ough voluntary agreements banned the manufacture and impor­
tatIOn of most of the offending ammunition in this case. 

Third, the Department of ~ustice has undertaken a significant 
rese~rch and development project through Our National Institute of 
~ustIce in connection with the Bureau of Standards. And we be­
lIeve .we J:ave devel?ped some test procedures which can shed sub­
stantIal lIght on tJ:IS. We. have taken the occasion to provide the 
staff of the commIttee WIth the background and information on 
those test procedures and some of the results of those test proce­
dures. And we think this helps--

Senator LAXALT. You mean to help us on the definitional prob­lem? 

M!. S~EPHEN~. That is correct, Senator. As the Senator pointed 
out m hIS openmg statement, we believe this is really one of the 
fund~mental issues here to tr:f to resolve. And we would expect 
that IS one of the fundamental ISsues the committee is trying to re­solve. 

While there is some concern that may be expressed about certain 
a~pects of the test b~ Treas~ry or others, we believe the test pro­
vIdes a .s~andard ag~mst .whIch you can measure certain types of 
ammumtIOn under fIxed cIrcumstances. 
. It uses aluminum plates which are fixed test plates. It uses fixed 

fIxtures from which to fire ce!tain types of ammunition and you 
can develop a scale, much as If you would test various aspects of 
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automobile safety or any other kind of safety standard that you 
might want to test, in a fixed set of circumstances. 

Senator LAXALT. Have you discussed that approach, Mr, Ste­
phens, with the private sector? 

Mr. STEPHENS. We have on some occasions discussed that with 
manufacturers of some of the ammunition. Indeed, I think in one 
case that I'm familiar with, the manufacturer did not find that 
particular approach overly onerous and indeed it would suggest, I 
think, that they could meet the standards and the procedures that 
were outlined in that test. 

Senator LAXALT. How about the gunowner groups? 
Mr. STEPHENS. To my knowledge, the Department of Justice has 

not discussed that specific issue with the gunowner groups. I be­
lieve the Treasury Department may have. 

Senator LAXALT. I see. 
Mr. STEPHENS. I would just like to take a moment with the chair­

man's consent to have special agent Pisante demonstrate to the 
committee a couple of the different types of body armor that are 
available. And we would like to point out, I think, that the reason 
we are doing this is to show that the type of body armor that is 
most prevalently worn by officers in the field is body armor II-A 
and that body armor is intended and designed and in fact stops 
most small arms ammunition that they would encounter under most circumstances. 

I would also like to point out that the Department of Justice 
through the National Institute of Justice is currently developing a 
new set of soft body armor, what we refer to as III-A, and that new 
body armor, which we expect to be marketed or be on the market 
sometime within approximately a year, would in fact provide a di­
viding line which we believe would be an effective cutoff point that 
would shield those officers who are on the front lines of our de­
fense against crime from almost all kinds of handgun ammunition 
except very specific types of armor-piercing ammunition. 

And the test which we have designed we believe would identify 
that small category of bullets and ammunition which has no legiti­
mate handgun use, no legitimate recreational use, and we would be 
able to isolate those particular small number of types of ammuni­
tion; then through appropriate legislative remedies we could per­
haps eliminate the importation and the manufacture of those par­
ticular types of ammunition. 

Senator LAXALT. Well, if eventually that very narrow standard is 
adopted, what is the Department's view, if it has mae, in connection 
with the standard that is presently in the proposed legislation? 

Mr. STEPHENS. We believe that S. 555 really adopts too wide a 
standard at this point. It is not specifically defined. The problem is 
definitional, as the Senator pointed out; the problem is defining 
what is armor piercing. It depends on the type of armor. It depends 
on the thickness of the armor. It depends on the control circum­
stances. It depends on what it is fired from, the distance, the veloci­
ty, all those aspects of the weapon as well as the ammunition. We 
are trying to develop a definition. I believe we have a test that can 
indeed narrow that category to those small number of types of am­
munition that would penetrate type III-A armor, body armor, soft 
body armor, which is currently under development, so that if offi-
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cers were to wear type III - A body armor, they would probably be 
protected from most kinds of handgun ammunition; those types 
that would penetrate that would be banned. And those that would 
be banned would not really be legitimate recreational type of am­
munition. 

So we realize this is a difficult problem, as you can tell, I think, 
and we would like to have you understand that we have been work­
ing on it from an expert technical point o~ view .. We ~re trying .to 
arrive at a solution here that protects polIce offIcers In those CIr­
cumstances where they need protection beyond what they have 
now. 

And in that regard I would like to emphasize-- . 
Senator LAXALT. Before you proceed to that, you saw the vanous 

bullets that were displayed here this morning. Apparently, they 
were over-the-counter sales or purchases. Based upon this standard 
that you are now adopting or attempting to adopt, would all these 
bullets be banned or do you know? 

Mr. STEPHENS. Senator, I cannot really address that issue be­
cause I am not sure of the specific type of the bullets that were 
here, whether they are over the counter; they may indeed be-I do 
not know what the specific model, type, velocity, brand of these 
particular bullets were. But we are clearly talking about banning 
the KTW type of bullet and certain types of imported 9-millimeter 
rounds that are not viewed as having any legitimate--

Senator MOYNIHAN. Mr. Chairman, would you allow me to make 
one clarifying point? 

Senator LAXAL'r. Surely, all yours. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Mr. Stephens responded to your question 

about the specifications contained in the legislation before you, 
whether they were too broad, and I believe Mr. Stephens said that 
they were toonr'oad. 

Mr. STEPHENS. That is correct, Senator. 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Well, now that is not correct, sir. There are 

no specifications in our bill. Our bill directs the Secretary of the 
Treasury to make such specifications. 

Mr. STEPHENS. The Senator is correct on that point. The bill does 
refer the matter to the Treasury. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. We do not want the Congress to do this. We 
asked the executive, which has the Institute of Justice and the Na­
tional Bureau of Standards and the FBI at his disposal, to make 
the judgment. 

Senator LAXALT. What in the bill then caused you to express the 
concern you have in your statement, that the bill itself is to broad, 
Mr. Stephens? 

Mr. STEPHENS. Senator, I think the concern would better be ex­
pressed in that we believe this is a significant policy issue which 
the legislative branch should address. We in the executive branch 
have attempted to develop an effective test so that the Congress 
can make an informed decision on this matter. 

We believe that that decision can be drawn in such a way as to 
provide for legitimate use of certain types of ammunition and cer­
tain types of firearms and it also can be drawn in such a way as to 
protect police officers. We are essentially saying we believe this is a 
decision which should be made by the Congress because it is a sig-
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nificant policy decision and it should be made that way rather than 
through a set of regulations which may vary. 
. Senator LAXALT. Let me ask the Senator from New York a ques­

tIon, then. The approach that is now being adopted by Justice in 
order to develop an acceptable standard, is that consistent with the 
thrust of the legislation? 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Exactly. And this legislation would simply 
require that it be done. But we are not asking the Congress to 
make the judgment about what is, or is not, such a bullet, but we 
are asking the executive branch, where it properly belongs as a 
jUdgment. 

Senator LAXALT. And that requires, I guess necessarily, the 
proper definition; and that is precisely, I gather, what Justice is at­
tempting to pursue. 

Senator MOYNIHAN. Mr. Chairman, we appropriated money a 
year ago for this purpose. They have done the job. It is in the OMB 
but OMB will not let it out. ' 

Senator LAXALT. What are the dollars involved? Do you know off-
hand? 

Mr. STEPHENS. I think we spent approximately $80,000. 
Senator LAXALT. $80,000. 
Mr. STEPHENS. Senator, I would point out there is some concern 

that even if you have a test, how enforceable is it in terms of the 
various types of ammunition that is available? 

And I cannot speak to that as well as Treasury and would defer 
to Treasury on their concerns about once you have a piece of legis­
lation that is designed like this, how enforceable are those stand­
ards and can we really have a significant impact on the problem 
given the enforcement problem. 

Senator LAXALT. Do you have any questions, Senator? 
Senator MOYNIHAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Would you agree 

that a ban on importation would have a significant impact? 
Mr. STEPHENS. Indeed, I understand from Treasury that they 

have achieved essentially a ban through their voluntary agree­
ments. But a ban on importation of the bullets from Czechoslovakia 
that are flooding our markets, if that is indeed the case, and I 
think Treasury would disagree that this is indeed the case, a ban 
on importation of a limited class of bullets that have no legitimate 
use would certainly assist in that narrow category of situations 
where we have ammunition that can penetrate body armor of the 
III-A level, for example. 

I think with the consent of the chairman that we can demon­
strate briefly the differences between the two categories and what 
we can protect from normal handgun ammunition and those types 
of body armor which are available to protect against substantially 
greater velocity and caliber of ammunition, which would be used 
more in siege situations or in SWAT team situations where you 
have snipers, that kind of thing. 

I would like Special Agent Pisante to show the committee the 
two particular types of body armor, II-A and then also body armor 
IV, soft body armor. 

Senator LAXALT. Surely, please. Before we proceed to that, based 
upon these tests that you are now conducting, have you got any 
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idea, Mr. Stephens, how many types of ammunition are going to be 
banned? Do you have any handle on that yet at all? 

Mr. STEPHENS. How many? 
Senator LAXALT. Types, yes. 
Mr. STEPHENS. How many types. I do not, but I think we are talk­

ing about a small number of types. I mean, we are not talking 
about a vast-we are not talking about 100 or 200 types of ammu­
nition, although there is an infinite variety of ammunition out 
there in terms of casings, caliber, loadings, so that that number 
may be larger than I currently believe it is. But I think it is a rela­
tively small number. 

Mr. PISANTE. Mr. Chairman, this vest that you see here is re­
ferred to as a level II-A ballistic protective undergarment, which is 
designed to defeat projectiles comparable to low velocity 357, 9 mil­
limeter threats. The material inside the garment is constructed 
with a Du Pont arimid fiber called Kevlar. 

This vest was originally designed for use in law enforcement to 
protect police officers when they least expect to be shot, during 
daily activity, to be worn constantly through a tour of duty. In pre­
vious times police officers have worn in the past rigid body armor, 
which is classified at level IV and will expand the threat level pro­
tection up to 30-caliber armor-piercing ammunition. Because this 
armor is so heavy and roughly can range from anywhere from 12 
to 60 pounds, it is not practical to consider an officer carrying this 
around on a daily basis. Therefore, this armor designed to protect 
against handgun bullets is worn on a daily basis by the police offi­
cer. 

Senator LAXALT. Does the level IV have military application cur­
rently or do you know? 

Mr. PISANTE. Yes, it does, sir. Its original application was mili­
tary. 

Senator LAXALT. But as a practical matter, it has very little, if 
any, police application because of its weight and bulkiness. 

Mr. PISANTE. It does have application in police work when the 
threat level exceeds the handgun. This was designed for special 
raid-type operations when higher than handgun threats are expect­
ed. 

Senator LAXALT. You mean a terrorist type of situation, perhaps? 
Mr. PISANTE. Possibly so or an armed barricade situation. 
Senator LAXALT. We thank you. Senator, do you have any ques­

tions? 
Senator MOYNIHAN. No. 
Mr. STEPHENS. Senator, I would like again to emphasize the re­

sults of the test and the test procedure has been provided to the 
committee staff and that is available to assist the committee in its 
delibera tions. 

Senator LAXALT. It will be very helpful. 
Mr. STEPHENS. Thank you. Just to emphasize and to summarize, 

then, we believe we really have made some strides over the last 
year, 18 months on this particular problem. There is no doubt the 
Department of Justice stands behind the law enforcement officers 
of this country. We believe they deserve the protection. We believe 
they deserve to have those concerns expressed here and to have the 
committee address those. 
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There are .co~J?eting c~ncerns. We have, we believe, to date 
~ad~ some sIgn.I~ICant strIdes. As I indicated, the use of armor­
plercmg ammunItIon would be a 5- or 10-year mandatory minimum 
penalty under the :r;>roposed crime .legislation which was passed by 
th~ Sen~te and whICh we hope ~Ill pass the House expeditiously 
thIS sprIng. Second, Treasury wIll speak to the voluntary agree­
ments that they have arrived at with various importers and manu­
facturers of the armor-piercing type of ammunition. And third we 
have, we believe, arrived at what is a plausible test. There is s~me 
concern about whether in using this test you can enforce the re­
sults of that test; but we ,?elieve we have made some progress on 
th~t. w: e w~:>uld lIke .to advIse the committee that the thrust of this 
legIslatIOn IS somethIng we find we would support. 

And we wa~t also to emphasize, though, that this legislation 
should not b~ vle~ed as a panacea to protect all police officers from 
all typ~S of ~Ituat~ons. In the last analysis, the best line of defense 
for . polIce offIcers In most cases is to wear soft body armor. And we 
~elIeve the develop~ent o~ the tYJ?e III-A, which we are currently 
In the process of .dOIng, wIll provIde an added level of protection. 

So .we are talkmg about a very narrow category of cases and 
that IS the category we think the legislation may appropriately ad­dress. 

Senator LAXALT. We thank you, Mr. Stephens, and all members 
of the panel. We appreciate your help. 

Mr. STEPHENS. Thank you very much, Senator. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Stephens follows:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF JAY B. STEPHENS 

Mr. Chairman, it is a pleasure to appear here today on behalf 

of the Department of Justice to discuss the issue of armor-piercing 

handgun ammunition and the ~h,reat which such ammunition poses to 

law enforcement' officers and' others ".'7ho use soft body armor. We 

support the thrust of legislation restricting the availabi~ity of . 
armor-piercing bullets while recognizing that such restrictions in 

themselves do not provide a panacea to the dangers faced by law 

enforcement officers. 

To understand the vital interest of the Department of Justice 

in this issu'e, it is important to understand our concern, about 

protecting law enforcement officers and our role in the development 

of soft body armor to assist in that effort. In 1971, Lester Shubin 

of the Department's technology ,development program became aware of 

a new synthetic fiber, marketed under the trade name "Ke'!lar", 

originally'developed for use as a replacement; for steel, :cords in 

automobile tires. Rec~~nizing the potential of this fiber, the 

Department 'of Justice pioneered,· the ·,development of a prototype 

vest made from "Kevlar" and, following extensive laboratory work, 

conducted field tests of this new type of body arll!Pr in fift~en 

ci ties. Results exceeded expectations. In addition to offering 

exceptional ballistics resistance, the new vests were light, flexi­

ble' -and 'could ~be 'worn -unobtrusively' under, normal street, clothes 

and uniforms. 

B~ ~1975, dozens of manufacturers had entered the body armor 

market producing a wide range of soft, lightweight body, armor. 

Because fe'w s tate or local' ,agencies had the resources to -tea t -the 

quality of such body armor, the National Institute of Justice of 

the Department of Justic0, in Concert with the National Bureau of 

Standards of the Department of Commerce, developed a body armor 

standard published in Dece~be~ of 1978. This standard established -, , 

procedures for 'testing body armor 'and- created five different armor 

categories: Type I, Type IIA, Type II, Type III and Type IV. 
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These body armor categories protect against increasing threat 

levels. For example, the Type I armor is the lightest weight pro­

viding protection against designated handgun ammunItion when fired 

from a distance of five meters under specified conditions; the 

Type IV armor is the heaviest providing protection against desig-

nated armor-piercing rifle ammunition. Types I, IIA and I I are 

soft body armor. Types III and IV incorporate metallic or ceramic 

materials and are normally used by special weapons teams in sniper 

or seige situations. 

With the Chairman!s consent, we would like to show the Subcom­

mittee the different typ~s of body armor now-used by law enforcement 

officials and to explain the various uses and characteristics of 

each. 

(Demonstration) c 

An estimated 50% of the nation's law enforcement officials use 

body armor such as that you have just seen, primarily due to the 

efforts of the Department of Justice and the International Associa­

tion of Chiefs of Police, both of which strongly advocate its use. 

Soft body armor has saved the lives of an estimated 400 police 

officers during the past eight years~ We .have, therefore, been 

concerned over the availability of handgun ammuni tion capable of 

defeating soft body armor and have devoted substantial efforts in 

recent months to development of an appropriate and workable legis-

lative remedy to the problem_ 

Our technicians have known fro~ the beginning that soft body 

armor, like all other forms of armof\ can be pierced by particular 

types of handgun rounds. The standards used for testing different 

classes of body armor require that the armor be able to stop specif­

ic types of bullets posing particular threat levels in order to 

receive a rating. It is for this reason that body armor is referred 

to by technicians as "ballistics-resistant" apparel. The fac:t 

that body armor is more commonly referred to by the public as 

"bullet-proof" has created the mistaken impreSSion. that body armor 

can or should be able to stop any bullet. Rather, soft body armor 

/ 
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is designed to stop the most common threats that police officers 

face. 

With this background, experts were not 'at all surprised by a 

network television news program in early 1982 on the "KTW" bullet 

and its 

armor. 
ability to penetrate mUltiple thicknesses of soft body 

Our technicians were, however, disturbe~ that such informa-

tion was so widely distributed to the public, in essence creating 

a shopping list for criminals. 

Our concern over the publicity surrounding the "KTW I1 bullet 

is two-fold. First, we fear that publicity surrounding the availa­

bility of handgun ammunition capable of defeating body armor could 

encourage assassins and other criminals to search out these ~articu­

larly dangerous classes of ammunition to use in their endeavors. 

Although our technicians have known about the "KTW" bullet for 

many years, 
this and other forms of armor-piercing ammunition 

were not felt to constitute a substantial threat because most 

criminals are not so sophi~~i~ated as to realize that the protec­

tion afforded by body armor is lim'ited and that there are varieties 

of ammunition available which will penetrate it. Although -we are 

unaware of any instance in which an armor-clad police officer has 

been shot with armor-piercing handgun ammunition, the publicity 

surrounding the "KTW" bullet has, in our view, increased the like­

lihood of such attacks. 

Secondly, we are concerned that the publicity over armor­

defeating !lmmunition may discourage police officers from wearing 

body armor. 
In thi~ regard, although the new soft body armor is 

comfortable to wear by compari,80n with earlier types of armor, it 

is a constant problem for police administrators to ensure that 

body armor issued to officers is indeed worn. Too often, officers 

to whom body armor was ~ssued have been kilted or severely wounded 

because the armor was left in a dressing room locker or the trunk 

of a squad car. By discouraging the use of armor, the publicity 

surrounding the availability of armo.-piercing handgun ammunition 
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could result in more deaths .and crippling injuries ,than .the actual 

use of armor-piercing bull.ets against officers wearing body armor. 

In order to· provide law enforcement officers with some measure 

of additional protettion, we have continued to try to develop appro­

priat~ 'and enforceable rf~straintsupon ,the ,manufacture' .'and 'impor--­

tation·of ~rmor-piercing handgunbulle,ts which wouldnot .. l>eundulYi .. , 

i i f turers In this regard, onerous to gun owners or ammun t on manu ac • 

we believe that we should do all we can to encourage police depart-

ments to equip their officers with body armor, for in the lal)t 

analysis this is a more effective way of reducing injuries to law 

enforcement officers than ?1! .effort to restrict the availability 

of certain ammunition which couid defeat some types of armor. 

In early 1982, the Department :'of Justice commenced work on 
I 

legislation to ban the manufacture or importation of certain armor-

piercing handgun ammunition. Our initial efforts produced a draft 

bill very similar to S. 555 and other bills currently pending 

before.~he Congress. CarefuL:review of, these. proposals , how.ever, 

revealed that they were overbroad in their reach inadvertently 

banning am~unition 'with legitimate recreational uses. In fact, 

early proposals would have inadvertently deprived thousands of 

citizens of the use of their firearms by banning all ammunition 

be ing· manufac tured for' cert'ain handguns o' Moreover" our· early 

efforts at a legislative definition of "armor-piercing" bullets 

• h th result that they "did not give adequate were imprecise WJ. t !:! 

notice to manufacturers and importers as to precisely which bullets 

are legal and wlhich are prohibited. S. 555 and other similar 

bills now before the Congress suifer from these same grave defects. 

During the time we have been considering this broader issue 

we .have taken steps to protect law, enforcement officer.s." Firs t ,",_ 

we have supported enactment of mandatory-minimum penalties for 

the criminal use of such ammunition during the course of a federal 

crime: .of":violence.:, 'Wi th lrespect 'i.tO. '. creating "'criminal.isanctions " ... 

for! .the. crl'minal,Use'of', armor-piercing .. handgun .ammuni tion .. -, absolute. '::' 
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precision from a technical standpoint is not as crucial as in 

the area of restricting production or importation as law enforce­

ment officials will often be in possession of both the suspect 

ammunition and the handgun .i~.which it wa~ loaded thereby facili­

tating testing to ensure that the, ammunition is armor-piercing 

when fired from the weapon in possessIon of the felon. Our proposal 

of minimum-mandatory penalties for criminal use of armor-piercing 

bullets was recently approved by the Senate as Part E of Title X 

of the Comprehensive Crime Control Act, S. 1762. 

We believe the mandatory-minimum 'penalty proposal -governing 

criminal use of armor-piercing bullets constitutes a substantial 

contribution to reducing the threat to officers posed by armor-

piercing bullets. We hope that this important· measure will be 

enacted by the Congress this year. 

Second, in early 1982, the Department of the Treasury met 

with ammunition manufacturers 'and'importers and secured voluntary-­

agreements to halt impo,rtation, manufacture-' o~ public sale of the 

most dangerous armor-piercing .bull.ets. This was. an important. step 

toward reduced availability of bullets which were already rare. 

These voluntary agreements reilect great credit upon the Department 

of the Treasury and upon ammunition manufacturers and importers. 

I understand that '. a Treasury. '! rep~esentative· ... wil'L ~discuss':" thesei,s 

voluntary agreements more fully later today.' 

To assist the Subcommittee in its consideration of this issue
p 

we,:hav.e furnished,to .. Subcommi ttee staff cople's ;of {the: :test ;px:ocedure,;~ 

we. developed iin:an effo'rt Lto 1.di8tin·qu~sh i'among :diff.erent .types .lofl;' 

bullets based upon penetration capability. This"test procedure is 

a "complete" one in that it recognizes that the penetration poten­

tial of ammunition cannot be precisely evaluated without reference 

to the system from which i~ _ i,s fired. Barrel length, the type of 

handgun used (!..~., pistol or 'revolver), the tolerances to which 

the weapon is manufactured, and the amount of wear to whi.ch the 

weapon has been subjected affect the velocity at which projectiles 

emerge from weapons. The test procedure, therefore, provides for 
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firing of test ammunition from test fixtures used by manufacturers 

to test velocity of ,ammunition. Detttiled written standards, exist 

for these test fixtures. 
Furthermore, rather than using layers 

of "Kevlar" as the test medium, the NIJ test procedure provides 

for use of a series of aluminum plates to determine penetration. 

Metal plate is much more uniform than fabric in its composition 

and penetr.ation resistance and thus yields more precise and pre­

dictable results. Th'e, use of·:metal 'plates rather than::fabric.as.~ 
the test medium also ,reduces costs assoe'iated with performing 

penetration tests. 
In short, our test procedure elim'inates many 

of the variables in S. 555 and yields predictable results. We 

have also provided yeur' staff with'a summary of 'our test results 

for about 100 different handgun bullets showing the number of 

plates the 'various, bullets ':will penetrate ... , We hop~" that- :the,-.:tes:t:.., 

procedure and, test"results wilT be useful ,to you 'in -your'-cons!dera_ , 

tion of this issue. 

In' sum.,', we . believe. ;we,'have"{'made!:Jsign~f.ic'ant1tpr:ogILessS~in;,n 
addreSSing .,thfs' ->Lssue •. We?dHive ;develo'p~d mandatoI'Y-)Din'im'ump~nalt~.y • 

1egi~'la'tio'n .fo'b .. thEii·: use -, of)'·armor .. p~e'rcin'g'<~ bull'e'ts3 andF\ we:ehave/~, 
obtained voluntary agreements to restrict the availability of such 

ammunition. We have also developed a feasible test procedure 

which can provide a base from which to work to develop restrictions 

on the availabi Ii ty of cert-ai~ armor:-piercing handgun ammunition 

without impOSing undue burdens on manufacturers or legitimate gun 

owners. We recognize that these. a,ddi tional efforts .do not provide 

an easy panacea to the protection of our law enforcement personnel 

and that in the last analYSis increased use of body armor by police 

officers provides the best line of defense~ We will continue to 

work to take 'those addi tiona1 steps that could provide some. added. 

measure of safety for those who are on the front line in our'- fight 
against crime. 
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Senator LAXALT. We will hear next from the Department of 
Treasury. We welcome Robert Powis, whom I previously indicated 
is the Deputy Assistant Secretary of Enforcement over at Treasury. Welcome. 

STATEMENT OF ROBERT E. POWIS 

Mr. POWIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We are pleased to appear 
here before you today to discuss S. 555, a bill known as the Law 
Enforcement Officers Protection Act of 1983. I am accompanied 
here today by Mr. Edward Owen on my right, the Chief of the Fire­
arms Technology Branch; and Mr. Phillip McGuire on my left, the 
Associate Director of Law Enforcement for the Bureau of Alcohol, 
Tobacco, and Firearms. 

I would like at the outset to furnish the subcommittee with some 
historical background and information regarding protective vests 
commonly being worn by police officers and about armor-piercing ammunition. 

Armor-piercing ammunition, as such, has been around for a long 
time, and its capabilities have been well known by armor and ord­
nance experts both in the military and in civilian law enforcement. 
It is not a new phenomenon. The Winchester group of the Olin 
Corp. produced an armor-piercing .357 Magnum round of ammuni­
tion as far back as 40 years ago. 

The so-called KTW has been relatively well known in the domes­
tic ammunition industry for the last 15 years. It did not just come 
on the market at the same time that bullet proof vests did. 

While information about armor-piercing ammunition was known 
in the industry, this information was not known by the general 
public or indeed by many law enforcement officers until a televi­
sion program highlighted this situation in 1981. 

Thereafter, there has been a great deal of publicity about armor­
piercing ammunition, which, in my view, has served to educate 
criminals and persons who would cause harm to others about the 
various kinds of ammunition which will pierce protective vests 
worn by police officers. 

I am concerned about this kind of publicity leading to a self-ful­
filling prophecy where an officer wearing a vest does get shot and 
hurt. The general characteristics of armor-piercing ammunition in­
volve a projectile that has a jacket of steel or other hard metal, a 
hard bullet core, a relatively large propellant charge, and conse­
quently a high muzzle velocity. 

Protective vests or vests composed of soft body armor, which are 
commonly worn by many police officers today, have a much shorter 
history. Tests by the Department of Justice in the early seventies 
led to a significant breakthrough in the development of bullet re­
sistant vests, made of Kevlar, and provide the police officer today 
with a considerable amount of protection from bullets. 

The first wide-scale test of these vests Occurred in 1975 when 
some 5,000 vests were used in 15 different cities by police officers. 
The first documented saving of a life by the use of one of these 
vests was recorded in December 1975 in Seattle. 

Since that time it is estimated that some 400 police officers have 
been saved from firearm attacks and another 200 have been pro-
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tected from other injuries, including those caused by auto accidents 
as a result of wearing these vests. 

A study mentioned in a recent article in Law and Order Maga­
zine shows that most assaults on police officers, approximately 82 
percent, involve the use of hands, feet, and fists. Only about 5 per­
cent of assaults on police officers involve firearms. At the present 
time, roughly one-half of the Nation's police officers have bullet re­
sistant vests as part of their protective equipment. 

Unfortunately, only about 15 percent of the officers who have 
these vests wear them regularly. This is alarming when one consid­
ers the probability of assault that officers face; 82 law enforcement 
officers were killed by firearms in 1982. It is estimated that one­
half of these deaths could have been prevented if they were wear­
ing a type II-A Kevlar vest. 

Senator LAxALT. They are not required to? Does that vary from 
department to department? 

Mr. POWIS. It varies from department to department and most of­
ficers are not required to. 

Senator LAxALT. So you have a seatbelt situation, I guess, rough­ly. 

Mr. POWIS. I think that is a fair analogy here, Mr. Chairman. 
Of the 82 officers killed, 60 were shot with handguns and 55 were 

hit in the torso. The main reason why police officers do not wear 
soft body armor has to do with the amount of body heat retained 
by the material. Several new types of vests have been developed to 
allow for greater moisture absorption and air movement. It is 
hoped that these new styles will increase the usage of the vests. 

The type II vest is the most commonly used today. It will stop 
nearly all of the handgun rounds that we used to kill officers in 
the last 10 years. The type II-A vest is gaining wider use because it 
is light and somewhat cooler than the type II. 

The type II-A vest will stop more than 90 percent of the hand­
gun bullets used in criminal attacks. The cartridges used in these 
attacks will likely be standard, nonarmor-piercing type ammuni­tion. 

There are a number of fallacies connected with the whole issue 
of legislation regarding armor-piercing ammunition. Somehow 
these fallacies keep getting repeated by the media and others as if they were fact. 

One of the main misconceptions connected with the entire issue 
of antiarmor-piercing handgun ammunition legislation is an as­
sumption that soft armor vests were designed to stop just about 
every kind of handgun ammunition. This assumption is inaccurate. 
The design was to protect against the most frequently encountered 
ammunition while at the same time being comfortable, convenient, 
and concealable to encourage its everyday use. 

Another fallacy has to do with the issue of Teflon coating. People 
seem to think that it is the Teflon coating which confers upon the 
ammunition its armor piercing qualities. This is not accurate. 
Teflon is little more than a cosmetic additive. It adds only an infin­
itesimal amount of velocity to an armor-piercing bullet and pro­
vides some protection to the gun bore. 
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The armor-piercing qualities depend upon the type of jacket, the 
shape of the bullet, the amount of the propellant, the barrel length 
muzzle velocity and a number of other factors. ' 

Another misconception deals with the use of vests by police offi­
cers who have been killed by armor-piercing bullets. To the best of 
our knowledge, no police officer has ever been shot and killed by 
an armor-piercing round which has penetrated a soft body armor 
vest being worn by an officer. 

Another fallacy, which I have heard here this morning, and I 
want to correct on the record, has to do with Czech ammunition. 
This a~munition was made in Czechoslovakia particularly between 
the per~o~ 1949 and 19?2. ~t is not armor-piercing ammunition. I 
repeat, It IS not armor-plercmg ammunition. It was not designed as such. 

It will, however, penetrate a type II or a type II-A Kevlar vest 
~nder certa~n circumstances. No~ 3p million rounds were imported 
Into th~ UnIted States, but 13 mIllIon rounds. The importation oc­
curred In the early seventies, and it was ammunition that was lo­
cated in England and owned by a U.S. citizen. 

The State Department under those circumstances made an ex­
ception and allowed for the importation of the ammunition. It is 
~ot pres~ntly manufactured. It is not presently imported, and any 
InformatIOn to the contrary I just do not know where it comes 
from. It is. als? very cheap. It goes for about 15 cents a cartridge. 

The legIslatIve proposal contained in S. 555 has a number of 
problems, which leads us to believe that it will be unenforceable 
and hence we are not able to Support it. In the first instance the 
regulation would restrict handgun bullets rather than complete 
cartri~ges: T1;tis is impractical because the performance of a bullet 
or prOjectIle IS dependent upon a number of factors including the 
quantity and type of propellant power used to asse~ble the bullet into a cartridge. . 

The perform~nce of a bullet which will not penetrate armor on a 
test can be easIly changed by varying the quantity andlor type of 
propellant ~o that the same bullet will indeed penetrate armor. 
~he regulatIOn would theoretically require testing of an infinite va­
rIety of cartridges, each having a slightly different quantity ~:l.nd/or 
typ.e of propellant. In any event, the regulation or regulations 
WhIC1;t attempt to address the problem should deal with complete 
cartrIdges rather than mere bullets or projectiles. 
. An?ther probl~~ is th~t ~any handguns currently produced do 

f~re rIfle am~unltIOn. It IS ~Ikely that ,much sporting rifle ammuni­
tIon when fIred from a 5-Inch barrel would penetrate soft body 
armor. Therefore, under S. 555 all rifle cartridges for which hand­
guns are made would have to be tested. This would be a monumen­
tal task. Many sporting rifle cartridges would end up being restrict­ed by the bill. 

.Ev~n though regulations may be prescribed under S. 555 which 
WIll lIst cert~in restricted .a!llmunition, the physical identification 
of .the restrIcted ~mmunltIOn as opposed to similar cartridges 
WhICh are not restrIcted, would be very difficult. 

The testing of ammunition contemplated by the bill would be 
b.urdensome because virtually all domestically produced ammuni­
tIon would need to be tested. 
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Additionally the bill would require the testing of all foreign am­
munition impdrted into the United S~~tes. The changing of am~u­
nition designs would create an addItIOnal burden by mandatmg 
continuous testing. '. . . 

The purpose of this bill may be thwarted If a~m~nltI<?n, whI~h 
although tested and determined to be ~onarmor plercmg, IS used In 
firearms having a barrel length exceedmg that of. the te~t w~apons. 
A longer barrel can cause increased ~uzzle velo~Ity, whIch ~n. turn 
can give a projectile from a nonrestrIcted cartrIdge the abIlIty to 
penetrate soft body armor. 

In addition to the rifle ammunition which could be used in cer­
tain handguns, there is a variety of. other readily a,vailable hand­
gun cartridges presently in comm~rcI~1 channels WhICh are not de­
signed or intended to be armor plercmg or to pene.trate soft b~dy 
armor, but which would probably cause penetratIon and whIch 
would be banned. . . 

For all of these above reasons, it is our belief that the legIslatIve 
definition of armor piercing bullets ~s imprecise .and result~ in a sit­
uation whereby manufacturers and Importers WIll no~ be gIven ade­
quate notice to decide which bullets are legal and whIch bullets are 
prohibited. . , 

Mr. Chairman, this administration shares the commIttee s con­
cern about the safety of police officers; we will not take a back seat 
to anyone regarding this concern. We have taken .sev~ral steps and 
wish to propose others which underscore and hIghlIght thIS con­
cern. 

First the administration has proposed as part of the Comprehen­
sive C;ime Control Act of 1984 a section which would impose a 
mandatory prison sentence of not less tha~ 5 nor more than 10 
years for an individual wh? .uses a:r:d car:r:Ies a ~andgun loaded 
with armor-piercing ammunItIon durmg or In relatIOn to the com­
mission of a Federal crime of violence. 

This is an important legislative remedy. We feel very strongly 
that an enhanced mandatory penalty is the way to discourage the 
utilization of armor-piercing ammun~ti~m by. criminals .. 

Another action taken by the admInIstratIOn de.als WIt? contacts 
made with manufacturers and importers of certaIn speCIfIcally de­
signed or designated types of armor-piercing ammunition. In these 
contacts we have requested voluntary compliance by the manufac­
turers and importers for a proposition w~~reby they ~?uld only 
sell this type of ammunition to the U.S. mIlI.tary, to offICIal Fe~er­
aI, State, and local law enforcemenJ agenCIes, andlor to foreIgn 
governments as authorized by law. . .. 

We think that these contacts have been SIgnIfIcant. To the best 
of our knowledge, all of the manufacturers and importe~s have 
either agreed to our proposition o~ ha,ve gone out .of the bUSIness of 
importing or producing armor-pI~~cIn~ amm';1nltIOn .. We ~o not 
believe that this type of ammunItIon IS readIly avaIlable m the 
marketplace. We have asked various indiv.idu~ls and group.s. to 
bring to our attention any indication that thIS kInd of ammunItIon 
is readily available. . . . . 

We have stated that we would take followup actIOn If thIS SItua­
tion exists. To this date no one has come forward to us with t?is 
information. I am somewhat surprised to hear here this mornmg 
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that there are situations where you can go out and buy armor­
piercing ammunition. I am surprised because I think that people in 
the law enforcement community and people who have been in­
volved with this legislation know of our position. I am surprised 
that they did not come to us a long time ago and advise us of this, 
if there is a real concern for the life of police officers. We are going 
to do something about that. We are going to check it out and get 
some kind of a voluntary compliance. 

We think that the steps we have taken in this area are reasona­
ble and indicate our concern for the safety of police officers by posi­
tive action and not by cumbersome legislation and regulatory proc­
esses which may not in the long run produce the desired results. 

As indicated previously, only one-half of the police officers in this 
country are currently issued soft body armor as part of their equip­
ment. Recent information indicates that only 15 percent of these 
officers regularly wear this body armor. Statistics further indicate 
that more lives of pohice officers could be saved if they had Kevlar 
vests and used them. 

It is our intention to encourage police administrators, police asso­
ciations, and local governments to both procure the existing stand­
ard body armor and to take whatever measures are necessary to 
ensure that police officers wear this protective material. 

A significant increase in the number of officers who are issued 
protective vests and even more importantly, a significant increase 
in the number of officers who regularly use these vests would be 
the greatest single factor in saving more lives right now. 

The Department of Justice is in the process, as they testified, of 
developing standards for a so-called type III-A Kevlar vest which 
will offer considerable more protection than that offered by the 
current type and type II-A. The administration intends to ensure 
that the development of this standard and the utilization of these 
vests is expedited to the greatest extent possible. 

Along with this action I would like to suggest the possibility that 
additional research might be conducted to explore the possibility of 
developing an even better soft body armor than is currently avail­
able. Perhaps there is something out there which will do the job 
better than Kevlar and give police officers better protection than is 
presently available. 

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I must state that the administra­
tion is opposed to S. 555 for the reasons laid out above. Important 
questions are raised by the legislation as to whether the regulatory 
proposal envisioned here or any regulatory scheme devised pursu­
ant to other legislation might produce the desired result of saving 
the lives of police officers. 

We believe that this legislation contains a cumbersome, impre­
cise, and costly regulatory process which would be extremely diffi­
cult to enforce and in the long run would have little or no impact 
on police officer safety, but would in effect create an imprecise, in­
effective regulatory framework and would be extremely difficult to 
enforce. 

That concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman. We will attempt to 
answer questions which you or the committee members may have. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Powis follows:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROBERT E. PaWLS 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, we are 

pleased to appear before you today to discuss S. 555, a bill 

known as the "Law Enforcement Officers Protection Act of 1983." 

I am accompanied today by Mr. Edward M. OWen, Chief of the 

Firearms Technology Branch, and Mr. Phillip C. McGuire, Associate 

Director (Law Enforcement) of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco 

and Firearms. These gentlemen will assist me in answering 

any questions you may have regarding technical and other 

matters after my prepared statement has been entered. 

I would like at the outset to furnish this ~ubcomrnittee 

with some historical background and information regarding 

protective vests commonly worn by police officers and armor­

piercing ammunition. Armor-piercing ammunition has been 

around for a long time and its capabilities have been well 

known by armor and ordnance experts both in the military and 

in civilian law enforcement. It is not a new phenomenon. 

The Winchester Group of the Olin Corporation produced an 

armor-piercing .357 Magnum round of ammunition as far back 

as 40 years ago. The so-called "KTW" ammunition has been 

relatively well known in the domestic ammunition industry 

for the last 15 years. While information about armor-

~~iercing ammunition was known in the industry this 'nformation 

was not known by the general public or indeed by ~any law 

enforcement officers until a television program highlighted 

this situation in 1981. Thereafter there has been a great 

deal of publicity about armor-piercing ammunition which in 

my view has served to educate criminals and persons who 

would cause harm to others about the various kinds of ammuni­

tion which will pierce protective vests worn by police officers. 

The general characteristics of armor-piercing ammunition 

involve a projectile that has a jacket of steel or other 

hard metal, a hard bullet core, a relatively large propellent 

charge and consequently a high muzzle velocity. 
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Protective vests or vests composed of soft body armor 

which are commonly worn by many police officers today have 

had a much shorter history. Tests by the Department of 

Justice in the early or middle 1970's led to a significant 

break though in the development of bullet resistent vests made 

of Kevlar which provided the police officer with a considerable 

amount of protection from bullets. The first wide scale test 

of these vests under the auspices of the Department of Justice 

occurred in 1975 when 5,000 vests were worn by police officers 

in 15 different cities. The first documented "saving of life" 

~~y use of one of these vests was recorded in December 1975 in 

Seattle. Since that time it is estimated that approximately 

_ 400 police officers have been saved from firearms attacks 

and another 200 have been protected from other injuries 

including those caused by auto accidents because they wore 

the vests. 

A study mentioned in a recent article in Law and Order 

Magazine, shows that most assaults on police officers 

(approximately 82 percent) involve the use of hands, feet 

and fists. Only about 5 percent of assaults on police officers 

involve firearms. At the present time roughly one-half of 

the nation's 570,000 sworn police officers have bullet resistant , 

vests as part of their protective equipment. Unfortunately 

only about 15 percent of the officers who have the vests wear 

them regularly. This is alarming when one considers the 

probability of assault that officers face. Eighty-two law 

enforcement officers were killed by firearms in 1982. It is 

estimated that one-half of these deaths could have been pre­

vented if they were wearing a Type II-A Kevlar vest. Of the 

eighty-two killed, sixty were shot with handguns and fifty-

five were hit in the torso. The main reason why police 

_officers do not wear soft body armor has to do with the 

amount of body heat retained by the material. Several new 
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types of vests have been developed to allow for greater 

, d' nt It l'S hoped that these moisture absorptlon an alr moveme • 

new styles will increase usage of the vests. 

The Type II vest is the most commonly used today. It 

will stop nearly all of the handgun rounds that were used to 

kill officers in the last ten years. The Type II-A vest is 

gaining wider use because it is lighter and somewhat cooler 

II The Type II-A vest will stop more than 90 then the Type • 

handgun bullets used in criminal attacks. percent of the 

The cartridges used in these attacks will likely be standard 

non-armor-piercing type ammunition. 

There are a number of fallacies connected with the 

whole issue of legislation regarding armor piercing ammunition. 

Somehow these fallacies keep getting repeated by the media 

and by others as if they were fact. One of the main miscon-

t d wl'th the entire issue of anti-armor-piercing ceptions connec e 

handgun ammunition legislation is an assumption that soft 

armor vests were designed to stop just about every kind of 

handgun ammunition. This assumption is inaccurate. The 

design was to protect against the most frequently encountered 

ammunition while at the same time being comfortable, convenie~t 

and concealable to encourage its every day use. 

to do W'l'th the question of Teflon Another fallacy has 

coating. People seem to think that it is the Teflon coating 

on the ammunition which confers upon it its armor-piercing 

Th ' " urate Teflon is little more than qualities. lS lS lnacc • 

a cosmetic additive. It adds only an infinitesimal amount 

, t armor-piercing bullet, and provides some of veloclty 0 an 

protection to the gun bore. The armor-piercing qualities 

depend upon the type of jacket, the shape of the bullet, the 

amount of propellant, barrel length, muzzle velocity and 

other factors. Another misconception deals with the use of 

vests by police officers who have been killed by armor-piercing 

bullets. To the best of our knowledge no police officer has 

o 
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eVer been shot and killed by an armor-piercing round which 

has penetrated a soft body armor vest being worn by the 
officer. 

The legislative proposal contained in S. 555 has a number 

of problems which leads us to be believe that it will be 

unenforceable and hence We are not able to support it. In 

the first instance the regulation would restrict handgun 

bullets rather than complete cartridges. This is impractical 

because the performance of a bUllet or projectile is dependent 

upon a number of factors including the quantity and type of 

propellent power used to assemble the bUllet into a cartridge. 

The performance of a bUllet which will not penetrate armor 

on a test can be easily changed by varying the quantity and/or 

type of propellent so that the same bUllet will indeed pene­

trate armor. The regulation would theoretically require the 

testing of an infinite variety of cartridges, each having a 
... 

slightly different quantity and/or type of propellent. In 

any event the regulation or regulations which attempt to 

address the problem should deal with complete Cartridges 

rather than mere bullets or projectiles. 

Another problem is that many handguns currently produced 

fire rifle type ammunition. It is likely that much sporting 

rifle ammunition when fired from a 5-inch barrel would pene-

trate soft bOdy armor. Therefore, under S. 555 all rifle 

Cartridges for which handguns are made would have to be tested. 

This would be a monumental task. Many sporting rifle cartridges 

would end up being restricted by this bill. 

Even though regulations may be prescribed under S. 555 which 

will list certain restricted ammunition, the physical identifica-

tion of the restricted ammunition, as opposed to similar cart-

ridges which are not restricted, would be very difficult. The 

testing of ammunition contemplated by the bill would be burden-

some because virtually all domestically produced ammunition 

would need to be tested. Additionally, the bill would require 
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the testing of all foreign ammunition imported into the 

United States. The changing of ammunition designs would 

create an additional bUrden by mandating continuous testing. 

The purpose of this bill may be thwarted if ammunition, 

which although tested and determined to be non-armor-piercing, 

is used in firearms having a barrel length exceeding that of 

the test weapon. A longer barrel can cause increased muzzle 

velocity, which in turn, can give a projectile from a non-

restricted cartridge the ability to penetrate soft body armor. 

In addition to the rifle ammunition which could be used 

in certain handguns, there is a variety of other readily 

available handgun cartridges presently in commercial channels 

which are not designed or intended to be armor-piercing or 

to penetrate soft body armor, but which would probably cause 

penetration and which would be banned. 

For all of the above reasons it is our belief that the 

legislative definition of armor-piercing bUllets is imprecise 

and results in a situation whereby manufacturers and importers 

will not be given adequate notice to decide which bullets 

are legal and which are prohibited. 

Mr. Chairman, this Administration shares the Committee's 

concern about the safety of police officers. We will not take 

a back seat to anyone regarding this concern. We have taken 

several steps and wish to propose others which underscore and 

highlight this concern. First, the Administration has proposed 

legislation a~ part of the Comprehensive Crime Control Act ot 

1984 which would impose a mandatory prison sentence of not 

less than ~ nor more thaq ten years for an individual who 

uses or carries a handgun .loaded with armor-piercing ammunition 

during or in relation to th~ commission of a crime of violence. 

This is an important legislative remedy. We feel Very strongly 

that an enhanced, mandatory penalty is the way to discourage 

the utilization of armor-piercing ammunition by criminals. 

We are in effect saying to the criminal, NIf you commit a violent 
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crime you will be prosecuted and sentenced. If in addition you 

use a deadly or dangerous weapon in the commission of this 

crime you will be faced with an enhanced punishment. Furthermore, 

if the weapon which you used or carried was a handgun loaded 

with armor-piercing ammunition, you will face an additional 

sentence of not less than five years which must run conse-

cutive to a sentence imposed for the felony committed." I 

would urge that all of the members of this Committee support 

this mandatory penalty and the entire Comprehensive Crime 

Control Act of 1984 as a demonstration of concern and 

SUpport for the safety of police officers. 

Another action taken by this Administration deals with 

contacts made with manufacturers and importers of certain 

specifi~ally designated types of armor-piercing ammunition. 

In these contacts, we have requested voluntary compliance by 

the manufacturers and importers for a proposition whereby 

they would only sell this type of ammunition to the U.S. 

military; to official Federal, state and local law enforcement 

agencies and/or to foreign governments as authorized by law. 

We think that these contacts have been significant. To the 

best of our knowledge all of the manufacturers and importers 

have either agreed to our proposition or have gone out of 

the bUsiness of importing or producing armor-piercing ammuni­

tion. We do not believe that this type of ammunition is 

readily available in the market place. We have asked various 

individuals and groups to bring to our attention any indication 

that this kind of ammunition is rea9ily available. We have 

stated that we would take follow-up action if this situation 

exists. To this date no one has come forward with information 

about the ready availability of armor-piercing ammunition. we 

think that this is a very reasonable step and indicates our 

concern for the safety of police officers by positive action 

and not by cumbersome regulatory processes which may not 

in the long run produce the desired results. As indicated 

f 
1 
r 

1.
·.1 

tl 
~ 

11 

f~f ., 
Ji 

J , 

59 

previously only one-half of the police officers in this 

country are currently issued sofy bOdy armor as part of 

their equipment. Recent information indicates that only 15 

percent of these officers regularly wear body armor. Statistics 

further indicate that many more lives of police officers could 

be saved if they had Kevlar vests and used them. It is Our 

intention to encourage police administrators, police associa-

tions and local governments to both procure the existing standard 

body armor and to take whatever measures are necessary to 

ensure that police officers wear this protective material. A 

significant increase in the number of officers who are issued 

protective vests and even more importantly a significant increase 

in the number of officers who regularly Use these vests would 

be the greatest single factor in saving more lives right now. 

The Department of Justice is in the process of developing 

the standards for a so-called Type III-A Kevlar vest which will 

offer considerably more protection than that offered by the 

current Type II and Type II-A vests. This Administration 

intends to ensure that the development of this standard and the 

utilization of these vests is expedited to the greatest extent 

possible. Along with this action, I Would like to suggest 

the possibility that additional research might be condUcted 

to explore the possibility of developing an even better soft 

body armor than is currently available. Perhaps there is 

something out there which will do the job better than Kevlar 

and give police officers better protection than is presently 
available. 

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I must state that the 

Administration is opposed to s. 555 for the reasons stated 

above. Important questions are raised by the legislation 

as to whether the regulatory proposal envisioned here or any 

regulatory scheme devised pursuant to other legislation 

might produce the desired result of saVing the lives of 

police officers. We believe this legislation contains a 
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cumbersome, imprecise and costly regulatory process which 

would be eJetremely difficult to enforce and in the long run 

would have little or no impact on police officer safety. 

That concludes my prepared statement, Mr. Chairman. We 

will attempt to answer any questions which you or the Committee 

members may have. 

Senator LAXALT. The committee thanks you, Mr. Powis. May the 
record indicate that Congressman Biaggi has asked the chairman 
for permission to question the witness and the chairma,n has read­
ily consented to that arrangement. I assume Senator BIden has no objection. 

Senator BIDEN. None at all. 
Senator LAXALT. Congressman Biaggi, I think it would be well if 

you would address some of your concerns to Mr. Powis because 
some of the contentions that you made were put rather squarely 
into issue by virtue of his testimony. 

Mr. BIAGGI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for the Oppor­
tunity to pose these questions. 

One, Mr. Powis, it is my understanding you represent the 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms. 

Mr. POWIS. I represent Treasury, and we have oversight over the 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms. The two gentlemen with 
me are from that organization, Mr. Biaggi. 

Mr. BLAGG!. Well, that is what my understanding was. I just 
want to clarify that because you started out sounding like a repre­
sentative of the National Rifle Association. 

Mr. POWIS. Mr. Biaggi, I am clearly a representative of the Treasury Department. 
Mr. BLAGG!. I understand. You are on record. I am making my 

observation. Do not interrupt me when I am speaking. You had an 
opportunity to respond to my question. 

Mr. POWIS. I thought it was a question, sir. 
Mr. BLAGG!. Well, it was not, and you know the difference. 
Clearly, you have tried to discredit som~ of the earli~r testimony 

presented by myself and Senator MoynIhan by saymg that no 
police officer had been killed wearing a bUllet proof vest. No one 
has said that. What we said was that two police officers were killed 
with armor-piercing bUllets. 

I am not asking for a response; I am making a statement. When 
I pose the question you will be given an opportunity to respond. 

Now I will pose the question: Would you have preferred that 
they be killed wearing their vests or do you contend that if they 
were wearing their vests they would not have been killed? You 
have an opportunity now to respond to both questions. 

Mr. POWIS. I certainly would not want to see any police officer 
killed, either wearing or not wearing a bUllet proof vest. I made a 
statement of fact and it is a fact, because there is a certain implica­
tion here in terms of statements about officers being killed in the 
last year, and so forth, there is an implication that officers are 
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being killed by armor-piercing ammunition while wearmg bUllet 
proof vests and that is not the fact. 

Mr. BLAGG!. That is an implication that you make. The statement 
was very clear by Senator Moynihan and myself, that two police 
officers were killed in Florida by armor-piercing bullets; that is all 
that was said. No one said there was a bullet-proof vest. 

N ow answer the second question. If they were wearing bullet 
proof ~ests, would they have survived the assault by those armor­piercing bUllets? 

Mr. POWIS. Well, certainly, Mr. Biaggi, we do not know that be­
cause we do not know the circumstances. And so we understand 
each other, I have no argument with the fact that specially de­
signed armor-piercing rounds will penetrate a vest, but what we do 
not know-and I do not know about that particular situation, is 
what was the range of the shooting, and so forth. '. 

So I do not think I or anyone else can answer that questIOn wIth 
respect to the case in Florida. 

Mr. BLAGG!. Mr. Powis, we have seen demonstration after demon­
stration where these armor-piercing bullets go through the front 
panel, the back panel, a substance equivalent to the human body 
and several telephone books after that. 

I am sure you do not mean to tell us or impl~ that if they were 
wearing a bullet-proof vest they would have survIved? 

Mr. POWIS. As a general proposition, Mr. Biaggi, I do not ques­
tion at all that specially designed armor-piercing rounds and a 
number of other rounds that are not designed to pierce armor will 
penetrate a bullet proof vest. . 

What I am saying is that I do not know the facts and CIrcum­
stances regarding the shooting in Florida, the distance away that 
the people were, and so forth. So I do not know that anybody can 
tell us whether or not a bullet-proof vest would or would not have 
saved the lives of those officers. 

Mr. BIAGGI. I do not think it serves any purpose to belabor the 
question. But I think the record speaks for itself and the demon­
strations speak for themselves. 

You opened your remarks by saying that prior to all this publici­
ty criminals did not know about the armor piercing bullets and the 
KTW bUllets. That is one of the very special arguments that the 
NRA has been putting forth. . . 

The fact is Mr. Powis, the KTW bUllets have been publIcIzed 
since around 1970 when they were created in Ohio. And they have 
been publicized in all of the sports publications and the munitions 
publications. So clearly the argument that the NRA offers or you 
offer, Mr. Powis, is not true. 

And, moreover, if you think that the criI:ninals-and I know: ~ou 
know better, Mr. Powis-given your experIence-need a .televIs.lOn 
to find out about armor-piercing bullets, then you are beIng naIye, 
because ofttimes, my friend, the criminals know more about the In­
novative instruments available to them than law enforcement at 
large. I am not talking about the leadership, but law enforcement at large. 

Now, you make reference to the amount of foreign importations 
into the country; the fact is we have importation from France, 
from Finland, from West Germany, and from Sweden; as .a matter 
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of fact the arrest that was made out in Nassau County, we found 
some armor-piercing bullets from Sweden. 

And you also make reference to the long barrel. From my experi­
ence as a police officer, and it has been fairly extensive in some of 
the more difficult places in the city of New York, most criminals 
use short barrels. That is what we are dealing with. 

You said you speak for the administration. I heard the Depart­
ment of Justice take a contrary position. You speak for the Depart­
ment of Treasury. Is that correct? 

Mr. POWIS. Mr. Biaggi, I think we have to sort out what we are 
talking about. I think very clearly the administration, including 
the Department of Treasury and the Department of Justice, are op­
posed to S. 555. I do not know if there is any question about that. I 
did not hear anyone in Justice say that they were for S. 555. 

Mr. BIAGGI. I heard Mr. Stephens say he was for the thrust of S. 
555. Mr. Stephens is still here. Would you like him to reaffirm the 
Justice Department position for the record? 

Mr. POWIS. I certainly would. 
Mr. BlAGG!. Mr. Stephens. 
Mr. STEPHENS. Congressman, I think when I testified I indicated 

that we did SUpport the thrust of S. 555 if we can arrive at a satis­
factory definition of armor piercing so that we can get at this 
narrow category of ammunition which can defeat body armor 
which we would hope would be worn by most police officers. 

As to the way S. 555 is now drafted, we, as Treasury and as the 
administration, have opposed that bill. But the idea behind it and 
the thrust we did SUpport. 

Mr. BlAGG!. Well, that was my understanding. 
Mr. Powis, you said you have taken some initiative with relation 

to this problem by proposing enhanced penalties. That is not inno­
vative and I SUpport it. In fact S. 555 has an enhanced penalty pro­
vision. I go even fUrther and you were here when I testified that 
we should enhance the penalties for any crime committed with a firearm. 

But aside from that, what have you done? What has Treasury 
recommended with relation to this problem? 

Mr. POWIS. Well, as I indicated, Mr. Biaggi, we are recommend­
ing very, very strongly and we intend to get something off the 
ground in terms of a public relations campaign, that police officers 
should get as part of their basic equipment type II or type II-A 
Kevlar vests, and more importantly, that they should wear them. I 
think it is significant that half the lives-·half of the 82 police offi­
cers who were killed in 1982 probably could have survived if they 
had these vests. I think that is very signifieant. I think that is very important. 

Mr. BIAGGI. I could not agree with you more. 
Mr. POWIS. Another thing that we have done, recognizing-and 

we are not in disagreement on this issue, I do not believe, recogniz­
ing that the KTW-type bullet does create a problem. I do not ques­
tion or have any argument with you on the number of telephone 
books it will penetrate or on the number of layers of Kevlar it will go through. 

We have gone to the manufacturers and to the importers and we 
have said, because of Our concern, we would not want to see you 
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selling that kind of ammunition to dealers or to individuals. \ye 
would want you to restrict your sales to law enforcement agenCIes 
and/or the military and/or foreign sales pursuant to the law. 

Mr. BIAGGI. Voluntary agreements might be satisfactory ~resent­
ly because attention has been focused on the problem. WIth the 
passaO'e of time I am not so sure what would happen to those vol­
untar~ agreements. I am far from convinced that there is any capa­
bility of enforcement. 

Let me ask you this: Do you see armor-piercing bullets as a prob-lem? 
Mr. POWIS. Armor-piercing bullets are a problem. 
Mr. BIAGGI. As they relate to police officers? 
Mr. POWIS. If we did not see it as a problem, sir) we would not 

have done this contact with the manufacturers and importers. We 
see it as a problem. 

Mr, BlAGG!. Now, let me see if I understand you; what you are 
saying here is we should have more vests. If we have more vests it 
would not be a question-are we not back where we started from, 
square one, where we have vests that can be penetrated by armor­
piercing bullets? 

Mr. POWIS. Well, if we have more vests, we are going to save 
more lives; I do not think there is any question about that and I 
think that is very significant. 

Mr. BlAGG!. That is not the question. 
Mr. POWIS. We are dealing with a situation here of a very, very 

small amount of ammunition that could create the problem, and 
we are dealing with a real life situation where only very rarely is 
armor-piercing ammunition being used in crimes. That is a fact. 

The incident in Florida happened in 1976. 
Mr. BIAGGI. Suppose it never happened, 1\.1r. Powis. Suppose it 

never happened. As long as we know we have the capacity out 
there, those criminals have the capacity to use armor-piercing car­
tridges to penetrate vests and kill police officers, why should we 
wait until a police officer is killed? I know you do not want that 
and I do not want that. So why not prevent it and why not give the 
police officer comfort in the knowledge that his vest will protect him? 

Mr. POWIS. Mr. Biaggi, I think if we can come up with something 
that does not impose a cumbersome, unenforceable type of a situa­
tion, that we ought to try and do something a.bout it. And I think 
that our effort in the voluntary compliance arE~a has been an effort 
to try and do something short of this kind of legislation in S. 555. 

Senator LAXALT. Senator Biden. 
Senator BIDEN. Thank you very much. Let me ask you a couple 

of questions. First of all, on page 4 you cite that there are a 
number of fallacies connected with the whole issue of legislation re­
garding armor-piercing bullets. The first fallaey you point out is 
that the misconception that the entire issue of armor-piercing 
handgun ammunition legislation is an assumption that soft armor 
vests were designed to stop just about every kind of handgun am­
munition. This assumption is accurate. . 

It sounds like a little bit of sophistry to me. I am not sure what 
point you are trying to make. I am probably missing something. 
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Mr. POWIS. Well, I am trying to make the point that soft body 
armor came along at a time when there was a lot of ammunition 
out there of all kinds, including armor-piercing ammunition. That 
is armor-piercing ammunition that was definitely designed for that 
purpose, but also a wide variety of other ammunition that while 
not specifically designed to be armor-piercing would in fact and 
does in fact penetrate the commonly used vest that we have now. 

Senator BIDEN. But is it not true--
Mr. POWIS. But the point I was trying to make was that it was 

not a situation where soft body armor came along and suddenly 
you had an arrival on the scene of armor~piercing ammunition, 
which was designed to defeat it. 

Senator BIDEN. I see. Well, as a matter of fact, if they could 
design to defeat it, they would try to do it. It is not that they did 
not design it to defeat armor-piercing bullets. It is designed to 
defeat the penetration of any projectile as much as they could do 
that. I mean, that was the purpose. 

They did not sit down and say, now, we are going to design a vest 
that will stop most bullets. They sat down and said, we are going to 
design a vest that will stop as much as we can stop. 

Mr. POWIS. And still be worn and still be comfortable. 
Senator BIDEN. They want to stop any kind of projectile they can 

and still be able to be worn in some mildly comfortable manner 
and still be able to get policemen to get them on. 

Mr. POWIS. I think we are on the same wavelength. 
Senator BIDEN. OK, good. Now, the second fallacy you point out 

is that only an infinitesimal amount of velocity of an armor-pierc­
ing bullet is provided by Teflon. Again, what is the point of that? I 
mean, what are you trying to get at? 

Mr. POWIS. Well, the point is, and you hear it over and over 
again and you hear it in the media. I think the New York Times 
did an editorial and the point seems to be that the Teflon is the 
bad thing here, that the Teflon confers some kind of invulnerabil­
ity on this bullet. 

Senator BIDEN. So, you are suggesting that if you are going to do 
anything about bullets that can pierce armor that we are capable 
of producing now, that we have to do something more than deal 
with Teflon. 

Mr. POWIS. Teflon is a negligible factor. 
Senator BIDEN. OK. The third misconception is that you men­

tioned about how many officers were or were not killed wearing 
vests by armor-piercing bullets. 

Mr. POWIS. I mentioned a fourth, Senator, and I do not think you 
were here. 

Senator BIDEN. All right. What is the fourth? 
Mr. POWIS. It is very significant. It has to do with the Czech am­

munition that there was information given about. I think it is 
worth repeating. The Czech ammunition that we are referring to 
was made in Czechoslovakia between the period of 1949 to 1952. It 
is not armor piercing ammunition. It was not designed to be armor­
piercing ammunition. But it does fall into the category of non­
armor-piercing that will indeed penetrate a type II and a type II-A 
vest. 
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And the circumstances surrounding the importion-and it was 13 
million, not 30 million-was that a U.S. citizen owned the bulk of 
this ammunition in Great Britain. He applied for and was granted 
permission by the State Department to bring it into the country 
and he did bring it in. So we are not currently importing this type 
of ammunition. What we have is the residue of the 13 million 
rounds, which came in in the early seventies. 

Senator BIDEN. All right, now--
Senator LAXALT. So the record is clear on this, so your testimony 

is, Mr. Powis, that in point of fact that the Czechs are not present­
ly manufacturing this kind of ammunition. Am I correct in that? 

Mr. POWIS. I guess I would feel most comfortable with the fact 
that this kind of ammunition is not being imported into the United 
States at this time. I would have to check; I have information indi­
cating that, but I would want to be more positive about the manu­
facture. 

Senator BIDEN. Now, you then go on on pages 6 and 7 and 
beyond to point out the cumbersomeness of an attempt to in a reg­
ulatory fashion determine what bullet constitutes an armor-pierc­
ing bullet. 

But then you say, and I find it interesting, you indicate in both 
the essence of your testimony and a letter to Senator Moynihan in 
response to questions, you said that, {(The difficulty in attempting 
to define projectile type ammunition is it invariably includes a 
wide range of ammunition commonly used for hunting, target 
shooting, or other legitimate and long established sporting pur­
poses." 

You go on to say in a letter dated April 7, 1983: {(There has been 
little significant progress in the development of regulatory defini­
tion for armor-piercing ammunition that would not also include the 
wide range of ammunition commonly used for sporting." 

And yet in that same letter, as I read the letter, you said, and I 
quote: 

That we have made additional progress in our contacts with manufacturers who 
specifically designed armor-piercing ammunition such as KTW. We are now in a sit­
uatio,n whe~'e all manuf~c~urers of this type of ammunition have either agreed to 
restrIct theIr sales to legItImate enforcement agencies or have gone out of business. 

Now, I am a little confused. You say you cannot define it, but 
you are confident that you have gotten the manufacturers to stop 
manufacturing what you could not define. 

Mr. POWIS. The difference, Senator, lies between that ammuni­
tion which is clearly designed and advertised and meant to be 
armor piercing. These are the people we have gone to and said re­
strict your sales, and a wider range of sporting ammunition that is 
not designed to be armor piercing, that is not in a true sense armor 
piercing, but which will in effect penetrate the type II and type II­
A vest. 

Senator BIDEN. As I said before, what we have here is a commu­
nications problem. Why do you not just give us the definition that 
you use to get the manufacturers to voluntarily stop manufactur­
Ing what you have just defined as clearly designed as armor pierc­
ing and we will just put that in the legislation. 

If you would send that up we can really save a lot of time at the 
hearing here. 
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Mr. POWIS Well It might b d'ff I 
cally go at a~e the' people who

e aadv~ r~u ty ~ect~se what we basi-
designed their ammunition to be ar~~se ~n . c anN and who have 

Senator BIDEN. I am confused a a' r plercmg. o~, let me--
precision here. Should we then ha;e ~~gf~Wt' I a1 ~oklng for some 
want any legislation but in order t d s a IOn- now you do not 
tarily, should we the'n write the Ie ? I ~. what {O~ are doing vol un­
I would like you to send us with giS ~ .lOn r~ atIng to advertising? 
turers to do; how you determine :he~~lOn w ~t you ask manufac­
No.2, what you sa t th 0 e manulacturers are, No.1; 
and No.3, what yO~ a~k t~:n when you determine who they are; 
they are and what they are doi not to do once you determine who 

Th . h ng. 
,we w~ll bee arr;~~gt ::y a~~:~i~~~r~~~f~e~~.at in the legislation and 

Would you do that for the record? 
Mr. POWIS. We will attempt t d th t Th . 

at is that ammunition that is sOpe~' fall' d e ~aslc thing we looked 
advertised as-- 1 Ica y eSIgned, marketed, and 

~~~~!~DW"!; ;'o~~ ~~~P1:~h~~:v~~~~eWhat are those? 
Senator BIDEN. And say this is armor piercin 

SMr. PtOWIBS' That is right. This will pierce arnf~r 
ena or IDEN All . ht W 11 . 

Thank you very ~uch rMlgr C' h .e , we can start there, then. OK. 
S ' . aIrman 

enator LAXALT Thank y S t' W 
an~ members of the anel. o~h ena or. e t~~nk you, Mr. Powis, 
WrItten questions, I w~uld assu ere lrob~tlY W~.i!l be s.ome followup 

Mr. POWIS. Thank you Mr Cmhe~ .rom e subcommIttee. 
S t ' . aIrman. 
A~f~igOhf~:LwT"ITI hank YdOU for your usual cooperation 

, 1 procee now with the' '1 
everyone can see we are runni varIOUS pane s, and as 
expedite the proc~ssing of these ng ar.~IlY late. We would like to 

First of all w h pane s 1 we may. 
Richard J an~lli efro:e N a~:a~l cJ~~s~sti~g hf v;rious police officers: 
DE, and Kane Robinson from Des MJ~es~ IA. utler from Newark, 

Senator BIDEN. Mr. Chairman h'll . 
ve~y distinguished Delawarean he e wI'thn~. tebtlf~, ~ut we have a 
BrIesley, the former president of re WI . IS alhstlc expert; Bill 
Ch~e~s of Police. And if you would thet NB:tI~~al State .Association of 
to Jom us at the table. He has ~o tI?In would lIke to ask him 
have ;;t question. Please join us, ~e;s Imony, but maybe we might 

I mIght note for the record h . t d 
graduate at the Universit' e arres e me when I was an under-
though, I might add. This is ;0 ~~ D.!Iaware, never file.d charges, 

I would note for the record th WI not arrest me agaIn. 
all right. I can see it in the nex~t they l.aughed. That was a joke, 
nent, Biden arrested by Brie I campaign brochure of my oppo-

S t L 
s ey. 

ena or AXALT. All ri ht Wh . f' . 
Detective ~anelli, if you lrke: 0 IS Irst? We wIll start with you, 

Senator BIDEN Maybe ld 
the detective if y~U would~oU cou pass that microphone down to 
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STATEMENTS' OF RICHARD JANELLI, NASSAU COUNTY, NY, 
POLICE DEPARTMENT; JOHN BUTLER, NEWARK, DE, POLICE 
DEPARTMENT; AND KANE ROBINSON, DES MOINES, lA, POLICE 
DEPARTMENT 

Mr. JANELLI. Good morning, gentlemen. I would first like to read 
a prepared statement. Upon completio~ of that statement, I would 
like to explain briefly but in detail the work that I was assigned to 
do regarding the penetration of soft body armor. I would like to 
point out at this particular point the word "armor" in reference to 
the work that was done would be regarding the soft body armor, 
not the armor you would find on a tank. 

When I mention armor piercing, please bear with me, that I am 
making reference to in the majority of the cases ammunition that 
will penetrate not only this body armor, but the material I had 
placed behind it. 

Senator LAXALT. What was that, Detective, the last of that state­
ment? 

Mr. JANELLI. That the bullet not only penetrated the soft body 
armor, but the material that I had placed behind the soft body 
armor. 

Senator LAXALT. All right. 
Mr. JANELLI. Good morning distinguished Members of the 

Senate, ladies and gentlemen. My name is Richard Janelli and I 
am a detective and senior firearms examiner for the Nassau 
County Police Department. 

I have been a member of the Nassau County Police Department 
for 28 years and have been assigned to the scientific investigation 
bureau for the past 23 years. I am also the past president of the 
International Association of Firearm and Tool Mark Examiners. 

As part of my duties as the senior firearms examiner, I am re­
sponsible for the examination, testing, and testifying regarding evi­
dence which has been submitted on crimes involving firearms. I am 
also responsible for evaluating the ammunition and soft body 
armor used by the police department in the County of Nassau. 

On behalf of the Nassau County Police Department, I would like 
to thank the cqmmittee for providing the opportunity for the de­
partment to relate its experiences with armor-piercing ammuni­
tion. 

As the result of a search warrant executed last fall in conjunc­
tion with a bank robbery investigation, a quantity of Teflon coated 
bullets and armor-piercing rounds were recovered from the prem­
ises of a subject wanted for the robbery. This discovery prompted 
the department to send me out to the firearms dealers in the area 
to ascertain whether it was possible to obtain other armor-piercing 
handgun ammunition. 

As a result of this inquiry, I found that armor-piercing handgun 
ammunition was available in the normal channels of commerce 
and that it could be obtained with little difficulty. I then proceeded 
to set up a procedure to test the department's soft body armor 
against eight different types of armor-piercing handgun ammuni­
tion which had been procured. 

In all eight cases the ammunition penetrated the soft body armor 
with ease. Since the armor-piercing handgun ammunition is pro .. 

o 
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duced and distributed across the country and in some cases import­
ed from foreign countries, there appears to be a need for a national 
answer to this problem. Unless Congress takes action to pass effec­
tive legislation to adequately deal with the sale and possession of 
armor-piercing ammunition, the safety and well-being of the law 
enforcement officers across America will remain in jeopardy. 

I would now like to show and display the ammunition, explain 
how it was purchased, a description of the bUllet configuration in­
volved, the type of handguns, and examination of the soft body armor. 

When I first went out to purchase this ammunition, I was look­
ing for, again, using the word armor-piercing ammunition. I had al­
ready in my laboratory supply a certain type ammunition that I 
felt would do the job. I visited several dealers throughout the area 
and I was able to obtain, first, this box here of .380 caliber armor­
piercing ammunition, and it is made by the American Ballistics Co. 
of Marietta, GA. I have the enclosed bill for this ammunition. 

At the same time when I purchased the .380 ammunition, he 
only had left in his stock three .45 caliber ACP cartridges. I pur­
chased those three. He informed me when the 9-millimeter car­
tridges came in he would call me. A member of my office in an­
other section of the laboratory who is a gun huff had called up a 
dealer, identified himself, as we are required to within the State of 
New York; this company then ordered 9-millimeter ammunition 
over the phone. It was sent to his place of business. Upon arrival 
he called Our office. The officer went over and picked it up and he 
was kind enough to give me a few rounds for the purpose of my testimony. 

This round here, and I believe the contents of this box are up on 
the desk here, was purchased either by myself or another member 
of the department approximately 3 years ago, again from a local 
firearms dealer in Nassau County and on the box it indicates that 
it is imported or distributed by Interarms, Alexandria, VA. 

The first ammunition I was making reference to has come from 
Georgia. This particular box that we had ordered through the 
normal channels of ordering through a police department is 9-milli­
meter ammunition. It is Norma brand. I had in my possession, 
which I had ordered again through normal processing, Winchester 
Western ammunition containing .357 magnum, what they refer to 
as a metal piercing bUllet. And this bUllet is truncated in design. I 
then went out and purchased from another store, the bill here sub­
mitted, the same as the .357; however, it is in the .38 special cali­
ber, again with a truncated design bUllet. 

This box here contains the end results of the bUllets after I had 
done my test firing. This box here contains a sample of each of the 
rounds that I fired. Now, the soft body armor that the police de­
partment in the county of Nassau uses is made by the P ACCO 
Corp. I would like to take time to read very briefly what it Con­
tains. It contains 21 layers of Kevlar. There are two units, a red 
unit which contains 5 layers of Kevlar, a white unit which contains 
the balance of 16 layers of Kevlar. The manufacturing specifica­
tions state: "When you wear the red unit alone, it has no protec­
tive power whatsoever." When the white unit is Worn simply 
within this outer canvas or Covering it will stop a .357 maguum 
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jacketed soft point, 15~ grain bullet, ?aving a m~~zl~rv:~~~~~. ~f 
1,?50 feet Pgr ~lf.ondt:i?MCP~~i~h Ts'~~ullf !~t~ cise bullet, 124 
wII~ stop l

a
08ftee

I:np
e
er second plus or minus 50 feet per second and graIn or , . , 

all lesser threats. makin reference to a less~,. caliber, 
By less~r threats they are locit '\Then the red and w{d~e are 

3,225, WhICh has ~ lesser vethe ~i57 158 grain it will now stop a 
worn together~ agaIn we use . ~nd Ius o~ minus 50 feet. It 

:Yf~t,;~09i!i1lfm~:;: f~lt!:;;'r"~~se, 1~4 grain of 1,175 feet per 

second pl~s or minus 50 ~~? al~ l~:ek~~~:~;:· GA, I have here in 
Regardmg the amm~m :Zfur ~o it. For ex~mple, the one th",t I 

~~: ~~~~:1~; ~!~~~ith;~!r~~~i~iio~~: o!:}E~J~~rY~r! 
mILlImeter cartndg 1 1· t f 1 650 feet per second. The .45 
piercing, has. a muzh~s v: :~IZ velocity of 1,450. Part of the job 

!C:;':~'::~:;'f~=~c:~; the police depa7,ment is to te:;s eO~~ ~r~~fec~: 
vests that are submittet ;'0 ~e w?rn a Y3~U~ r;;~:r and·a 9-millimeter 
ed att·d r:ndoumsinagnds:a~~ar~re a~:~~iti~n 'th~t has been normally car n be, f t d 

bo~~~t ;~~~Ur~~h!:~:~l !r~n~~; a~; ~8 special-excuse me-
357 or 9-millimeter as so designed by the manu~acturer a:r:d ~ny 
. W duct seal When I used thIS armor-pIercmg ~~~~~~~~~tsI to~~~~! forward panel, and I str3a12pe~ it ~ro~~~ha 

h· h? proximately 18 inches square, mc es In , 

E~£~~~~i~t;,~~~St~~t~;u~d~tJ~: :~h~d~ ,:rf.::.I~~~vbJI~~ 
h one into or been stopped or penetrated the vest. at ~ave found with all this ammunition that was tbst~ tF~eed~7t 
~~~f~~~n:!~a~~~tt~~~~o~ ~~:~~~~.s%:ee~~ll~ ;~~ te~~e~~if~: ;~~~ 

, 357 nd the 45 They not on y pene ra e 1 ~~~he ve~~fh~r:to apounds ~f ducttsea.1, tl!t ~~~o baa~:l~/fu~ ~:C~~d wood in the back and they came 0 I es In 

Pffe~~~ h~~Za,:;,;P;~:;tions that you would like to ask pertaining 
to this, I would be happy to answer the~ If possI?le. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. JanellI follows.] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF RICHARD JANELLI 

jOintly cOl1cluc"tc:;)tl by thf~ GcLl~dell City, New Yenic O:r:,l:ice of tllo 

Pec1c!ral DLlreau ur: TnVtll3 t:i.~Ji1t"i.()1l tlllc"l tll(l NlIW;<'IU CCHllil:.I' !'OJ,i.UI.' 

Department, culminated with the issuallce of Cl SfJctrch VVi.ll:rtll\,t 

for 'the resictencc'; of David Schwartz. I,l'h~} nXGcul:ion of tld,/l 

Search Warrant resulted in the confiscation of a cache of 

weapons a 11(1 allllllUl1itj,OIl, :i.JlC1L1r"1.Ln~J two tul"loll l:o .... II:(~d 1~()IIJIc'lI; 

which w(,~re homemade, and twe,}nty-follr stool :jllckol:oc"i i'IJ~III()I~ 
piercing rounds. 

The discovery of: thJs [umnunition proillptocl the NilsSilll 

County PoLice Depilr'tllll:.!nt to cOllducl: tin inquiry :i,II[:O tilt! 

availabiLi:ty of tGf: lon cot! tGl1, nrlllOl: J:l;i.c~l~cJ'LIIU i11HI IlIlll:"l 

piercing handgun alOlTlunition in tho norloal channels of 

comllleJ7CO, and 1:0 test l:l'ic pot()nti,al lGthal (~ap<lb,U,'it:i,(),'; or 
such ammunition. 

v~ith 1i'tt1e troubJ.l'l at al.l, OJ: was ubleto purchase 

froll1 a cOl\u(Jorcial .r:i,n~a I~III~'; ,111,'1 i:llflllIlIn:i,l::i.ons c:loalGJ7, 
380 i.111l1 

1\5 caliber armor piercin':) <1mlllUnition. ~l'his clc:laler happenec'1 

l:o be ou't of 9 miliml';l.:e,l: i'~rmo,r. piercing a1nmuni,tion, but 

statecl he would call me when it came ,i.n. In the interim, 

however, J: ob'ca:i.nc.:c1 a quanl:ity of 9 m;i.J.illl(!t(-~J7 clrll10r piercin'.:) 

rounds from another laboratory technician Who had purchased 

theln from a dealer. :r WClS ellso able to buy c.1 quantity of :10 

abou,t the last purchClse· is that the anlinuni,t:Lon Ims obti"l:i.lwcl 

store," and the ammunition has no legiti.mate pu,t"posc in 

sport or recrsCltional shooting. 

) 
t 
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Aft8rl:h il3 I t ' 'I ',I,' 1,).I~()c[)(!('luri nmlllunil:inn Iwt."1 beGl1 0) ',unoe , 

-' , 1 t (';'Lffet'(~lyt l:YI)U8 of hnnc"iULIrI t9 test fire the following 8191- ~ 

arnrnuni,tiol1 : 

(1 ) 

( 2) 

(3 ) 

(4 ) 

( !S 1 

(G) 

(7 ) 

380 cCilib~}r ruunds contuinin~J il 10 w Cil.l:bo n 

7\lfIericnn J3C:llliGtics Company C),r: t-1<.lriul:l:i.I, 

Ge:1orgia; 

9 milimeter t"ounas ~ ~ " COI'll.:c·\1.' 11';11" a low carbon 

steel and teflon coatecl, manufactured by the 

American BClllistics Company of fiJarh11:l:ur 

Georgiu; 

1\5 caliber rounds containing a low carbon steel 

and 'teflon coated, manufactured by ,the Americun 

Ballisti.cs Company of Marietta, Georgia; 

30 caliber special me'tal piercing rounds wi'!:h a 

truncatec )ll, .. e' (:1 ..... ~ c 1 1 1] t d S {C111 and co[)per cOute(l, 

manufactured by the h1nc1es-e " ',1' 1 t r Western COlll')any 

of tile.) Ol.in Corpo,t"':1 t.i.oll Lil II.l.L:~lIl, 

Ill.i.nois; 

3 ~i '/ 111 .. 1 ~JlIIIIII 

u ncl 

Illanufactured by the ~~inchestc:Jr. ('IostELI:n Company 

of: tllG Oli.n C()rp()I~<lt:i.un :i.11 Illl:lJll, 

:n,L:Lnois i 

30 cCI1:Lbor spacial 1{ll'I'" .l;OLlII(I~·; lIIi.\do of: I,m I. i.1I 

I 'll l:c)J:1.on conl::i.nq, III,Hlfnc:l'\lL'C'11 hy 1'111' )J:flSS vJ:l.: \ i\ _ 

Nor t11 l\mG,t:' icn n Ordnanc(~ CUlllpuny of POll ti.dU r 

Michi9an; 

9 llliJ..i.rneter 1;()l1nch~ ,,,,it:11 Cl coppel:' IJOC1l:u(l fJtenl 

jackel: ':ll'lll .. Ce\e. core, I ...... '1 'I 11\,',111LI ",;1" tLlre(] in NOJ7111(I, 

Sweden; 

'0 

o 
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(B) 9 milimeter rounds with a aupro-nickel jacket 

and sol:t 
i.1I cart), 

Czechoslovakia and impor'ted by Interarms of 

AloxnndriD, Virginia. 

'rhese eight c1iffen=,m·t !:ypes of amrnuni·tion were then test 

fired by me into the soft body armor tnanufac·tured by the 

Protective Apparel Corporation of America in Englewood 

Cliffs, Ne~1 IJersey. Thi.s is the same sof·t body armor which 

is rl1~t"!sontJ.y b(::lilw ~SSl'I" 1 '0 1 I: tl N C 
:J .~. ,. d C mem x:!rs 0: "1~) nSSC,lll .ol.1nty 

Pol:Lce.;) Depax .. tmen·t. 'rlds soft body <:\1:100.\: consists of two 

'.1.'110 L);·lllt~J .i..'.J ".1 J-.Ut! (III"'., ('(')11L"L'L'Ll'll u!' < , ,0>. 'J ' .. 'J ; Ci.VI! 
layers of kevlar. 

The second panel is a white one, 

consistin'J 01: six teell Llyon; 01: kuvl<l17. \rJII(,)11 WOJ:JI I:U()I.d:llc'I' 

under manufacturer's spe'.1cificatiul1s, these l:wenty-one lay01~13 

of protective kevlar nre dssigned to stop the penetrntin'J 

force of a 357 magnum, a 9 milimeter and all lesser threats. 

The soft boe1y il1:I1IOI: W,IS plilCOt'l (\J~()lIl1c'1 d Ilrllf-im:1l !;IJj(:I, 

plywood box which \'If.lS UpUIl ill: tlw fnm!: nl\Jl f.i.llod wi.l:11 

forty pOUllds oJ: duc'b3eill. I~f.\ch teSL Li .. d.I1\J WCll3 C!Olltlll(!l:ntl 

frOIll a const'lI1·t distance of f:,ifteen fO(;1t. Til 011Gh illlt'! C1VJ!I"y 

instance, I:he eight tUi)eS of.' alnrnull~·t.~.on Wll.l.'cll ~ ... .1 \'/eru tGS tori, 

penetrCltetl through the fl:unl: panels of tho sol:l: bn(ly ilnfl()l~ 

In the Ci'lSe or: 3S'l lII':IVlIUIII 1I1(~!:.'.ll 
P±C-:lrcinv ammllni.-tioll "II'le1 LllC' A r.: 1 'I ' 

- -,,) cn .. .1. )01: ilrlllOl7 p.I.CH'c:'i.IH) 

CllTllTluni·tion, the rOUIlt"IB uon tinllocl l:1t t'ough !:he c.luct:l:!o1l1 ':1 Il c'1 

hillE-inch plyvlooc1, i.If\c.l Villn' rOL!nc] n)Hl:i.n~J ClI1i1:i.I\IJI: !;lIn 

panel 0:1: the soft body flJ:IIIC>l:. 
""(Iill, 

'L' he role of the Ill .... , em EorcelTlent 0[;£ iC6J: is one f.l:augh I: 

wi th dall(ler. '''I~ til til] t 
::.t vv." • 1C~ C eve"opmen" or: soft body £IrIl101;, tilo 

~.aw enforc(-'IIll'lIlt offic(:)r .... /CI/;l provided wi·th sOll1e IllGGISLl.t'8 of: 

Success in dealing with one 
aspect 01: ·this danger. 

availability of the ·teflon coa·ted alnmuni'l:ion, the armor 

piercing ammuni·tiol1 Clnd metal piercing ammuni.tion 
which is 

'f 

.! 
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readily avai.lable in the marketplace today has once again 

mac]r.=the police o:r:ficer vllll10rable to th(: th:r.oat posed by 

the violent crililinal. As ·these tests (lell1ons·tra·ted, ·the so£·t 

intended purpose. 

WiUl this illlllllun:i.!::i.on l)(dn~J lUFlt.d.bu!:ud l:ll.r.ulIeJitUI.IL l:IIU 

country and coming into the United States from foreign 

countries, it appears that n national answer to the problem 

w·ith this clear cll1r1 p.t'cHlGnt danger to the i.lI'H.'1 well 

being of law enforcement officerl3 Cicross AlIleric£l. 

Senator LAXALT. Thank you very much, Detective. I assume as 
you gather evidence showing this apparent availability of this am­
munition, that that is being transmitted to Treasury. At least I 
would hope so, 

Mr. JANELLI. Senator, I was just informed of this situation to do 
this work about 9 days ago. I was not aware of any legislation, to 
be very honest with you, regarding armor-piercing ammunition. If 
my department was aware of it, I was not made aware of it, How­
ever, upon hearing Treasury talk at this meeting, I am sure when I 
report back to my Commissioner any information that would be 
forthcoming will be sent by him to the Treasury Department, 

Senator LAXALT, I think it would be very helpful. 
Mr. JANELLI. Yes, sir. 
Senator LAXALT. Senator Biden. 
Senator BIDEN. Sir, two questions. One, to the extent that you 

can answer it, are there any bullets available on the market that 
you are aware of, for whatever purpose, whatever stated purpose, 
that could pierce the vests that you tested that do not also do 
damage to the barrel of the gun? 

Mr. JANELLI. No, sir; the ammunition that I have tested here, es­
pecially the steel, the Teflon coating, coating in my opinion serves 
two purposes. It protects the interior of the barrel because the steel 
bullet itself would damage the interior of the barrel. By Teflon 
coating it creates a lesser friction of the long axis of the barrel, of 
the bearing surface of the bullet on the interior of the barrel. 

Plus, I have heard-I have not read the report-that the Teflon 
adds about 14-percent increase in penetrating power into soft body 
armor. So, basically, it is serving two functions, protecting the inte­
rior of the barrel and increasing the ability to penetrate the soft 
body armor. 

Senator BIDEN, Well, I guess, just so you understand our prob­
lem-and I think the Senator from Nevada and I share the same 
concern to this ext.ent-and that is that testimony from Treasury 
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implied or directly stated there are armor-piercing bullets on the 
market that are in fact legitimate for hunting purposes. 

And that some of those bullets are capable of piercing the vest in 
question by either using them in a different gun, rifle, or pistol, or 
by changing the configuration. That is what we are trying to get 
at, this definition question. 

Mr. JANELLI. Well, in a rifle caliber, .35 Remington caliber, .3006 
caliber, of course, with the muzzle velocity of those weapons, the 
cartridges, rather, produce, they would penetrate any soft body 
armor. But I know of no .3006 caliber handgun. There might be a 
. 30 caliber put out by Center Firearms, but they are not, in my 
opinion, a very popular handgun. 

Senator BIDEN. Are the bullets interchangeable? 
Mr. JANELLI. The bullet configuration from a .3006, you might be 

able to neck it down and place it into a lesser caliber, but as far as 
changing it into a handgun, no. The only interchangeable car­
tridges that I am aware of at this point, for example, your .45 ACP 
cartridge here, this is capable of being fired in a semiautomatic 
pistol, a fully automatic weapon, such as a small machine gun, a 
revolver with the use of a half moon clip. So it is interchangeable; 
the same Wlth the .44 magnum, for example. You can fire a .44 
magnum handgun and the same cartridge that goes into the 
magnum goes into the rifle. 

The 9 millimeter could be fired in a revolver, a semiautomatic 
pistol. 

Senator BIDEN. Now, in a rifle would that cartridge have a legiti­
mate hunting purpose in terms of how you would define it. 

Mr. JANELLI. All right. If we are talking about now the armor-
piercing-- . 

Senator BIDEN. What I am trying to get at is what is armor­
pier~ing. 'rhat is what we are trying to get at here. 

Mr. JANELLI. To me the-and I have not researched the true defi­
nition, but I think the word is self-explanatory. Could this particu­
lar bullet penetrate a piece of armor. And during the military 
du.ring. the wars they have found that certain types of steel such as 
thIS WIll panetrate armor. But the purpose of my being here, the 
word "armor," as I prefaced my statement, I was making reference 
to the soft body armor. We are concerned with what will kill a 
police officer on the street, not what is going to stop a tank run­
ning down 42d Street. 

Weare more concerned with the individual life. It is the bullet 
configuration, in my opinion, not the caliber that would be the 
source of your problem. If you can define what is an armor-piercing 
bullet, there are other bullets in .45 caliber or any other caliber for 
the man who wants to do any kind of shooting that are presently 
on the market. 

I have a thing here from Winchester Western that certainly lists 
everything ~ro~ a .25 automatic up to a .45 Winchester Magnum 
and everythIng In between. The only two-bullet configurations here 
that are metal piercing, both in the .38 special and the .357, that 
had a truncated bullet. So there is nothing else here that can be 
used in a handgun. 
S~nator BIDEN. So to put it another way, of the-among the 

major manufacturers of cartridges, if we pass the legislation as it is 
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presently drafted) the definition relating to its ability to pierce 
those vests, how many, in your opinion, how many types of car­
tridges would have to be taken off the market? 

Mr. JANELLI. Maybe 10. 
Senator BIDEN. Out of how many, roughly? 
You can submit it for the record, but give me a rough idea. 
Mr. JANELLI. Maybe I have 50 to 60 different calibers here that 

would be involved. 
Senator BIDEN. OK. Thank you very much. 
Senator LAXALT. Thank you. We will now proceed to Mr. Butler . 

STATEMENT OF JOHN BUTLER 

Mr. BUTLER. Thank you, Senator. It is a distinguished honor to 
be here. 

My name is Cpl. John Butler from the city of Newark Police De­
partment, Newark, DE. I have been a police officer there for 15 
years. Currently, I am a street supervisor, the firearms instructor 
for the department, and also the firearms repair officer. 

The department does consist of approximately 45 police officers, 
including our staff. I have graduated from firearms programs, both 
from the Smith and Wesson gun manufacturer as well as the 
Ruger Firearms Co. I presently am a life member of the National 
Rifle Association for approximately 20 years. I am currently a cer­
tified police firearms instructor for that organization. And I pres­
ently hold master pistol shooters classification with the National 
Rifle Association, which allows me to compete nationally in police 
combat pistol matches. 

I would like to say that, first of all, that we as officers on the 
street, from previous testimony, are not concerned with which 
came first, the chicken or the egg, the bullet or the vest. The fact is 
right now we have both. I was fortunate enough to obtain from one 
of the major manufacturers some test panels. 

And the majority of the people on our department that are wear­
ing the vest have the type of vest that I have the panel for. Unlike 
Detective Janelli, I did not have the funds to go out and purchase 
the ammunition. Being a small community, I put out word of 
mouth to different officers, different people throughout the commu­
nity and what you see displayed on the bullet board, the armor 
piercing and the other specialized ammunition that we are con­
fronted with, came to me. I did not go out and actively try to pur­
chase those particular rounds. 

They came to me from the street, from other police officers, from 
civilians. They came to me. This was our concern. I did actively try 
to purchase the armor-piercing rounds as well as some of the spe­
cialized rounds and was not successful in New Castle County in the 
State of Delaware on purchasing armor-piercing rounds. 

None of our dealers in that area carry them. Thank God. All my 
testing was done with a 4-inch duty revolyer that the members of 
Qur department carTy. 'l'he testing was done at a distance of 21 
feet, 7 yards. 

I used both of the panels; the first panel which consists of 18 
layers of Kevlar; the second panel consists of 26 layers of Kevlar. 
The two panels were backed together. Again, a telephone book 
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saturated to give a resemblance of the human body was placed 
behind that and then secured to a maple log so that I may be able 
to retrieve the projectiles. 

The KTW in the center, the .357 Magnum round penetrated both 
pieces of vest material, a total of 44 layers, which is definitely un­
common for the average street officer to wear. It penetrated 44 
layers, the wet telephone book, and ~ent 4 inches .into the maple 
log, which I was able to retrieve. ThIs 'Yas alarmmg to me as a 
street officer. It is alarming to my superVIsors to know that we are 
out there daily with this possibility coming from the street. 

I then proceeded to test ammunition that we carry, other ammu­
nition that was comparable to be fired in our weapons. And no 
matter what I threw at these panels at the same distance with the 
same weapons, it did not penetrate, except for the armor-piercing 
rounds. 

The three armor-piercing rounds listed on top, the Remington, 
KTW and the Winchester round, it is my understanding at present 
the KTW is the only one being manufactured. Winchester has 
ceased their manufacture, as well as Remington, but the stockpile 
that is in the stores and in the warehouses, that ammunition is 
still available on the shelves today. 

And it is our understanding that there may be up to a 5-year 
stockpile of ammunition. They will defeat the soft body armor that 
both Detective Janelli and myself have worked on. 

That concluded our testing and it did create quite a concern for 
our city and for our State legislators. Both the city of Newark and 
the State of Delaware have drafted resolutions which will be made 
available to the panel for their consideration. 

Senator BIDEN. They were passed by the legislature? 
Mr. BUTLER. Pardon? 
Senator BIDEN. Was the resolution passed by the State legisla-

ture'? 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes, sir. 
Senator BIDEN. By what margin? We look at numbers. 
Mr. BUTLER. I think it was unamimous. 
Senator BIDEN. Unanimous. 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes, sir. 
Senator BIDEN'. We have a lot of hunters in Delaware. 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes; but that information will be made available to 

your panel. 
Senator BIDEN. Thank you. 
Mr. BUTLER. Thank you. 
Senator LAXALT. Let me ask, you say that you are a member of 

the NRA and I assume you are a hunter and a sportsman. 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes, sir. 
Senator LAXALT. Would this kind of ban, in your estimation, 

create any kind of threat upon your liberty as a gun owner? 
Mr. BUTLER. None whatsoever, sir. The ammunition that I tested 

I would not use. The ammunition that I want to use both as a 
police officer and as a hunter is transferring a maximum amount 
of energY,int9 the body of the perpetrator or the animal to crEl~tEl a 
hydrostatIc shock to that system, to put that perpetrator or ammal 
down instantly where these projectiles would penetrate, and as pre-
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vious testimony stated, a slow bleeding to death type atmosphere would be constructed. 
. Senator LA~ALT. po you share the concern of a number of people 
In NRA that Imposmg a ban of this kind would be a door opener a 
wedge to lead to ~un control in some fashion later? ' 
. Mr. BUTLER. WIth the proper wording of the definitions no sir­It would not. , , , 

Senator LAXALT. Of Course, the definition is the problem. 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes, SIr. 
~enator BIDEN. With the definition as the definition being any­

thm~ that could pierce that ,vest, do you have any problem with 
that. Would that many waY.Impact on you as a ,c:.portsman? 

Mr. BUTLER. You ar~ talkmg about anything that would pierce 
the vest or are you talkmg about handguns? 

Senator B!DEN. What we are talking about is the bullet, any 
bullet. That IS the argument that Treasu.ry makes and NRA makes. 
They say, loc;>k! .there are so many bUllets out there that if you 
!lla~e the defInItIon what the bullet can pierce, since you can put it 
bI~l·dtIfferent guns and different rifles, that you can change its capa-

11 y. 

Therefore, you would .have to take so many of them off the 
market. that you would Impact upon the ability of gportsmen to engage m sport. 

'JY!.r. BUT~ER. Senator! you are talking about a bullet now. My ex­
perIence WIth. a bullet IS the actual projectile or missile that comes out of the casmg. -

Senator BIDEN. Right. 
Mr. BUTLER. We offered to Senator Moynihan's personnel and to 

the Senator yesterday a definition that we thought would be ac­ceptable. 
Senator BIDEN. Please give us that definition. 

. Mr .. BUTLER. We ~a~t any projectile to be fired from a firearm, 
I~lCludmg but. ~ot lm:nted to a pistol, shotgun, or revolver using 
f~xed ammumtlOn, drIven by a propellant explosive, composed en­
tIrely of ~ fe~rous ~llo~ or c?ated with any substance or any trun­
cate~ proJectI~~, whIch IS deSIgned or intended to increase the pene­
tratmg capabIlIty of the projectile. 

Senator BIDEN. I see. Thank you. That is a help. 
. Senator L~XALT. 90rporal, did you listen to the testimony of J us­

tIce here thIS mornmg to see the approach that they are using in 
or<1,er to try to reach some kind of objective standard out there to 
satI~fy all these competing interests. 

DId you hear that testimony? 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes, sir. 
Senator LAXAL~" What was your reaction to it. 
Mr. BUTLER. Kmd of walking the fence. 
Senator LAXALT. You or they? 
Mr. BUTLER. They are kind of walking the Dence. It seems to me 

th~t they do not want to-they want to see which way the wind is 
go~ng to blow before they make a decision. 

~en~tor. ~AXA~T. But aside from that, what do you thin~~ about 
the SCIentIfIC baSIS of the met~od that they are approaching? 

Mr. BUTLER. Are you talkmg about them using the aluminum panels and all? 
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Senator LAXALT. Yes. 
Mr. BUTLER. I do not wear aluminum, sir. I wear Kevlar. 
Senator LAXALT. But for the purposes of adopting a standard, are 

you saying that you do not think it is all that valid? 
Mr. BUTLER. I do not see how you could anJ .. 'e at it because we 

are not wearing aluminum; we are wearing Kevlar. 
Mr. JANELLI. You have to base your standard on what the police 

officers are wearing, Senator. If the police officers are wearing 
Kevlar, you have got to base your standard against what is being 
worn out on the street, not what might be a better substitute if 
Kevlar is being used. If aluminum was being used we all would 
have been testing our ammunition against aluminum. It is Kevlar 
that is being used. 

Senator LAXALT. So your point is if we are going to look at a 
standard, we look at the standard and apply it against the product 
that is in place and presently being used. Is that what you are 
saying, the two of you? 

Mr. JANELLI. Yes, sir. 
Mr. BUTLER. Yes, sir. 
Senator LAXALT. All right. Let us proceed now with the testimo­

ny of Mr. Robinson of Des Moines, Iowa. 

STATEMENT OF KANE ROBINSON 

Mr. ROBINSON. Thank you, Senator Laxalt. I am lieutenant of 
police, chief firearms instructors, armor, legislative liaison for the 
department, legislative liaison for the Iowa Chiefs of Police Asso­
ciation, and the State chairman of a police commanding officers 
group known as IMP AC. 

First, I would like to say that our analysis of this overall situa­
tion corresponds very closely to that--

Senator BIDEN. I ~m sorry. Excuse me 1 minute. You are repre­
senting your police department. 

Mr. ROBINSON. I am here as the legislative representative of the 
police department and all those other organizations. The police de­
partment took a position on this legislation in the Iowa Legisla­
ture. 

Senator BIDEN. It is the same as what you are going to give? 
Mr. ROBINSON. Yes. 
Senator BIDEN. So you do represent the view--. 
Mr. ROBINSON. I am not speaking for the chief of police at the 

moment. He happens to be in Florida, but he is aware that I am 
here speaking on this issue. 

Senator BIDEN. No; does he support you being here? Are you 
here as an individual or are you here in your official capacity rep­
resenting the yiew of your police department? 

Mr. ROBINSON. I am here in both capacities. 
Senator BIDEN. Good. 
Senator LAXAL'l'. Please proceed, Lieutenant. 
Mr. ROBINSON. A KTVllaw was proposed in the Iowa legislature 

about a year ago, and that law was not passed primarily due to the 
opposition of police organizations which were-and police officers 
and departments united in their opposition to that legislation. 
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Senator LAXALT. Was the thrust of that law basically the same as 
we have here, an outright ban? 

Mr. ROBINSON. Yes, sir. 
Senator LAXALT. Limited purely to KTW? 
Mr. ROBINSON. No; it had to do with penetration and there were 

definitional problems with the penetration and the essential prob­
lem was the same, that many rounds that are legitimately used, in­
cluding much rifle ammunition that is shot commonly today 
through pistols, would be banned. And it is not an occasional thing. 
It is a very common thing. We in our own police department have 
quite a number of people who are metallic silhouette shooters, for 
example, that use pistols that employ rifle ammunition, which 
would be banned by the definitions that are floating around here 
today, 

Senator LAXALT. You are hitting at the heart of the problem. 
Senator BIDEN. Does your testimony include specifically what 

those rounds are? 
Mr. ROBINSON. It does not, no. There are-almost all rifle ammu­

nition, there are now, Thompson Co., for example, has handguns 
chambered for virtually all rifle ammunition that is commonly 
used, not some old, obscure calibers that may not be available any­
lTIOre. 

For example, 3030, one of the most common deer rifle cartridges 
in the United States is available in pistol form and is very com­
monly used. It is not an obscure thing that no one ever encoun­
tered, 

Senator BIDEN. You do not hunt with a pistol, though, do you? 
Mr. ROBINSON. Well, I do not hunt with a pistol, but there are 

many people that do. But if you ban the ammunition based on that 
standard, sir, then you will ban the ammunition, period. 

Senator BIDEN. No; I am a little concerned. Will the same car­
tridge as the 3030 that goes in a rifle, will that same exact car­
tridge be able to be placed in a pistol, same size, same shape? 

Mr. ROBINSON. Yes, sir. 
Senator BIDEN. OK. That is what I wanted to check. Thank you. 
~1r. ROBINSON. And it applies to quite a variety of other car-

tridges. 
Senator BIDEN. Would you list as many as you can for us, just for 

our benefit, not now, but for the record. 
Mr. ROBINSON. OK. 
Senator BIDEN. Thank you. 
Senator LAXALT. So, essentially, what happened in Iowa was that 

there was a finding of interchangeable use and an outright ban 
then infringed, I guess, rathe::::' substantially on recreationalists, 
whether hunters or target shooters or whatever. 

Mr. ROBINSON. That is correct. 
Senator LAXALT. Including members of your own police depart­

ment. 
Mr. ROBINSON. That is correct. 
And I would like to deal with three issues, I guess. First of all is 

the overall issue and the setting that we find ourselves in law en­
forcement regarding this issue. I sense that I am rather unpopular 
here today, but I am going to take a position that is probably dif­
ferent than most of the police officers from the eastern seaboard 
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that are here. And they all have rights to their opinions and the 
rest of us do also. 

For many years those people that have been desiring to ban fire­
arms have falsely claimed that police officers are in league with 
them and they are doing that for the benefit of police officers. Yet 
any analysis of that issue natio~wide, particul~rly tl:e h~rgest 
single incident that has happened In that regard In CalIfornIa re­
cently will show that police officers have been the backbone of the 
campaign to preserve private firearms ownership, not to ban pri­
vate firearms ownership. 

Some people have seized on this proposal, which is very well in­
tentioned-and I do not imply that the people that authored the 
proposals-and I repeat-I do not imply that those people have this 
goal in mind. 

But others have seized upon it as a method of driving a wedge 
and disorganizing those people that have been opposed to the. ban­
ning of private firearms. That is the name of the game. That IS ex­
actly what is being done. As an example you see right here in this 
room being passed around an organization known as Handgun Con­
trol, Inc. that wants to ban handguns, support, pamphlets designed 
to support this legislation, which of course is their right. But I am 
putting it in perspective. It was said before that it did not have 
anything to do with the issue of banning handguns. It has a great 
deal to do with that issue. 

Senator BIDEN. Does that mean if you oppose the banning of 
handguns you are in league with some criminal organizations that 
also oppose it? 

I think this kind of discussion gets us off the issue of whether or 
not there are certain bullets chat are specifically designed to kill 
people. 

Mr. ROBINSON. That may be, but that is-I feel it is an important 
issue, that the people that are supporting it as part of a continuum 
toward their goal, which is the elimination of private handguns 
and perhaps other guns in the country. And their own advertising, 
for which they pay a great deal of money to supply, shows that. 
And they have been trying to use the method of advertising in 
police magazines to accomplish that end and they have stirred up a 
lot of tumult in the police business. 

And then a lot of officers we find when they consider both sides 
of the issue, they change their view. But at first reaction it sounds 
great. Let us ban firearms. Let us have no knock search warrants. 
There are a lot of knee jerk things that do not really represent 
thoughtful law enforcement after you have once taken a serious 
look at an issue. That is my point. 

Senator BIDEN. I assume you are going to tie it into the bullets 
and why these guys up here have been duped. 

Mr. ROBINSON. Well, Senator, I have not suggested that anyone is 
being duped, and that is not my point in making the statement, I 
do not think. I think there is a difference of opinion and I hope 
that I could have an honorable right to my opinion. 

Senator BIDEN. Fire away. That is why we are here. 
Mr. ROBINSON. Yes, sir. There are many, commonly available 

rounds that can defeat vests. Some of those that were presented 
here today as armor-piercing rounds, it was suggested that they 
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were manufactured for armor piercing, yet we heard the Czech con­
troversy did not turn out exactly as it was presented originally. We 
have old ammunition manufactured in Czechoslovakia, not for the 
purpose of penetrating armor, but that incidentally can penetrate 
armor and that would of course be banned if the penetration of 
armor was the standard that we were going to become involved in. 

Now, in my prepared remarks I mentioned something that has 
been beaten to death here, I guess. Weare aware of no police offi­
cer that has actually been killed by one of these rounds that has 
been shot through a vest. 

Implicit in that statement certainly is not the desire that any 
police officer be killed, but I think it helps to put it in perspective. 

The impression is being presented that police officers are being 
slaughtered by this ammunition. That is unmistakably the impres­
sion. It is the impression the media has given and some of the 
other supporters. And so I think it is legitimate to point out that 
that has not happened. We hope it will not, but it has not in fact 
happened. 

Another factor that presentr. one with some bad choices, but is 
nevertheless a fact, if you are going to be shot-we do not desire 
that anyone is shot, but if you are going to be shot, about half of 
the cops in the United States do not wear vests-you are better off, 
albeit you have bad choices, but you are better off if you are shot 
with an armor-piercing round than if you are shot with a round 
that will deform. 

And I would repeat, albeit those are very bad choices, but it is 
not a panacea to saving lives just because we are going to ban that 
particular round. Armor-piercing ammunition-and I hope the 
news media will use some restraint in how they repeat what I am 
going to say-armor-piercing ammunition can be made by any com­
petent person. And I do not mean a firearms expert. 

In testing our own vests in the Des Moines Police Department, 
we manufactured-here are some samples of bullets. It took us 
about 15 minutes apiece to modify commonly available, ordinary, 
everyday police type ammunition that would shoot through our 
vests with no difficulty at all and penetrate way into our bullet 
catching device. It is the common one that is used, but it neverthe­
less absorbs energy to capture the bullet. 

The point is that it is very easy for anyone to make this ammuni­
tion in his own basement. It is very, very easy to do. It is going to 
be extremely difficult to define that kind of a situation in the law. 

That ammunition obviously was not originally manufactured for 
that purpose. Yet it was very easy to modify it. Needless to say, 
that is cheaper and more readily available than some of the highly 
restricted ammunition like the KTW that would leave a more dra­
matic trail, certainly, with regard to the person who bought it. 

So as regards the specific proposals that I have read, the one that 
is before the committee, it will ban many sporting cartridges. It 
will ban cartridges like some of those standing before you that 
were not designed to be armor piercing cartridges, and that is a se­
rious problem. 

Another problem is tLat although we may have a great deal of 
confidence in the honorable people that are before us in various bu­
reaucracies today, the fact is that by changing definitions tom or-
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row's crop of bureaucrats may come up with an entirely different 
standard and definition. And that is not an idle and frivolous state­
ment. We remember some years ago when the Consumer Products 
Safety Commission attempted to usurp its authority and define am­
munition as a hazardous material which should not be used. 

We recall definitions of handguns as Saturday night specials in 
some previous legislation and proposed regulations pursuant to it 
that would have banned the revolvers carried by the guards in this 
building. And so these definitional things tend to get out of hand. 
And that could be a problem with definitions proposed here. 

So the legislation has unfortunately been captured by people 
that perhaps aTe taking it beyond its intent. It may very easily be 
summed up by what Bryant Gumble, I believe it is, on NBC said 
last night in introducing Today's program, which was designed to 
promote this legislation. And it was to the effect that we are going 
tomorrow to examine Teflon-coated, cop-killer bullets that explode 
on impact. Is that not a wonderful piece of hysteria, that that kind 
of hysteria is being presented around the United States. And I 
hope that we can stick to the realistic issue, the future of private 
firearms ownership, and if there is a problem that can be solved 
with legislation, that whatever it is it be so surgically done that it 
deals perhaps with penalties. We can do something to protect 
police officers' lives. It is not a miracle. It is not a secret if we just 

. keep dangerous felons in prison a little hit longer. 
Anybody that knows anything about law enforcement knows that 

if you look at the people who kill cops, they are invariably danger­
ous, repeat felons that have been released on a sentence that was 
such that had they been serving a meaningful part of it they would 
have been in prison on the day they shot the cop. 

Now, there is a meaningful suggestion for saving police officers' 
lives and I would applaud those and I know Senator Biden is one to 
support it and Senator Laxalt has also. But that kind of legislation 
might produce some meaningful results. Thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Robinson follows:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF KANE ROBINSON 

I am a Lieutenant of Police, chief firearms instructor, armorer, 

and legislative liaison for the Des Moines Police Department. 

am also Chairman of IMPAC, a statewide police management 

organization, and a legislative representative for the Iowa 
Chiefs of Police Association. 

Legislation regarding armor piercing ammo came on the scene 

largely because of a 1982 NBC MAGAZINE program. In its zeal to 
join the anti-firearms campaign, the NBC show regrettably 

demonstrated to terrorists and criminals how to shoot unprotected 
areas or use specialized equipment to defeat police armor. 

A KTW law was proposed in the Iowa Legislature and was not 

passed -- because of the work of police officers -- united in 
their opposition to the measure. 

For many years those desiring to ban privately-owned fire-

arms have falsely claimed that the police support them -- the 

truth is that police officers and management have been the 

backbone of the campaign to PRESERVE private firearms ownership. 

Some have recognized an opportunity in the KTW controversy to 

drive a wedge between the police and other private firearms 
supporters. 

Let me be clear -- those leading the anti-firearms campaign are 

the prime activists in the "KTW" campaign nationwide and their 

goal is the dividing of supporters of second amendment rights. 

As an example, please consider these advertisements placed by 

Handgun Control, Inc. in police magazines -- pleading for support 
of a "KTW" law. 

REGARDING ARMOR PIERCING AMMUNITION 

Armor piercing ammo has been available since before WW II, 
KTW since 1967. 

We are aware of !:!£ officer killed or wounded by such ammo 
shot through a vest by a criminal. 

Armor piercing ammo will actually inflect a less serious 

wound than other types if it strikes a person without ar-
mor or an unprotected spot. 
do not wear body armor. 

Over half the nation's police 

<> 
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The value of body armor will disappear as criminals become 

aware of its use. Publicity about body armor is far more 
dangerous to officers than a theoretical problem with 
ammunition. 

Armor piercing ammunition can be made by any competent per­
son with simple home tools (I hope the news people won't 

repeat this). I modified these cartridges in a few minutes 
in my basement and tested them on our vest--which was 
easily penetrated. 

Needless to say, these home modified cartridges are cheaper 

and more difficult to describe than the highly restricted 
commercial KTW rounds. 

REGARDING THE PROPOSED LAW 

Many sporting and defense cartridges will become illegal. 

Some have questioned whether there is a legitimate use for 

armor piercing ammo--I hope we aren't seriously proposing 
/1 d 

legitimate use as a standard for allowing Americans to own 
an object or the police will be busy indeed! 

Next years crop of bureaucrats could easily misuse the law 

to attack private firearms by adding to the list of "BAD" 
bullets. We all remember the attempt to ban bullets by 

the Consumer Product Safety Commission a fe'i,-l years ago. 

There is no practical way to ide~tify armor piercing ammo 
and establish knowledge and intent on the part of the 
criminal. 

The kind of people who commit robbery, terrorism, and 

murder won't worry about a comparatively minor penalty 

concerning the ammo in their gun when they set out to 
kill someone. 

This legislation, regardless of the intent of its authors, 
has been gleefully adopted by the ban firearms people as 
their leading issue. 

The law will do nothing to help police. 

NBC and Handgun Control, Inc. are strangely silent on ef­
forts to keep dangerous criminals in prison a little 

longer--a measure which can be clearly shown to save police 
lives without treading on the rights of law abiding Amer­
icans. 
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THE COP-KILLER BULLET. 
THE POLICE ARE AGAINST IT. 

THE NRA IS FOR IT. 
TIle new tenon-coated. small caliber. high velocity bullet will pierce an 
armorcd vcst -·on any President or any police officer. 

Killing cops is all it's good for. No self-respecting hunter II ould ever 
use it. 

TIle police have worked hard for laws to ban it- in Alabama. Califor­
nia. Connecticut. Florida. Illinois. Indiana. Kansas. Maryland. MIL%3chu­
setts. Ncw Jersey. Ohio, Oklahoma. Pennsylvania. Rhode Island. Tcxas. 
Virginia. and now in Congress. 

The National Rine Association has fought the police every time-.in 
Alabama. California. Connecticut, Floridu. Illinois. lntiinna. Kansas. 
Maryland, Massachusetts. NcwJerscy. Ohio. Oklahoma. Pennsylvania. 
Rhode hland, Texas. Virginia, and no\\' in Congress. 

HELP STOP THE COP-KILLERS. 
Please help us make sure the Congress 
hears from America's police--in support of 
the Moynihan-Biaggi Bill (S.555 and H.R. 
953) to ban the COP-KILLER BULLET. 

Congressman Mario Biaggi was a po­
lice officer himself, wounded tcn timcs. Law 
enforcement organizations are behind his 
bill; and only the National Rifle Association 
is opposed. 

He needs your help 1l01l~ 

This ad has been paid for by Handgun Control. Inc. 
810 18th Street. N.W .. Washington. D.c" 20006. 
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Mr. JANELLI. Senator, may I ask a question, sir? 
Senator LAxALT. Surely. 
Mr. JANELLI. I have been listening to testimony all morning from 

everybody concerned and possibly Lieutenant Robinson can answer 
this question. I have only been a cop for 28 yefl:-s and I know of no 
legitimate reason regarding handgun ammunIt~on-. I am ~ot .tal~­
ing about rifle-why a person needs an armor-pIercIng projectIle In 
a handgun cartridge. 

Possibly you could enlighten me. 
Senator LAxALT. Please. 
Mr. ROBINSON. The answer to the question is that the difficulty 

that I have is not so much with the KTW round or something like 
that. The difficulty that most people opposed to this legisl~t~on 
have, one difficulty is that it embraces much other ammunItIon 
and gives a present friendly bureaucracy, .but .perhaps future hos­
tile bureaucracy, the power to use that legislatI?J?- to ban more and 
more ammunition. But there is much ammunItIon that would be 
embraced by this kind of a definition if it has to do with what it 
can penetrate. 

Senator LAxALT. Do you think it is capable of solution through a 
restrictive definition, Lieutenant? 

Mr. ROBINSON. I do not honestly know if it is. 
Senator BIDEN. How about the definition my friends from 

Newark came up with? Maybe you could look at that and for the 
record tell us. 

Mr. ROBINSON. I am not sure this lends itself to reading this and 
giving you an answer. 

Senator BIDEN. No, no. I am not suggesting that, but I would like 
it for the record because you are a very articulate fellow, and your 
arguments are fairly-I have a few questions, if I may, lvIr. Chair­
man. 

Senator LAXALT. They fought the battle in Iowa, apparently, on 
this, very ground. So it is very helpful te,stimony. . . 

Senator BIDEN. And speaking of Iowa s battles, there IS an assIst­
ant chief named Zinzer who says you do not speak for the dt~part­
ment. I guess he is your assistant chief. We just got him on the 
phone. 

Mr. ROBINSON. Is that right? 
Senator BIDEN. Yes. He says specifically you do not speak for the 

department. 1 

Mr. ROBINSON. OK. 
Senator BIDEN. Is that right? Did you think you did? I mean:. I 

am confused here. 
Mr. ROBINSON. I am not going to debate you about what Assist-

ant Chief Zinzer has to say, sir. 
Senator BIDEN. Does that surprise you that he would say that? 
Mr. ROBINSON. I do not have any way of knowing what he said. 
Senator BIDEN. I'll tell you what, you could make it in the State 

Department. [Laughter.] 
You might be able to make it in politics. I am going to ask a 

couple of questions. The bullets that you suggest that you tested, 

1 See letter from Dennis C. Westover on page 146. 
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which I assume will be submitted for the record, that can be made 
at home, I assume that you are not suggesting that notwithstand­
ing they can be altered at home to become armor piercing, that 
those which are sold over the counter which are already armor 
piercing should not be banned. 

Let me put it another way: the KTW bullet, how would you feel 
if we just said nothing else in the legislation but the KTW bullet, 
which I guess even you would acknowledge is specifically designed 
to pierce armor. 

Mr. ROBINSON. Not to kill cops. 
Senator BIDEN. I do not only care if it kills cops. I am worried 

about me and many other people. 
Mr. ROBINSON. Well, unfortunately, Senator, that has been the 

allegation, that it was designed to kill cops. 
Senator BIDEN. Let us forget about the cops, OK, for a minute. 
Mr. ROBINSON. OK. 
Senator BIDEN. Which is clearly designed for the purpose of 

being able to pierce armor. Would you have any objection to that 
particular bullet, the KTW bullet being banned? 

Mr. ROBINSON. I am not sure I can answer 'chat question. 
Senator BIDEN. Why can't you? 
Mr. ROBINSON. Because I would have to look at the implications, 

. if you are going to--
Senator BIDEN. By name. The KTW bullet, 
Mr. ROBINSON. Ban a brand of ammunition-­
Senator BIDEN. That is right. 
Mr. ROBINSON. That would be a rather singular piece of legisla­

tion. 
Senator BIDEN. I understand that. Would you object to it? 
Mr. ROBINSON. I do not think I have any answer for that. I 

really--
Senator BIDEN. Well, why don't you? 
Mr. ROBINSON. You are trying to get me to say something, Sena­

tor--
Senator BIDEN. I am trying to get you to answer a question. 
Mr: ROBINSOI\T [continuing]. That will not accurately represent 

my VIew. 
Senator BIDEN. Well, now, wait a minute. The KTW-I promise 

you I will draft such legislation that says you ban that brand 
name, nothing else. Would you object to that? 

Mr. ROBINSON. Probably. 
Senator BID EN . Why? 
Mr. ROBINSON. Because it is-you are not banning that particu­

lar bullet. You are doing it as a speaking technique, a debating 
technique, and you are not really trying to ban that bullet. Honest­
ly, that is not your real purpose. 

Senator BIDEN. You know what I honestly intend and do not 
intend. You are a pretty smart guy. 

Mr. ROBINSON. I think that is obvious to everyone in the room. 
You are not trying to simply do that. 

Senator BIDEN. What I am trying to do is, I agree that the points 
you have made make some sense and I agree that the points made 
by the Treasury Department made some sense. And what I am sug-

o 
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gesting to you is if we cannot find a perfect solution, let us start 
with what we can do. 

And if we all agree that that bullet is one that has no legitimate 
hunting purpose, why do we not start there. Let us agree on what 
we can agree on. In this committee, the way it works, we share a 
vast difference of philosophic background, from Strom Thurmond, 
the chairman, to me the ranking member, from Paul Laxalt to Ted 
Kennedy. It goes on down the line. Probably we have the most di­
verse committee in the Senate. 

Now, prior to my taking over as the ranking member, we tended 
to argue a lot. I have a view. Maybe you ought to check my record 
a little bit so you know I am being serious with you. I like to start 
with where we can agree on agreeing. We spent 12 years debating 
the kind of legislation you just complimented. 

And I am going to say something very self-serving. None. of it 
happened until I came on this committee for one reason: The chair­
man and I said, let us not argue about what we disagree on. Let us 
agree on what we can agree on. 

And if it is 2 percent of the field, we will pass 2 percent. If it is 
50 percent, we will pass 50. If it is 100 percent, we will pass 100. 
That is how we got the legislation through. Now, I am sincere 
when I say to you, let us start off on what we can at a minimum 
define and at a minimum, and it may only represent 1 percent of 
the universe of bullets, the KTW bullet. Why can we not just, if 
that is the only thing we agree on, eliminate that one? 

Now, what is your objection to that? 
Mr. ROBINSON. The objection, I guess, is that I think in the 

United States of America that that is a very poor reason to ban an 
object because it does not have a legitimate use. I think the police 
would be busy indeed across America if we begin banning things 
that we feel are unsafe that have an illegitimate use. 

Senator BIDEN. Well, if it is by definition an illegitimate use-­
Mr. ROBINSON. Or that have no legitimate use. 
Senator BIDEN. Tha~ have no legitimate use--
Mr. ROBINSON. That covers a lot of territory. There are a lot of 

other things that we could include in there. I am not sure I would 
want to subscribe to that policy. 

Senator BIDEN. Well, we understand that probably you and I 
could never agree on anything. But that is a good start. That prob­
ably helps you and it helps me, too. 

Senator LAXALT. I do not think he is saying that. I think essen­
tially, if I understand him, he is saying that if there is no legiti­
mate purpose for a piece of legislation, we should not indulge in 
the exercise. There has been a hell of a lot of that around here in 
years past. 

Senator BIDEN. Again, with all due respect, Mr. Chairman, that 
is a bit of sophistry, too. The catch here is if there is not legitimate 
purpose for a thing that can do great harm and we all agree there 
is no legitimate purpose for it, is that an irresponsible legislative 
activity to eliminate it? 

It seems to me that is a legitimate field of activity for responsible 
U.S. Senators and Congresspersons and Presidents and police offi­
cers. 

That is what I am talking about. 
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~enato! LAX ALT. If you want to follow that kind of reasoning out 
to Its logICal extreme, we could ban automobiles. 
Sena~or BID~~. No, because that does have a legitimate purpose. 

:rhe~e. IS a legItimate purpose for an automobile. It also has some 
IllegItimate purposes, but there is no legitimate purpose for this 
bullet. We all agree on that. 

Mr. ROBINSON. You could probably ban alcohol. 
Senator BI~EN. There is a legitimate purpose for alcohol. Every­

?ne agrees .wIth t~a~. There is a legitimate purpose for even smok­
m~. There IS a legItimate purpose for everything. But this is some­
thmg we all agree has no legitimate purpose and you all do not 
want to do anything about it and I cannot understand that. 

Senator LAXALT. Would you like to be heard? 
. Mr. BRIESI.EY. Senator, could I make the point that the Senate 

dId exactly ~hat Se:nB;tor Biden is suggesting, I think, in the law­
less yet:.rs of the thIrties when they outlawed gangster type weap­
ons such as ~awed off shotguns, machineguns and silencers that 
had no place m an orderly society. 

And I ~ould go one point further, that if something is not done 
on th~ th~s checks and balance, we are in for big troubles. 

He IndIc~ted something about an exploder round. If you look on 
t~at chart m the lefthand corder, there are two rounds of ammuni­
tIons t~at are so volatile, th~y are five times more sensitive than 
dynamIte. T~ey. explode on Impact. We had the first homicide in 
m~ com.mumty Just before Chnstmas when an individual was shot 
tWIce WIth that type of ammunition. 

If you take that ammun.itiot;l and you are simply loading a. hand­
g~.ll1 and drop th.at rou~d, It wIl~ explode on impact. If you take two 
kIlograms of weIght, 3 mches hIgh and drop it, it will explode. It is 
sen.seless to have that sort of amMunition available in an orderly 
SOCIety. It has no place. 

I ca,nnot. wait until they come out with one where you dip the 
darts m pOlson. I mean, where do we draw the line? 

Senator BIDEN. Apparently, you do not. 
. Mr. BRIESLEY. There has to be some sort of a responsible action 
III that sort of ammunition. 
S~nator BIDEN. Can I ask one more question, if I may, of 1\11'. 

R~bmson .. D? you :3Uggest-, I just came from a closed hearing on 
Stmger mISSIles. Stmger mIssi~es, do you know what they are? 

Mr. ROBINSON. Yes, sir, I am aware. 
Set;la~or BIDE~: Should we ban the sale, which we have, of Sting­

er mlssIl~s to CltI~~ns of the United States of America that are not 
engaged In the mIlItary? Is that a legitimate thing to do? 

Mr. ROBINSON. I think it is. 
Senator BIDEN. Why? 

. ~r. ROBINSON. I t~ink. that it would be relatively easy to demon­
stl ate the extreme lIkelIhood of many, many people being slaugh­
tered by the use of that equipment. 

Senator BIDEN. I see. 
Mr. ROBINSON. I think it is a little bit different than the thing 

that we are talking about. 
Senato.r BIDEN. So, many, many people-I guess what we get 

down to IS how many people. I see. 
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Mr. ROBINSON. Well, yes, I think that is a. relevant-it is crude to 
say it, but it is certainly releval!-t. OtherWIse, we would ban auto­
mobiles. We could ban a lot of thIngs. 

Senator BIDEN. I think that is preposterous, but I understand 
what you are saying. . 

So let me ask you another question because It really gets dowl!- to 
what the basic position of you and others who share your VIew 
have. And that is-apd you may be ri~~~ for all I kn~w. But let !TIe 
ask you, do you thmk there IS anytil~ng wron~ WIth ~s haVIng 
banned sawed off shotguns? Now, we. are r~ducing the fIe.ld fro~ 
Stinger missiles, you know, in terms of the fIeld of devastatIOn tha., 
can be done. 

Was that a mistake to do? '. 
Mr. ROBINSON. I have no objection to the law. I seriously questIOn 

whether it has had any real effect. We encounter sawed off sh~t­
(Tuns all the time. But I 'do not think it has really changed that SIt­
~ation ~ery much. But I have no .objection to the law. I am not 
standing here on a crusade to have It repealed. 

Senator BIDEN. Gotcha. OK. Thanks. 
Mr. BUTLER. Senator, one thing in sort of reb~tta} to what the 

lieutenant said. He referred to making the J?roJ~ctIles out of al­
ready manufactured ammunition capable. of piercIl!-g the soft body 
armor. We have laws and regulations agaInst machineguns, but y~t 
you can go out on the market and b.uy ~ we~pon t?day and tak~ It 
down in your basement and work WIth It a lIttle bIt and make It a 
machinegun. . . . 

Senator BIDEN. We~l, I do not ImagIne he would obJe~t to ma-
chineguns, though, beIng sold over the counter, would you. 

Mr. ROBINSON. Yes. 
Senator BIDEN. Why? 
Mr. ROBINSON. I think for the-- . . 
Senator BIDEN. You can kill a lot more deer WIth ~ machmegun, 

and for a guy like me who does not have very good aim, I would be 
better off. . 

Mr. ROBINSON. I do not find anything humorous about It, so-­
Senator BIDEN. I am serious. I mean, why would you be opposed 

to machineguns being sold over the counter? I do. not understand. I 
seriously do not understand based. upon the. phIlosophy you have 
set out. Why do you object to machlneguns bem&, sold? 

Mr. ROBINSON. For the same reason that I CIted Wlt~ regard to 
the missiles. The potential is somewhat greater and I thInk the ex­
perience in Miami and some of the other place~ re~~ntly has shown 
that there is a consensus that there was a sIgnIfIcant danger to 
large numbers, a meaningful, realistic thing that wa~ actually hap­
pening. It could be demonstrated that it was happenIng and would 
seem to be a responsible thing to do. 

Senator BIDEN. OK. Thank you. . . 
Senator LAXALT. Thank you all. It has been a very stimulating 

panel. . t th t Mr. BRIESLEY. Senator, could I add just one closmg c?mJ?en _a 
has not been brought up, but I think it bears mentlOnIn.g. I am 
thinking about it as I am sit~ing ~ere is that one other. thmg .that 
certainly ought to be of ...:onsideratIon to everyone that IS c0!lsI~er­
ing this legislation and that is the fact that those armor-pIercIng 

> '« , .. J 
.. 

91 

slugs that we see on display here are made of a compound that is 
so hard that when it leaves the weapon, assuming that it does 
strike and kill a person, there are no identifying characteristics on 
that bullet that can identify the gun from which it was fired. 

So if a round of that nature goes through the bullet proof vest 
and kills the police officer or if it just strikes a politician and kills 
him, you cannot identify even though you recover that bullet to the 
weapon which it came from because the metal is so hard. I think 
that should be considered. 

Senator LAXALT. Thank you, chief, very much. 
We have two more panels and in the interest of time, I would 

hope that the remaining panelists perhaps would not have any ob­
jection to coming to the table together and we will try to coordi­
nate that activity. 

We have Robert Ricker, who is the executive director of the Cali­
fornia Wildlife Federation. We have Warren Cassidy, who is the ex­
ecutive director of the Institute for Legislative Action of the Na­
tional Rifle Association. Then we have Gilbert Gallegos, who is leg­
islative chairman of the Fraternal Order of Police. And finally Phil 
Caruso, who is the president of the New York City Patrolmen's Be­
nevolent Association. 

Let us start with Mr. Ricker. 

STATEMENTS OF ROBERT A. RICKER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, 
CALIFORNIA WILDLIFE FEDERATION; WARREN CASSIDY, EX­
ECUTIVE DIRECTOR, INSTITUTE FOR LEGISLATIVE ACTION, 
NATIONAL RIFLE ASSOCIATION; GILBERT GALLEGOS, FRATER­
NAL ORDER OF POLICE; AND PHIL CARUSO, PRESIDENT, NEW 
YORK CITY PATROLMEN'S BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION 

Mr. RICKER. Mr. Chairman and Senator Biden, I am happy to be 
here today to help shed some light on the proposed legislation, S. 
555. I represent the Calfornia Wildlife Federation, which is a state­
wide sportsmen's organization representing over 150,000 sportsmen 
and over 100 sportsmen's clubs in the State of California. 

Unlike the State of Iowa, the State of California has passed legis-
lation dealing with armor piercing ammunition. 

Senator LAXALT. They did or they did not pass it? 
Mr. RICKER. They did pass. 
Senator LAXALT. The Iowa testimony, as you probably heard, was 

to the effect that they did not. 
Mr. RICKER. The California legislation was enacted. 
Senator LAXALT. Oh, unlike. All right. 
Mr. RICK-':R. Unlike Iowa's, it was passed; and hopefully I can 

shed some lIght on some of the problems that were encountered in California. 
Senator LAXALT. When did this legislation nass, Mr. Ricker? 
Mr. RICKER. I believe it was in 1982. ~ 
Senator LAXALT. That is the same basic type of legislation that 

we are considering here, outright ban? 
Mr. RICKER. It differs significantly in two respects. In one re­

~pect, a person possessing armor-pie:rcing ammunition has to know­
mgly possess that ammunition. And second, the ammunition has to 
be specifically designed for arnlor-piercing capabilities. 
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Senator LAXALT. Are there criminals penalties attached in this 
piece of legislation also? 

Mr. RICKER. Yes; there are. It is basically a criminal statute. 
Senator LAXALT. I see. 
Mr. RICKER. As Lieutenant Robinson testified earlier, there is a 

great deal of leeway and uncertainty as to what ammunition would 
in fact be banned should S. 555 be enacted. 

Lieutenant Robinson mentioned the modification of commercially 
manufactured ammunition, which under the proposed bill would 
not normally be banned. Such ammunition however, could be hand 
modified and therefore prohibited under S. 555. I would like to cite 
some examples of how hand modification is widely practiced in 
California as well as every other State in the union. Most sports­
men and hunters or a large segment of sportsmen and hunters par­
ticipate in what we call hand loading. This is done in order to save 
money on purchase of ammunition. Hunters and target shooters 
purchase types of ammunition which can be reused by taking the 
cartridge and adding a new projectile with new propellant; they 
can reuse the component parts of the ammunition for their hunt­
ing or target shooting purposes. 

This is done on a large scale throughout the United States. We 
also heard earlier the testimony of the Treasury Department 
where Mr. Powis stated that by modifying the amount or the type 
of propellant in a particular form of ammunition a person can 
easily enhance its armor-piercing capabilities. I would submit that 
for the average handloader, the average licensed hunter and law 
abiding gun owner in California, and likewise in every other State, 
would have a difficult time determining exactly how much propel­
lant or what type of propellant would make a particular piece of 
ammunition armor piercing. 

In California in 1980 approximately 67,300 licensed hunters 
spent more than $9 million on handloading equipment and accesso­
ries. If S. 555, in its current form, were adopted, I submit that we 
would have a law enforcement nightmare on our hands. We would 
have hunters and target shooters possessing ammunition with 
armor-piercing capabilities who do not know that they would be 
breaking the law. 

Another point I think that has not been mentioned yet in this 
hearing is that the sportsmen and the hunters of this country pay 
their own way. By that I mean the money that they spend on fire­
arms and ammunition is taxed, and that tax money is then applied 
to wildlife restoration programs throughout the country. 

This was initially set up in the Dingle-Johnson-Pittman-Robin­
son taxing provisions passed by Congress. 

In California there are approximately 4 million licensed hunters 
who would use ammunition and equipment which would be affect­
ed by this legislation. I submit that the Pittman-Robinson funds 
that the State of California receives, which is somewhere in the 
neighborhood of, I believe, $4 million,. which is used strictly for 
wildlife restoration programs, and hunter safety projects, would be 
severely and drastically reduced if this legislation were passed. 

Senator LAXALT. What about the approach that was considered a 
moment or so ago by Senator Biden, that we take a known armor­
piercing piece of ammunition by brand name and exclude it? 
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Would th~t remove the p~oblem that you are speaking of, of your 
people domg the handloadIng that you describe? 
~r. RICKER. I really do not think so. You know, we have heard 

t~stImony here. t?day to the effect that particular piece of ammuni­
tIon has no legItImate sporting purpose. If you look at the firearms 
sport~ng comm~nity as a whole, there are various activities-target 
shootm&" .and hIgh. power rifle. sh?oting, ~hich. require the use of 
ammunItIOn that IS capable of wIthstandIng hIgh muzzle velocity 
types of powder charges. 

If you attempted to ~an ~ particular piece of ammunition, by 
brand na~e, I do n?t thInk fro~ a handloading standpoint or from 
a competItIve shootIng standpOInt that you really would be getting 
at the crux of the problem. 
. I think. the real problem is not necessarily the existence of a par­

tIcular pIece of ammunition, but is crime in the streets and what 
is motivating our population or a large segment of our 'population 
to shoot police officers. 

. S? I think. you would be taking more of a bandaid approach, to a 
dIffIcult socIal problem which I do not think the people of this 
country support. 

Senator BIDEN. Well, regardless of whether the people are behind 
us or not, would that impact upon the sportsmen? 

Mr. RICKER. I think it would. I testified earlier, you have sports­
man ou,t there, for example a high powered rifle shooter who 
engage m statewide competitions who basically manufacture their 
own ammunitio? .by taking c0!TIponent parts from many different 
types of ammunItIon and COmbIl11ng them to achieve the muzzle ve­
locity that is necessary to achieve dis ired competition results 

I do not think you would really impact-- . 
. Senator .B~DEN. With. all due respect, I am not really interested 
I~ your opmIOn of the Impact. You sound like one of those whacko 
h~eral frIends of mine who talks about the sociological causes of 
CrIme, but I am not with you liberals on that. 

I wo.uld like to know what you can speak to, though, with your 
expertIse. At any rate, thanks. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ricker follows:] 

i, 
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\ 

94 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ROBERT A, RICKER 

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: 

It is my pleasure to appear before you today to describe 

the threat posed by S. 555 and its companion bill, HR. 953, to 

the American sporting community and Federal, State and local 

wildlife programs already underway in this country. 

The California wildlife Federation is a statewide sports­

mens organization representing over 150,000 sportsmen and 100 

sportsmens clubs. The Federation strongly believes that 

hunting and fishing are valuable game management tools and, 

when the state's game resources are properly managed, the 

state as a whole benefits. 

The California Wildlife Federation shares the concern of 

the Committee and a large number of people who have expressed 

concern following the recent pUblicity regarding the dangers 

o'f "armor piercing" ammunition. The immediate reaction of most 

people after the pUblicity was that armor piercing ammunition 

must be banned. In California the State legislature enacted 

a provision directed specifically at "handgun ammunition de­

signed primarily to penetrate metal or armor". However, many 
1 

lessons were learned th~ough the legislative process in Cali-

fornia, and I would submit for the Subcommittee's consideration 

that the issue is far more complex than meets the eye and that 

there are no easy answers. 

A number of practical problems arise in attempting to 

legislate against the importation, manufacture or sale of 

armor-piercing ammunition. I would like to apprise you of 

the significant problems we see in this effort. 

Any attempt to define projectile-type ammunition, as S. 555 
.>' 

would attempt to do, invariably includes a significant number 

of commonly used hunting and target shooting ammunition, such 

as the common .30-30 Winchester. The .30-30 cartridge is cur-

rently factory chambered for certain hunting and silhouette 

competition handguns. It is commonly known that, when fired 
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from one of these handguns with a barrel of five inches or less, 

the .30-30 Winchester will penetrate 18 layers of bullet-resis-

tant Kevlar. 

It is also likely that most all sporting rifle ammunition, 

when fired from a 5-inch barrel, would penetrate soft body 

armor. Under S. 555 therefore, all cartridges for which a 

handgun is made would have to be tested. As pointed out in 

testimony given by the U. S. Department of Justice before the 

House Subcommittee on Crime of the'Committee on the Judiciary 

on May 12, 1982, this would be a monumental and costly task. 

The definitional problems with S. 555 are even further 

compounded when you consider that literally millions of hunters 

and competitive shooters hand load their own ammunition. It 

is commonly known in the sporting community that the perfor­

mance of a bullet or projectile is dependent upon a number of 

factors, including the quality and type of propellent powder 

used to assemble the bullet into a cartridge. The performance 

of a bullet which will not penetrate 18 layers of Kevlar can 

be changed by varying the quantity and/or type of propellent 

so that the same bullet will then penetrate the soft body armor. 

In California alone, approximately 67,300 licensed hunters 

spent more than $9,178,500 on handloading equipment and acces­

sories. If S. 555 in its current form were to be adopted, a 

law enforce~ent nightmare would be created. Every time an un­

suspecting hunter or target shooter were to handload a cartridge 

he would first have to determine, under penalty of a federal 

felony, whether the cartridge is a "restricted handgun bullet". 

That determination can only be made by the Secretary of the 

Treasury using very sophisticated equipment. 

Federal, State and local wildlife restoration programs 

would be severely affected by the passage of S. 555. Currently, 

hunters and sportsmen in this country pay their own way by 

financing fish and wildlife programs through excise taxes 

levied on the purchase of firearms and ammunition. This taxing 
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procedure, which was established under the Dingell/Johnson and 

Pittman Robertson Federal Aid for Fish and Wildlife Restoration 

Acts, would be severely undermined by a large number of cur-

rently manufactured types of ammunition being banned. Of 

course, once ammunition is prohibited a certain number of 

firearms will then become obsolete. This would greatly reduce 

the number of sporting firearms and ammunition sold and thereby 

severely impact on the availability of Pittman Robertson funds. 

In 1982-83, the State of California received $4.2 million from 

Pittman/Robertson funds generated by firearm and ammunition 

sales nationwide. These funds are now used for wildlife habi-

tat development, wildlife studies and mandatory hunter safety 

courses. 

According to the 1980 National Survey of Fishing, Hunting 

and Wildlife-Associated Recreation, prepared by the U. S. 

Department of Interior, there are over 4 million licensed 

resident hunters of the age 16 or older in California. Of 

those 4 million hunters, approximately 1 million regularly 

hunt animal species which require the use of ammunition out-

lawed by S. 555. The 1980 survey also states that in Califor-

nia over 38 million dollars were spent on guns and rifles and 

17 million dollars on ammunition. 
It is therefore clear that 

S. 555 and its companion legislation would have a drastic effect 

on all tax revenues not only in California but in all other 

states. 

This now brings me to my final point which is that S. 555 

cannot accomplish the purposes for which it was intended. 

As stated earlier, non-armor piercing ammunition can be 

easily modified by hand tp achieve armor piercing results. It 

has also been brought out in earlier Justice Department testi-

mony that the purposes of S. 555 can be thwarted by firing 

non-armor piercing ammunition from firearms wi th long~,r barrels. 

The longer barrel can cause increased muzzle velocity, which 

in turn can give a projectile from a non'-restricted cartridge 

the ability to penetrate soft body armor. 
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Testimony has also been given in ,earlier hearings that 

soft body armor is not designed to repel any or all types of 

armor-piercing bullets. Most law enforcement agencies do not. 

not view protective armor as the only answer to the dangers 

associated with their law enforcement duties. It is merely a 

tool used to help reduce the incidence of injury when all other 

security measures fail. 

The concern that has been expressed on a nationwide scale 

over armor piercing ammunition is well founded and the goals 

to be met by S. 555 are noble goals. However, to take such a 

simplistic approach to the real problem, which is not sporting 

ammunition which is capable of piercing soft body armor but is, 

in fact, rampant crime in our city streets, is a gra~e injustice. 

The people of this country are tired of hearing simple answers 

being proposed to complex problems. 

The millions of sportsmen and law-abiding firearms owners 

of this country are also tired of being held responsible for 

the actions of a small criminal population which is Virtually 

holding our society hostage. This fact was borne out in 1982 

when the informed voters of California soundly rejected Propo­

sition IS (the anti-handgun initiative)), which was nothing 

more than another well-intentioned, simplistic approach to 

our complex social problem of crime. 

Mr. Chairman, the California Wildlife Federation believes 

that firearms and armor piercing a~unition should be kept out 

of the hands of criminals. There are now thousands of statutes 

on the books which make it illegal for convicted or even accused 

felons to own, possess or acquire firearms or ammunition. We 

also believe that those persons who use firearms or ammunition 

in violation of the law should be swiftly and severely punished. 

S. 555, on the other hand, would do nothing more than confuse 

the real issue of crime in our city streets. It would virtually 

outlaw most current sporting arms and ammunition which would 

result in nothing more than the loss of much needed revenues 

for fish and game restoration projects. 

Thank you for providing me with this opportunity to present 

the views of the California Wildlife Federation. 
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Senator LAXALT. Thank you very much. Let us proceed now to' 
Mr. Cassidy from the NRA. And if we have to leave, Mr. Cassidy 
and the rest of the panel, it is not out of any measure of disrespect, 
but because these hearings have gone much longer than anybody 
expected. We have a rather important vote on the floor and as soon 
as you hear five buzzers, I am afraid you are going to lose two U. S. 
Senators. But in lieu thereof, the remainder of the hearing will be 
completed by our chief counsel, Jock Nash. 

Senator BIDEN. With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I have 
questions, too, so I would like to be able to ask my staff to partici­
pate. 

Senator LAXALT. Surely. Of course. That will be just fine. We will 
make certain we have transcripts of this, and they will be provided, 
of course, for our use and the other members of the subcommittee. 

STATEMENT OF WARREN CASSIDY 

Mr. CASSIDY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Senator 
Biden. 

I would have had much more to say, but I enjoyed the Treasury 
Department's report refuting the sponsors' contentions. So I will 
limit my remarks to my prepared ones. I do appreciate being per­
mitted to testify on behalf of our 2,800,000 members in opposition 
to S. 555 as introduced by Senator Moynihan. 

Initially, I would point out there is no demonstrated need for this 
legislation; since the NRA testified on this identical proposal 2 
years ago in the House of Representatives, there has been no rash 
of criminal misuse of armor-piercing handgun ammunition. In fact, 
it is our belief and fear, a fear shared by all police, that the high 
profile media campaign orchestrated by the proponents of this leg­
islation and gun control groups is far more likely to endanger 
police lives than armor-piercing handgun ammunition. 

Senator LAXALT. You heard Congressman Biaggi when this gen­
eral point was raised, and essentially he says, "Do we have to wait 
for someone to get killed before we take preventive action". Do you 
agree with that statement? 

Mr. CASSIDY. No, sir. But what has happened, the two officers 
that are being used here as an example of being killed by armor 
piercing, those were head shots or shots on parts of the body that 
would never be protected by any sort of ammunition. And the more 
this type of proposal is broadcast, the more the criminal element 
will go for the head if they think the officer is protected that way. 
Most certainly they will do that with shotguns or anything that 
will cover a greater area than just one bullet. 

I might point out that the NRA has been a much better friend of 
police than most of the proponents of this type of legislation. 
Almost all police officers are trained by NRA certified instructors. 

Earlier today it was pointed out, I think by Congressman Biaggi, 
that there had been a dramatic drop in the rate of casualties of the 
New York Police Department, and the implication at least was be­
cause of body armor. 

The fact of the matter is that retired New York officer Frank 
McGee, who opposes this type of legislation, rewrote the New York 
textbooks on how you deal with violent crime in the streets, the 
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method of confronting the violent criminal and I would respectfully 
submit that that is what has reduced the casualty rate among New 
York officers and nothing to do with the vests. 

In fact, S. 555 and its identical companion legislation in the 
House of Representatives, H.R. 953, are nothing other than one 
more attempt to separate law abiding gun owners and the Nation's 
sportsmen from their firearms and ammunition. To quote the Jus­
tice Department testimony of March 1982: 

The simple fact is that some bullets with a legitimate use will defeat sof~ b~dy 
armor. Moreover, in certain handgun calibers, the effect of a ban .on armor-plercmg 
bullets would effectively deprive firearms ow~ers of the use of thelr weap.o~s by ren­
dering illegal all presently available commerCIally manufactured ammullltlOn. 

The National Rifle Association does not believe that legislation 
which attempts to control criminal behavior through the control of 
firearms and/or ammunition will ever be effective. Rather, we be­
lieve that stiff, sure, fair, mandatory penalties for misuse of fire­
arms and/or ammunition are the only effective deterrents to crimi­
nal behavior. It is already against the law to shoot police officers. 
It is against the law for convicted criminals .to posses~ firearms. . 

Still another law will have no effect, partIcularly SInce the law IS 
designed to solve a nonexistent problem. In that regard, the U.S. 
Senate recently passed by a vote of 91 to 1 a comprehensive crime 
control bill which included just such a mandatory minimum sen­
tence for the criminal misuse of armor-piercing handgun ammuni­
tion. 

The NRA commends and thanks the Senate for that appropriate, 
courageous action. 

Mr. Chairman, the specific problems with S. 555 and H.R. 953 
are many. The definitional section which attempts to create a class 
of "restricted handgun ammunition" is severely flawed. If passed, 
the result would be the banning of many conventional handgun 
and rifle cartridges. The U.S. Treasury Department, which would 
have to administer S. 555, has previously testified, and I quote: 

The bill would be likely to include other ammunition readily available in commer­
cial channels which are not designed or intended to penetrate soft body armor. 
Many handguns currently produced fire rifle-type ammunition. It is likely that 
much sporting rifle ammunit~on, 'Yhen fire? from a 5-inch barrel.would p~netrate 
soft body armor. Many sportmg l'lfle cartndges would end up bemg restl'lcted by 
this bill. 

Fiurther S. 555 would be unenforceable as the physical identifica­
tion of re~tricted ammunition, as opposed to similar unrestricted 
ammunition is virtually impossible. There is no simple penetration 
indexing test which will define armor piercing ammunition or any 
law which would preclude ordinary, nonrestricted handgun ammu­
nition from being fired from handguns with barrels over 5-in.cJ:es 
in length. Additionally, private handloaders and small ammunItIOn 
manufacturers, of which there are tens of thousands, would be 
placed in a particularly difficult position by this bill. 
,- Each time an individual handloads a cartridge to be used in a 
handgun, he would be forced to determine under penalty of a Fed­
eral felony whether the cartridge is a restricted handgun bullet. 
That determination can under this bill only be made by the Secre­
tary of the Treasury with very sophisticated testing equipment. 
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In short, S. 555 and H.R. 953 are riddled with technical inaccura­
cies, unenforceable provisions, and is legislation drafted in response 
to a nonproblem. . '. . 

Three further points I think bear consIderatIOn. FIrst, despIte. the 
claim of the bill's proponents and gU!l control grou~s,. ~rmor-plerc­
ing handgun am,munition is not avaIlal?le on the cIvIlIan n:arket. 
The officer from the Nassau County PolIce Department specIfically 
stated that he identified himself as a police officer when he went in 
and purchased that ammunition. . . . 

Manufacturers and importers of AP ammunItIOI?- sell theIr hand­
gun ammunition only to law enforcement agencIes. They do not 
sell to intervening FFL dealers, and r~gardl~ss of whe.ther that f~ct 
was reached by some law or voluntarIly arrIved at wIth the assIst­
ance of the Treasury Department, it is a fact. 

In other words, you cannot simply walk into.~our local gun shop 
and purchase armor-piercing handgun ammunItIOn as many would 
have you believe. . 

Second it should be noted that many law enforcement organIza­
tions hav~ concerns regarding S. 555 and similar bulle~-ban legis~a­
tion. I quote the chairman of the Firearms and Ex~los~ves CommIt­
tee of the International Association of Chiefs of PolIce. In a lette~ to 
the president of the International Association of ChIefs of PolIce: 

Partial information, faulty logic, and emotionalism were fou~d to exist in pu!:>lic 
discussions, in statements within the law enforcement commulllty, and con~resslOn­
al deliberations. We urge you, as presid~nt of the IACP, to s~spe~d any. officIal ass~; 
ciation activities and withhold all publIc statements regardlllg cop kIller ~ullets 
until a rational and informed study of the problem has been c~nducte.d. T?IS com­
mittee believes that this is necessary to avoid potentially damaglllg legIslatIve over­reactions. 

Third and finally, 37 States allow hunting ~ith han~guns .. The 
various State fish and game departments specIfy certaIn cal~bers 
and energy levels below which you are not allowed to hunt wIth a 
handgun. And I guess this example is going to be wasted now. 

But Nevada as an example, requires either .357 magnum, .41 magn~m or .44 magnum handguns with barrel lengths over 4 
inches long. S. 555 would outlaw many of these cartridges mandat­
ed for big game hunting by State fish and game departments, not 
only in Nevada, but across the country. 

The answer to the issues this hearing raises are not to be found 
in ill conceived and poorly defined legisla~ive propo~als ,such as 
S. 555, but rather in swift, sure, and f~Ir sentencI~g Imposed 
against those who would attempt to commIt such abomma~l~ acts. 

Again, I commend to the attention of all concernBd the mInImum 
mandatory provisions recently passed by the Senate ~s .the most !e­
sronsible solution to this issue. Thank you for provIdmg me wIth 
this opportunity to testify before you. 

Mr. NASH. Thank you, Mr. Cassidy. The comment relative to 
Nevada is not wasted. I am from Nevada. Nevada recently passed 
armor-piercing bullet legislation. Are you familiar with that legis-lation? . 

Mr. CASSIDY. Yes, I am. 
Mr. NASH. Nevada also has on its books legislation which man­

dates that certain calibers be used when you are hunting with a 
handgun. Are those two statutes in conflict now, and--
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Mr. CASSIDY. I believe in the State of Nevada they amended the 
legislation so that, I think, two or three specific named pieces of 
ammunition were specifically excluded. 

Mr. NASH. Has the National Rifle Association come up with a list 
of ammunition that would fall within the ambit of armor-piercing 
or vest-piercing ammunition that would probably be taken off the 
market should legislation be passed at the Federal level? 

Mr. CASSIDY. No, we have not. We do not believe it can be de­
fined because there is so much more involved than just the primer, 
the powder, the brass, the bullet, the length of the barrel, and the 
coatings, and so forth. We believe that most of the legislation pro­
posed throughout the country and proposed here would in its desire 
to rid an imagined problem take care of eliminating most of the 
sporting ammunition used, as has been testified to here earlier today. 

Mr. NASH. There are groups who alleged that when they cannot 
get gun control, they will instead try to do it through the back 
door, by ammunition control. Could you give the committee a likely 
scenario of how come about and how that would-how gun control 
would be affected through that strategem, 

Mr. CASSIDY. I think there is an excellent example, sir, very close 
to this building in Montgomery County; MD. There is a county 
trustee that seems to have nothing else to do in his life but to at­
tempt to ban handguns. He has been notably unsuccessful. Recent­
ly, he attempted to ban the sale of ammunition within his country. 
He has been defeated on every level. He makes no pretense about 
why he does it. He states publicly, I cannot get the guns banned. I 
will get the ammunition banned and therefore they will have noth­
ing to shoot and I will eventually get to the guns. 

This gentleman has been defeated on every level so far. He is 
using his county's funds to appeal. He has lost the appeals to date. 
I think he still has one left. But Montgomery County in Maryland 
is a perfect example of a declared antigun official stating that if I 
cannot get the guns, I will get the ammunition. 

We feel that in the particular bUllets that we are discussing here 
today, if there had been a rash of specific cases where criminals 
were running around shooting at police officers with armor-pierc­
ing ammunition and killing those police officers with armor-pierc­
ing ammunition, it would lend a great deal more credibility to the 
cause of the proponents of the legislation. That is not the case. That simply is not the case. 

Mr. NASH. Thank you, Mr. Cassidy. 
Mr. GREEN. Just a couple of questions. Mr. Cassidy, do you know 

what percentage-what kind of numbers reflected in the NRA 
membership are police officers or law enforcement officers? 

Mr. CASSIDY. The number of our total members who are police officers, I do not have any--
Mr. GREEN. Or a percentage figure. 
Mr. CASSIDY. No; I would suspect it would be a large percentage 

because, as I say, our education division puts on Courses through­
out the United States. They have been asked, for example, to put 
on a Course for the Washington, DC Police Department. 

They have put one on recently in Chicago. It intrigues us because 
of Course both of those cities are noted for their strict handgun 

37-220 0 85 - 7 

,. 



- "--' --~--",----------------~----------------

102 

laws. But I could not give you a number. I suspect many, many 
police officers are members of the National Rifle Association. 

Mr. GREEN. The reason I ask that is because to our knowledge, 
there is no major law enforcement group that has come out in op­
position to this bill. And I was wondering if there had been a poll­
ing of some sort or an opinion taken of police officers who are 
members of the NRA as to their position and whether they are 
siding with the NRA on this position or whether they are 
siding--

Mr. CASSIDY. Yes; we have inquired and we have hundreds of re­
sponses from different members of the International Association of 
Chiefs of Police, for example. I do not have them here with me, 
supporting our side of this issue. 

I believe there are police organizations in this room today, repre­
sentatives of organizations who do represent a great number of 
police officers. I think one of the reasons some of them may not go 
public is in any police department of course you do have differ­
ences of opinion. You have the commanding officers. You have the 
officers. You have the patrolmen. They are represented by frater­
nal orders of police, patrolmen's association, the international asso­
ciation, and national association of the chiefs. 

Their opinions may differ on many subjects, not just what we are 
talking about this morning and this afternoon, and I suspect it is 
uncomfortable for them. In our Morton Grove appeal before the Il­
linois State Supreme Court, we have now obtained two police orga­
nizations that have filed amicus curiae briefs in our behalf. It was 
difficult to get that, as I say, not because they do not agree with 
you. The chief of police in Morton Grove, for example, happens to 
agree with our side of it, but he is not about to buck his trustees. 

Mr. GREEN. You had mentioned in your statement that this type 
of ammunition was mailed directly from the manufacturer to law 
enforcement agencies. 

Mr. CASSIDY. After the Treasury Department-I did not mean to 
imply that. After the Treasury Department talked to the manufac­
turers, I believe I am correct in stating, and they would support 
me, that normally law enforcement agencies or the military can 
order that ammunition directly from them and not through an in­
tervening FFL dealer. And as a matter of fact, the order has to 
take place on stationery of that particular department ordering the 
ammunition. I am sure that is correct. 

Mr. GREEN. The requirements as far as a licensed dealer, though, 
they can get access to this ammunition basically by filling out the 
forms, the proper forms? 

Mr. CASSIDY. No. I believe that they would have to have an order 
on the stationery of the police department. The military of course 
is not going to order through regular licensed dealers. 

Mr. GREEN. No. How about a licensed dealer, though? Once some­
one is licensed j they can get access then to this ammunition; is that 
correct? 

Mr. CASSIDY. No, I do not believe that is the case any longer. The 
manufacturers agreed with Treasury that they would ship directly 
to law enforcement agencies or to the military and not through an 
intervening Federal firearms license holder. 
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Ivir. GREEN. OK. The availability of this ammunition,. as you have 
said and as Treasury also indicated, through complIance agre.e­
ments is no longer available. Has that, to your knowledge, also fIl­
tered down to individual licensed dealers, ~~at ?they are no longer 
to sell over the counter any type of ammunItIOn. 

Mr. CASSIDY. I would believe so. . . 
Mr. GREEN. Given the fact it was already In stock IS what I am 

referring to. h t h 
Mr. CASSIDY. I think the officer froI? Delaware stated t. a e 

was unable to buy that type of !immunitIOn he needed for hIS test­
ing in his particular communIty be~ause they were n?t sold. I 
think that is generally the case. That IS. no~ to say there IS ~ot am­
munition that is not entitled armor pIercIng that co~ld pIerce a 
vest. And that is also not to say there may not be a reSIdue of some 
of that foreign ammunition in marketplaces throughout the 
county. I do not know that. . 

I would simply like to end on one statement beca.use a questIOn 
was asked by Senator Biden that sounded to-~h:;t It shoul~ be so 
easily answ'ered and I think it is a very d.lfflcult. questI?n to 
answer, He asked of one of the officers, RO~InS?n, If we SImply 
named one, KTW, by name, would. you. agre~ ~Ith It.. . 

And I am sure it is easier on hIndsIght sItting back m the a~dI­
ence to form an opinion than it is sitting up he~e and re.spo~dmg 
directly to a question firsthand. The I?rob~em WIth that IS SImply 
that if we did that, how long do you thInk It woul~ take some man­
ufacturer to produce an identical round. and call It the ABC round 
and then sell it because it was not entitled KTW. Then we woulg 
be back before this committee to ban the ABC round and the EF 
round and the XYZ round. . . . . f 

And I submit for your review agam t?at It IS n<?t a questIOn 0 

the number of armor piercing or otherwIse round~ In the p~rr~tra­
tors cylinder, in his magazine, in his pocket. It IS the r~cldlvI~m, 
the repeating criminal out on the street constantly that IS causmg 
the crime. If you study the uniform crime reports o.f the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation, you will se~ that the offlc~rs shot at, 
killed, assaulted, kicked, punched are In almost ever;y I~stance the 
victims of a repeat felon, four or more arrest~ or convlCtIOns. 

That is why the NRA feels as strong~y as I~ does, not bec~use we 
want to help a criminal or hurt a polIce offIcer. We feel Just tl:e 
opposite. But we feel that the entir~ argl.,,;ment has be:n .framed m 
a way that will never help t~e polIce offICer. And th.it IS why we 
speak as strongly on this subject as we do. Thank yuu very muc,? 

Mr. NASH. Thank you, Mr. Cassidy. I think our next wItness IS 
Mr. Gallegos. 

STATEMEN1' OF GILBERT GALLEGOS 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman and members of.the .subcommi~tee, 
I am Gilbert Gallegos. I am the nati<;mal legIslative cO~1mltt~~ 
chairman of the Fraternal Order of PolIce. I am als.o a pol.lce off 1" 

cer with the Albuquerque Police Department, whI~h IS In New 
Mexico, and I have 20 years of law enforcement exp~rIenc~. 

If you do not mind, Mr. Chairman, I wou!d also lIke to Int~oduce 
Mr. Richard Boyd, our national FOP preSIdent, and Mr. RIchard 

Q 
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Lis, our national vice president. Mr. Boyd is with the Oklahoma 
City Police Department, and Mr. Lis is a police officer in Chicago. 

So my point being is that this is not an eastern seaboard police 
bill. This bill that we are talking about reflects the views, I feel, of 
law enforcement officers across the country. 

The Fraternal Order of Police with its 167,000 members supports 
this legislation. \Ve are the largest law enforcement organization in 
the United States. Our organization is composed of law enforce­
ment officers of all ranks from chiefs on down to the street officer, 
of all agencies, from Federal agencies down to the one man police 
departmen t. 

But the bulk of our membership is comprised of the street offi-
cers who make up the front line of society's fight and battle 
against crime. And I think that is what we are talking about here 
is protecting that street officer who is out there trying to do the 
best job that he can and she can to protect the lives in their own 
community. 

Let me say this: the FOP does not support, will never support, as 
far as I am concerned-and I would speak for the President of our 
organization-we are not an antigun organization. We would vehe­
mently be against any legislation which would limit the lawful pos­
session of firearms by United States of American citizens. 

Also I would like to bring a point; we have been talking about 
the fact that you cannot get these bullets anywhere or only law en­
forcement agencies can do it. The gentleman from the NRA has 
testified to this. The Treasury Department has testified to this. 
This is wrong. 

I purchased this type of bullet myself, not on behalf of the Albu-
querque Police Department, not on behalf of the State of New 
Mexico, on my behalf. Now, I must admit that I did show my 
badge, but I did not show any other identification. I did not--. 

Mr. NASH. Why did you show your badge? Was that requested? 
Mr. GALLEGOS. They requested it; except that here I have some 

.357 magnum, 158 grain metal piercing ammunition. I inquired 
about this and they told me that anybody could buy this. It did not 
have to be a law enforcement officer. This is a reputable company 
in Albuquerque. 

I also bought some devastator bullets which blow up when they 
hit a human being or anything else. This is what the President was 
shot with, not this round, but this type of round. 

I also bought 9 millimeter ammunition and I also bought some 
.357 ammunition. And if they are saying that you need to be a law 
enforcement agency to purchase this, they are wrong. And I would 
like that to go on the record. 

So I wonder, Mr. Chairman, just how many other people can go 
out and buy this type of ammunition. I do not think the Treasury 
Department knows what it is talking about because I did it. I have 
the receipts to prove that I purchased these, dated March 1, 1984, 
which is last week. 

Mr. NASH. Could we have copies of those for the record? 
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes, you can. 
[The material referred to follows:] 
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Mr. GALLEGOS. Therefore, I guess by my statements th 
that ;e SUPPO!t t~e control of manufacture, distributio~0~~3 t-::r 
~~:t~d ~::Il~~~Ple[~i~~ ~~~~n~~Othe ~~d ;l~~ ~~: bey.ond. the !eflo~ 
to the devastator type of bullet whict has no Y~g~r~rclfg;lIt goes 
forcement use. ~ .think that has been testified to. lIma e aw en-
~xcePt for mIlItary purposes, I imagine they could use it but law 

en orce~ent, who these bullets were sUpposedly designed' for h 
I~sothuse or t~tem. I have not heard any testimony that says th~t i~ e 0PpOSI e. . 

D In the t19A70's the bullet-proof vests were developed for law en-
orcemen. s a matter of fact the Law EDt A . 

A.dministration a~ that time, LEAA, went t~ o;~:ff~ hsslstance 
nI~h f.oney t? polIce departments so that they ~ould bufth!s~O fur­
th t

U 
D m re;lItt

y . most of those vests that were bought-and I know 
a or a ac m Albuquerque, under the LEAA rant 

!~hl~o~~ obsolete because are not even the ones,1hat ~r~b~i;: 

~!~:ri~g t~~~~;n;~~ ~~~:; t~rh"J~' t~ir Ci'':'''e~/:;~~':ea;t a~~~ 
So I think that the citizens in the individual communitie 

feeng aware that the officers need the protection. I heard theS J~~ 
~h eparbtment talk about the type III, type II-A and all these 

o er num ers that they talk about I do t k 11 . 
:~l f~an~ except that mos~ of the officers ::w w~~~ :h: t~p:1it S~ 
t+ ITI ~~F~nc~~~ o~hc::!~r~ ~~~~~~::n~ht~o~:ytv ';~:dl af~ej,0 
~;~~IWth~ s~:~d~:dformulated, but we need som:ething that wili 
standard vests that ar~Sbef~g v~~~~ and tha~ ~ill pene~rate those 
going to come out 2 3 4 5 f now, no In so~ethlng that is 
are wearing today.' , , years rom now, somethmg that officers 

Sic~YI; t~~n~!~:t ;~el~~o:;aftcet~f ;he vest is .self~evident. But ba-
makes these vests impotent Th' a ;\mor plercmg ammunition 
armor piercing ammunition: h elci use u ness ~o~s away. In reality, 
have a tactical police use Wh anfgun almunltlOn, ~oes not really 

lic~:sdimngadteo ;heir It~stim~ny i~;r~~i~~~~:a~~~: ~~I~h~~%~nyit~~id 
lor po ICe use. ' 

Wi~hd~~ro~~~T ~f any police department that uses this. I checked 
rifles Th earn people; the.y say it has no use. They all use 
do th~ of~1 do .notthuse handguns m tactical situations. They do not 

Icer In e street any good They a t 
fo~ sportsmen. And I do not feel that th re no even practic~l 
gOIng to even want to use thi t f e ay~rage sportsman IS 
want to get into a battle bet~e~~e t~ ammtunltlOn. And we do not 
forcement officers. e spor smen and the law en-

~~~U~~;f:;~~:~:lla~~frl:~~~~:~e~11W~~f ;t th~~dfe:Sl~1ro~~~ 
know why the NRA h t k pro aw ~n orcement. And I do not 
this issue. as a en an antIlaw enforcement stance on 
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The Treasury Department has taken the stance that this ammu­
nition is not a threat to law enforcement officers. And I submit 
that it is a threat to law enforcement officers. And as a police offi­
cer, I resent that threat because they are supposed to represent me, 
the Treasury Department. It is an actual threat against law en­
forcement officers. 

The FOP strongly disagrees with the department's position. We 
feel that the potential threat is just as important as an actual 
threat. And it seems like the Treasury Department is trying to 
minimize that threat. 

Mr. NASH. If I might ask a few questions at this point. There has 
been much said over the years that many crimes are becoming 
strict liability crimes, especially in the area of guns where the 
mere possession, sale, or distribution, not the use in a crime, of cer­
tain weapons or certain ammunition should be penalized. What do 
you think the appropriate penalty would be for someone who sold 
you those, given no other criminality? How long would you put 
them in prison? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Well, I do not know that you would have to put 
them in prison. I think the problem is that the dealers are not 
really being told by the Treasury Department really what they 
should or should not sell. It is obvious that the dealer sells it to me. 
I do not think necessarily that the dealer in this case should go to 
prison because what I submit is that the Treasury Department is 
not doing its job and is reluctant to do its job. 

Mr. NASH. Has New Mexico passed a bill to prevent that from 
occurring? You have mentioned the Treasury Department has not 
done their job. Has your New Mexico State Legislature passed leg­
islation to prevent this? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. We have attempted to do so and we have been 
lobbied against by the NRA in this issue in New Mexico. 

Mr. GREEN. Excuse me one second. Do you know how many 
States have passed legislation like this? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. The testimony varies but I think 8, 12, something 
like that have this type of law. 

Mr. NASH. The portion of the Moynihan-Biaggi legislation which 
was noncontroversial, that which enhanced the penalities of some­
one who would use such ammunition during the commission of a 
felony, passed easily in the Senate and is now awaiting action in 
the House. Unfortunately, I think the legislation has hard sledding 
over there, not because of that particular provision, but because of 
many others. 

But if you do not have someone using this ammunition in a 
crime of violence and if the evil to be remedied is the criminal who 
uses this-all other people, we will assume, are not going to use 
it-what further protection would banning distribution, sale, or 
possession give the policeman? In essence, an otherwise law abid­
ing person might have this ammunition or might sell it, but who 
would never intend to use it in a crime. What good would this leg­
islation do police officers? Please let the subcommittee know how 
this legislation is going to protect you. Even more importantly how 
it would be enforced. . 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Well, I think that the unintentioned citizen could 
be really protected. We support that legislation which is pending 
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before the House that would have enhanced penalties and we agree 
that that is a good law. But that is a reactive approach rather than 
a proactive approach. And we feel that the threat is very real. And 
we feel that if you ban and you can define the ammunition, that 
the sportsman will probably take their own steps to get rid of it or 
the dealers would. But the idea is to let them know. And I do not 
think that the mere possession is going to cause anyone or should 
cause anyone to go to prison. 

I think the people we are focusing on are the ones that do use it 
in a crime or have it in possession when using it in a crime. And 
those are the people that we want to have put away. 

But the individual sportsman who just by mere possession-I 
think that we could work something like that out and we would 
not be pro putting the average citizen away in prison. So I think 
that that would be my answer to that. 

Mr. NASH. Thank you. 
Mr. GREEN. Just one quick question, Gil. You as a representative 

of the FOP, can you summarize for the committee so it is on record 
what the-police officers, having to face this threat every day with 
the availability of this ammunition. What has it meant to the 
morale of the police officers or their ability to do their job. Have 
there been any changes? Have there been things that have bE len 
expressed, that knowing that this ammunition is out there Hnd 
available and in fact can penetrate the body armor that they waar, 
if in fact they are wearing it. 

Mr. GALLEGOS. I have not spoken to one officer that does not 
worry about it. When you are a police officer, there are certain 
things that you realize, certain dangers that you realize are going 
to confront you. But where the officers are resentful, at least the 
ones that I have talked to, about the fact that these are available. 
It is on their mind. I am not saying, they worry about it. They 
worry about it 24 hours a day. 

But the idea is that they do not know what is going to face them 
when they walk into a darkened alley or into a building. And what 
I am saying is if we can at least give them one small measure, per­
haps it will ease their minds, and that the officers are definitely 
affected by the fact that there are people out there who are out to 
kill them. 

We are not deer and we are not animals that are hunted down 
like other animals. These bullets are designed to' kill human 
beings, not designed to kill deer. 

And that is on our mind, the fact that if one officer dies, or if one 
officer's life-just one officer's life can be saved by enacting this 
legislation, then we feel the legislation is worth it. It is worth the 
controversy if just one life, one human life can be saved. 

Mr. NASH. Of your membership, what percentage would you say, 
wear the vest? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. I would say based on personal knowledge, I would 
say 50 percent of the street officers is a safe assumption. And it is 
an assumption. 

Mr. NASH. Thank you very much. 
Mr. GREEN. Is that based on availability, 50 percent of the total 

that have it available to them or does it include all police depart­
ments including those that do not have it available to them? 

---~-----
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Mr. GALLEGOS. What many departments are running into is they 
do not have the funds to issue them. So many officers I know in 
our department will go out and buy them. And I think in New 
York City they had a big promotional thing to try and get some 
vests for their officers. So I think the problem is that the depart­
ments do not have the funds to do so. And probably you would get 
a larger compliance if the departments could furnish the vests and 
even make the officers wear the vests. 

Mr. GREEN. So your 50 percent figure is based on some police de­
partments where an officer doesn't even have a choice· in some . . , 
cases It IS not even available to them. Correct? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes. 
Mr. CASSIDY. Excuse me. Could I make one point that I believe is 

pertinent to this. I do not believe there is a department in the 
United States that mandates the use of the vests, even if they are 
available. I would stand corrected if any of the officers here know 
of any. But I do not believe there is one case in the country where 
vests are mandated. 

And one of the reasons for that is that if they are mandated and 
the ?fficer does not use that vest and he becomes a casualty, his 
medIcal benefits could become in question as they would be under 
Workers Compensation and anything else. And I believe that is one 
of the reasoD;s that departments, even when they have vests, do not 
mandate theIr wearing them. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gallegos follows:] 

Q 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF GILBERT GALLEGOS 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I am Gilbert Gallegos, Nat;ional 

Legislative Committee Chairman of the Fraternal Order of Police. I am also a 

police officer with the Albuquerque Police Department, and have 20 years of 

law enforcement experience. 

I also would like to introduce Richard Boyd, our National FOP President, and 

Richard Lis, our National Vice-President. Also present is Tom Tague, President 

of the Washington, D.C. Lodge. 

The Fraternal Order of Police appreciates the opportunity to .express our views 

on the "cop-killer bullet" issue. The Fraternal Order of Police, with its 167,000 

members, is the largest law enforcement organization in the United States. Our 

organization is co~rised of law. enforcement officers of all ranks from all types 

of.law enforcement agencies. The bulk of our membership is comprised of the 

street officers who make up the fro~t line ~1 society's battle, against crime. 

\Ve support legislation which controls the manufacture, distribution, and use of 

armor-piercing ammunition. This issue goes beyond the "teflon-coated" bullets. 

Devastator and regular armor-piercing ammunition must be included in tJris issue. 

Any citizen can purchase armor-piercing ammunition, which can also penetrate our 

lifesaving vests. In my view, there is no legitimate use, except for military 

purposes, for any type of handgun armor-piercing ammunition. 

Since the early 1970's many law enforcement officers have been wearing bullet-
'-

proof vests. Officers view them as a tool to possibly prevent their d8ath. 

Many police departments issue the vests as standard equipment, and many officers 

buy personal vests if they are not issued. Across the country, citizen groups 
I 

have supporv~d law enforcement by raising money' to purchase these vests for the 

protection uf officers in their communities. The importance of ~ vest is 

self-evident. Armor-piercing ammunition makes these vests impotent. Our 

vest gives us that "second chance" on life, which can be taken away by the 

squeeze of a trigger. 

In reality, armor-piercing handgun ammunition does not even have a tactical 

pol ice use in the. captUre of barricaded suspects. I have spoken to SWAT team 
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members who have been in many tactical situations, and based on their experience 

ammunition of this type is not practical for police purposes. Therefore, the 

alleged law enforcement need does not exist. This ammunition is not practical 

for the regular officer on the street either. Additionally, this ammunition 

is not practical for the average sportsman who hunts or does target shooting. 

If these bullets are banned, I feel, the average citizen or sportsman \vill not 

be affected. They would still have the right to hunt wild game and target 

shoot with other types of more practical ammunition. The persons who would 

be affected would be that law enforcement officer on the street, because the 

ammunition in question has only one function--which is to kill a human being. 

The Treasury Department has taken a stance that this ammunition is not a 

threat to law enforcement officers. The FOP strongly disagrees with the 

Department's position. \Ve feel that the potential threat of an officer getting 

killed or \vounded is just as important as an actual threat. It' appears that 

the Department has minimized the threat. 

The Treasury Department has also taken the position that "restricted handgun 

bullet" as mentioned in S-555 cannot be defined. We feel that it can be 

defined, and the Justice Department is also optimistic about a definition. 

I feel there is more of a reluctance, rather than an inability, to define 

these bullets. The effort to create a souna definition should be undertaken 

by a cross section of the law enforcement community rather than by just 

one entity. 

There are an average of 100 law enforcement off~cers killed each· year, and of 

this number it is unknown if any have been killed \vith armor-piercing ammunition. 

The number of officers killed or wounded by this ammunition is not at issue. 

TIle issue is the potential threat that does in fact exist. The media has been 

accused of creating the issue, hmvever, I feel they pointed out the existence 

of a problem. I feel they have been the brunt of undeserved criticism as a 

means of diverting attention away from the real issue. 

As a means to deal with the issue, some states enacted laws which crea1:ed. 

enhanced crimina.l penal ties when this type of ammunition is used in the 

comnission of a crime. TIlls is admirable, hmvever it creates a f.a ~_se sense 



\ 

- .. -- - -- ~ --------------------------------------------------------

112 

of security. It is after the fact, and is not a very proactive approach in 

dealing with the issue. We believe in a positive approach rather than a 

negative approach. 

Our approach is simple and direct. "lIT\V type", annor piercing, and devastator 

handgun ammunition should not be manufactured except for specific military 

purposes. As I stated before, there are no legitimate or practical uses for 

this ammunition by either law enforcement officers or sportsman. If only 

one life can be saved, the enactment of this legislation will be worth the 

present controversy. 

Again, I wish to thank the Subcommittee for giving the Fraternal Order of 

Police the opportunity to provide input on the present issue. 

Mr. NASH. Thank you. Our last witness is Mr. Phil Caruso. He is 
the president of the New York City Patrolmen's Benevolent Asso­
ciation. 

STATEMENT OF PHIL CARUSO 

Mr. CARUSO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It has been a l.ong ~ay 
and I have heard a lot of discussion, some of which was qUIte stlm-
ulating, very interesting.. ... 

I represent 20,000 rank and fIle New York . CIty polIce offIcers. 
And I think it is very important that I establIsh the tone, so~t of 
characterize the climate of crime and violence that we are subJect-
ed to each and every day on the streets of New York. . . 

In the first 2 months of this year, we have had 2 polIce offIcers 
killed and 10 others lay wounded and grievously injured a~ a r~sult 
of gunshot wounds. And miraculously we have not sustaIned fur­
ther losses. 

I set this tone not to create panic or hysteria) bu.t merely to es­
tablish the reality of what we are confronted with each and every 
day, not only in New York City, but in every major urban center of 
the United States. Consequently, we are concerned about the fate 
of this legislation, which we deem to ~e very important toward the 
protection of life and limb of police offIcers. 

The New York City PBA was at the for~front .of the movement 
toward providing bullet proof vests for polIc~ offIcers, not because 
we needed embellishment some of an aesthetlc nature, but because 
we were confronted with ~ real threat of instant, violent death. 

It is a very sad commentary on the quality of life, l~ot o~ly in 
New York City again, but throughout .the country. We .dId ~hIS. We 
created the focus the attention, and It caught on natlOnwIde to a 
point where the ~ajority of police officers now find it necessary to 
wear vests. 

And what we are confronted with now is kind of a very perverse 
dilemma a technological paradox, because the same space age 
technology that created the innovation of soft body armor has also 
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created another instrument of death, killer bullets. And we can 
listen to pros and cons and it is very disturbing to me personally 
and to the people I represent to know that there are certain people 
who find it objectionable that the Congress of the United States 
would seek to provide us with another element of safety by restrict­
ing the sale, the manufacture, and distribution of instruments of 
death that have no valid place in this society. And I want to clarify 
something and make it very clear because the gentleman from the 
NRA is here; that I am a sportsman; I am a hunter; I enjoy the 
shooting sports; and I would say the vast majority of the people I 
represent are NRA members that also enjoy outdoor activities and 
shooting sports. 

And by no stretch of the imagination do we imply or advocate 
the infringement of the right to keep and bear arms by any law 
abiding citizen in this country. We will aggressively and vigorously 
ensure that our citizens have that right. But somewhere, somehow 
commonsense has got to prevail. And all these accusations that we 
often hear directed toward NRA, that they have people who border 
on the lunatic fringe finds expression in their resistance to this 
type of legislation. . 

There is no rhyme or reason why these bullets have to be out 
there circulating in the society. We have 2 million illegal handguns 
in the city of New York. This is an estimate made by certain ex­
perts. I say it is probably higher than that. Police officers have to 
deal with that reality. Police officers now have to deal with the re­
ality that the criminal element with its profound deviousness now 
are wearing bullet proof vests of a higher quality than police offi­
cers have- while they perpetrate their dastardly crimes. 

And they are equipping themselves with bullets that can pene­
trate police armor. Now, let me give you this analogy and ask you 
if you would like to be placed in this kind of a combat situation as 
a police officer. You confront an armed suspect perpetrating, let us 
say, a robbery. You find to your dismay that the individual is in­
vulnerable to your shots, your fire. You think he is some kind of a 
superman. No, he is not superman. He is wearing a bullet proof 
vest that is better than yours. 

It would be more than shocking and dismaying if the officer in 
that analogy situation would be shot and killed with a round that 
penetrated his vest and laid him to sleep, This can happen and I do 
not think we should wait until such a gross analogy becomes a re­
ality. 

We are looking for the ounce of prevention that will lead to not a 
panacea, because no amount of armament and protection will 
make our job 100 percent safe. Indeed, if you were to give us Sher­
man tanks, you would still suffer casualties and losses. We do not 
want Sherman tanks. We want a measure of concern and interest 
in giving us the edge of protection, the psychological lift that we 
need to perform a very difficult and complex function in this socie­
ty. That is all we are asking for. 

. And I keep hearing about definitional problems and how insur­
mountable they are. Well, I suggest to you that they are not insur­
mountable and do not defy resolution. And I know that Washing­
ton is very deep with a profundity of knowledge. It is a font of 
wisdom. And it is beyond my comprehension that the people from 
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Treasury cannot come up with an applicable definition of what is 
needed to give us the edge. 

And I will say this, I will bring a couple of New York City street 
cops here and we will give you the definition that is needed and we 
will not have to resort to law books and scholarly seminars given 
by some academicians. We ,viII give you a definition if that is what 
is needed. 

I am a sportsman, as I said. And I will reiterate that we do not 
advocate infringement of our constitutional guarantee as I view it. 
I have hunted throughout this country. Never have I come across 
the need for armor-piercing bullets of the type that you have seen 
exhibited here today. I have never run into a bull rhinocerous in 
the woods in this country. 

Consequently, there is no need for any sportsman to engage in 
the use of these bullets. The people we do fear, the people we do 
come to grips with are the people within the criminal element who 
will, whether through televised scenarios of this nature or other­
wise, will come to find that if they are going to commit crimes and 
gun down police officers more effectively, they will place this in­
strument of death within their arsenal and make our life a little 
more miserable. 

And I suggest for the sake of promoting the best interests of 
NRA and all the legislators and the Congress, that something be 
done to reverse this pernicious trend, to minimize the risk factor. 
And it cannot be done at the local level because of the circulation 
ability of the free enterprise system of our Government. It has to 
be done on the Federal level. 

Thank you very much for listening and I appreciate the opportu­
nity. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Caruso follows:] 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF PHIL CARUSO 

AS PRESIDENT OF THE PATROLMEN'S BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION OF 

THE CITY OF NEK YORK, REPRESENTING OVER 20~OOO POLICE OFFICERS 

KORKING IN ONE OF THE MOST DANGEROUS CITIES IN THE ~ORLD, I A/oj 

DEEPLY INTERESTED IN LEGISLATION THAT KOULD PROHIBIT THE 

MANUFACTURE OR USE OF EITHER "DEVASTATOR" OR "KILLER BULLETS" AND 

AM PLEASED THAT I HAVE THIS OPPORTUNITY TO ADDRESS YOU TODAY. 

AS TO THE LEGITIMATE USE OF SO-CALLED "KILLER BULLETS," 

\\HICH HAVE THE CAPACITY '1'0 PASS THROUGH SOFT BODY AR~lOR, I KNOK OF 

NONE. EVEN POLICE OFFICERS HAVE NO NEED FOR BULLETS TH.~T HAVE SUCH 

GREAT POKER. INDEED, SUCH A BULLET CANNOT BE CONSIDERED AN ANTI­

PERSONNEL PROJECTILE, BECAUSE, IN EFFECT, SUCH A BPLLET ~ILL HAVE 

LESS STOPPING POh'ER AN!) AC'l'UALLY II/OULD GO RIGHT TlIROUGH THE 

CRHHNAL SUSFi:CT h'HOt-1 IT IS DESIGNED TO DETER. SUCH A BULLET 

"mUL!) N01' DEFORI·1 I-lHEN HITTING THE SUBJECT I AND I IN EFFECT I WOULD 

No'r PROVIDE OUR POLICE OFFICERS \-lITH THE KIND OF STOPPING POWER 

SO:-!ETHIES NI:EDIm IN T.IFE-TIIREATENING SITUATIONS ON THE STREETS 

0F ';HE CITY OT' li:F.\'l Yom~. OUR TACTICAL SQUADS ARE SUFFICIENTLY 

;G::":"-I:~:T!;'!'r~[' laTH VoTUQtIS TYPES OF SPECIAL AMNUNITION SUITED TO 

l-lEET UNIQUE CONTIi~GP.NCIES I SUCII 1\S !lOSTAGE OR BARRICADE SITUATIONS I 

AI,::' 'J.'H!::P.E If' ABSOJ,UTP.LY NO ThC,}'lCl\L NEED FOR KILLER BULLETS TO BE 

CQ:\SEQUEN']'LY, f,INCE THERE ARE NO LEGITIMATE AND LOGICAL 

PURPOSES FOR THEIl~ l\VAILADILITY, TIIF.RE SHOU~ BE NO OBJI:!CTION TO 

THE PROHIBITION OF TlIE USE OF'TIIIS TYPJi!. OF ARMOR-PIERCING 

PROJECTILE.· SINCE' 'l'liEIR ONI,Y uiE \~OUW 'BE AN ILLEGITI'MATE ONE, 

TUl\T OF BEIilG ABT.E 'fO PI:NE'l'RJ\TE TilE KEVLl\R OF SOFT BODY ARMOR 

AND KILL THE INDIVIDUAL NHO IS LEGALLY AND PROPERLY WEARING SUCH 

PROTECTION, II/HICII, IN t·10ST CASES I WOULD BE POLICE OFFICERS AND 

OTHER LAI'? ENFORCEr·tENT PERSONNEL, TIIESE BULLETS SHOULD BE BANNED. 

AS THE PllnLIC IS AWARE, TIlE NEW YORK CITY PATROLMEN'S 

BENEVOLENT l\SSOCIA'l'ICm \-lAS IN TIlE F'OHEFRONT OF A DRIVE TO EQUIP 

POLICE OFFICERS 1\'I,]'1l 13ULLE'fPROOF VESTS BECAUSE OF THE HIGH NUMBER 
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OF OUR r·!F.MBERS lViiO BUSTA TNED FATAL CHEST AND BACK WOUNDS IN 

COI-lBAT SITUi\TIONS IH'I'J\ 11. VIOLENT mmED OF CRIMINAL. 

SINCE 'J'1lF: I:lllO\'j·.';'] ON OF 'I'IIE VESTS, THE INCIDENCE OF 

Fl'.Ti·.::'I':'IES !J!'.S Dr')':: S0:·::8l-iIFI'i' lILL"cVIATED. POLICE LIVES ARE BEING 

SA\'£D B'2C;,I.:.:::r: (l'T'J!!':'::~ :;;-: 1'1\';',,:, 51101'8 ,"IRE STOPPED OR SUFFICIENTLY 

SLOlvED [)m]~ BY Til F T'W )'l'lT';' IVr. GEl\R NOI"1 iVORrl BY POLICE OFFICERS. 

Mr. NASH. I think Mr. Caruso's statement is a very strong and 
eloquent one. One of the problems that is always faced by the-not 
only the Criminal Law Subco~mittee, but indeed I gues~ by any 
subcommittee of the Congress IS to, No.1, remedy the eVIl that IS 
out there' No.2 to do it in a way that can be enforced; and No.3, 
draft a la'w in ~hich people can be aware of its provisions and can 
thereby follow it, and that if they do not, those people can be iden­
tified and brought to justice. 

I think some of those problems might be involved in this situa­
tion here. Suppose such a bill was passed that would ban the distri­
bution, importation, and sale of this type of cartridge, and suppose 
policemen were still being killed by ones that were either available 
in current inventory or indeed made by the millions of people ~)Ut 
there who handload their cartridges. How do we go about reachlng 
that segment? 

It seems that the criminal element in the drug area has far supe­
rior resources, more money, better radios, better boats, better air­
planes than does the Government. And I would think that if there 
were a demand for cop-killer bullets, there would be a demand for 
people to handload those bullets for them. 

How do you get at that problem? I think it is a problem here 
that is of concern to Senator Moynihan. It is a concern, I think, of 
all of the members of our committee. But they have to do it in a 
way that the law will not be flaunted, that indeed we can go and 
remedy that evil out there. 

Mr. CARUSO. Mr. Chairman, we will never create a paradise here 
on Earth. But we must minimize the risk factor not only to police 
officers, but also to decent citizens. You know, you have people, 
merchants, New York City. I will look at New York City because 
that is my bailiwick; merchants who have to wear bullet proof 
vests, merchants who are carrying weapons because they have to. 
It is a way of doing business in the city. And if we can save the life 
of one police officer, minimally, or one decent, honest citizen-we 
place a high premium on human life, 

And if this legislation can accomplish that, then we will have ac­
complished something. 

Mr. NASH. Mr. Caruso, I spent 1 year of my life in Vietnam; 
during one period, the platoon which I commanded was given the 
responsibility for testing a new type of body armor. And it was 
truly body armor. It had a heavy ceramic plate that covered. all the 
vital areas of the upper body. Had we been forced to contInue to 
wear it for the expected duration of the test, it may have saved 
some lives. However, the problem with that body armor was that it 
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was so heavy in the front that it kept hitting us in the back of the 
neck. As a consequence virtually every member of the platoon suf­
fered headaches. Since marines in combat must walk everywhere 
because we d? not have as many helicopters as does the Army, our 
combat effectIveness was hurt. So we had to get rid of them. 

While there. i~ no one. on this s~bcommittee that would not sup­
port your pOSItIOn relatIve to saVIng every possible life-unfortu­
nately, tradeoffs have to be made in a real world. I cannot tell you 
how much we appreciate your testimony. 

Mr .. CARUSO .. Mr. Chairma~, one more point, incidentally, be­
cause It was raIsed as a questIOn here as to how many police offi­
cers we!lr bullet proof vests. And I will say unequivocally in New 
York CIty 99.9 percent of the patrol officers, people on the line 
wear those vests. And that includes summertime. ' 

Mr. NASH. Does that change your rates for your insurance? 
. Mr. CARUSO. No, it absolutely has no impact whatsoever on the 
msurance. 

. Mr. ~AS!I' There is no way of saying that the insurance compa­
mes WIll gIve you a break on your insurance rates if you wear it? 

Mr. CARUSO. No, absolutely not. It has no bearing on the in.sur­
ance coverage. The city of New York does not mandate the wearing 
of th8 vest, primarily because we went out and purchased our own 
vests. 

Mr. NASH. The two men that you testified were recently wound­
ed, were they shot through the vests or was that--

Mr. CARUSO. Ironically, the two who were wounded-actually 
mo:e tha?- two. We have had 10 wounded recently, two killed. The 
polIce offIcers who were killed, one was off duty and did not have a 
vest. The other officer was shot in the head and killed instantly. So 
no vest or armament would have protected him. 

The other officers, ironically, were injured in areas that were not 
protected by the vest. 

So, I will make another statement about the value of the vest. In 
recent years we have seen a reduction in the number of fatalities 
and I can document clearly instances where the vests have saved 
lives. 

Mr. GREEN: It has been a long day and I think Phil has pretty 
well summarIzed why we had the hearing today and I think we can 
just end on that. 
. Mr. NASH. I want to apologize again to the members of this par­

tIcular panel. for the exigencies of the legislative process and unfor­
tunately havmg staff conduct the last part of this hearing. It is un­
comfortable for us, as I am sure it is for you. 

Thank you. 
[Whereupon, at 1:30 p.m. the subcommittee was adjourned.] 

37-220 0 85 - 8 

o 



A P P E'N D IX 

ADDITIONAL STATEMENTS AND VIEWS 

Testimony of Rep. Norman E. D'Amours 

to the Subcommittee on Criminal Law 

t1a rch 7, 1 984 

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for this opportunity to testify today on 
Senator Moynihan's bill, S. 555, which would restrict the sale of certain types of ammunition. 

As a former criminal prosecutor, Assistant State Attorney General, and 
instructor at the New Hampshire State Police Training School, I can Well understand 
and sympa thize ~Iith Sena tor Moyni han's commendab 1 e desi re to reduce the i nci dence of 
death and injury among our nation's law enforcement personnel. I firmly believe, 
however, that his P~0posed solution to this problem (S. 555) is inappropriate, ineffective, and unconstitutional. 

Banning certain types of ammunition is an inappropriate solution because it 
will adversely affect millions of law-abiding sportsmen who use these bUllets for 
hunting and target practice. Many of the bullets \~hich would be banned under this 
legislation were developed with specific and reasonable hUnting and target practice 
objectives in mind. They are not intended, and were not developed to pierce 
"hull etproof" vests, but just because they might be used for this purpose they woul d be banned under this legislation. 

Banning certain types of ammunition is also inappropriate because it is difficult, 
if not impossible to define with any precision What types of ammunition shouid be 
banned. TechnOlogy changes too rapidly and new types of ammunition come on the market 
every day. It would be very easy if this legiSlation is passed to find reaSOns to ban 
more and more categories of bullets. Moreover, there arises the vexing question of 
how to deal with .ammunition that may not be able to pierce "bulletproof" vests When 
fired from a handgun but which may be able to pierce a "bulletproof" vest When fired from a rifl e. 

Banning certain types of ammunition is ineffective because experience has shown 
that a' determi ned crimi na 1 can and will obtai n thi s ammuniti on throuqh ill ega 1 means. 
Laws like this provide little deterrent to hardened criminals. They Simply create 
additional obstacles and problems for law-abiding citizens. A much more effectiVe 
deterrent would be legislation to make it a federal crime, with lengthy non-paroleable 
sentences, to use a firearm against law enforcement personnel who are in the perform­
ance of their duties. I am curre,!tly in the process of drafting such le~islation. A 
federal law, combined with speedier and more effective state and local prosecution, 
woul d be a much better deterretlt. I f an i ndi vi dual is goi ng to use a gun to comm; t 
a violent crime it will make little difference to him that the use of the bullet is 
illegal as well. A much more effective deterrent would be the certain knowledge 
that if a gun is used against a pOlice officer it will result in harsh and speedy justice with no change for parole. 

Banning Certain types of ammunition is unconstitutional because it infringes 
upon the people's Second Amendment rights to "keep and bear arms." It also sets a 
dangerous precedent for the federal government to engage in prior restraint by 
banning bullets before they are used in a crime and even though they may be intended for 1 awful purposes. 

As a former law enfcrcement official, I know first hand that we as a nation can 
and should do more for our laH enforcement personnel. We should encourage the develop­
ment of better "bulletproof" vests. We should provide them with the manpower and 
resources they need to effectively patrol .our streets. We shoul d provi de them with 
a better criminal justice system so that criminals know that if they commit a crime 
they 'will be caught, prosecuted, and forced to serve time. He shOUld let criminals 
know that We will back-up our police and that the use of a firearm against a police 
officer, Or any other r.itizen, will result in particularly stiff sentences. I have 
personally prosecuted cases where a law providing stiffer and mandatorY punishment 
for those convicted of using firearms in the commiSSion of a crime Was r6utinel.~' 
disregarded by jUdges. I consider that lenient attitUde more dangerous to police 
~fficers and citizens than the kind of ammunition this bill seeks to ban. Tougher 
penalties for illegal handgun use and consistent enforcement of those penalties will 
have an impact on violent crime in our nation, and wjll reduce the rate of injury to 
law enforcement personnel, without making criminals out of law abiding Sportsmen. and 
without infr'inging upon their right to keep and bear arms for lawful purposes. 
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STATE~lENT 

OF 

NORMAN DARWICK 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CHIEFS OF POLICE 

THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CHIEFS OF POLICE (IACP) WOULD LIKE 

TO THANK THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON CRIMINAL LAW FOR INVITING US TO EXPRESS OUR 

VIE11S ON S. 555, LEGISLATION TO BAN AMMUNITION SPECIFICALLY DESIGNED TO PENE­
TRATE BULLET-RESISTANT APPAREL. 

THE IACP IS A VOLUNTARY PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATION ESTABLISHED IN 1893. 

IT IS COMPRISED OF CHIEFS OF POLICE AND OTHER LAW ENFORCE~lENT PERSONNEL FROM 

ALL SECTIONS OF THE UNITED STATES AND MORE THAN SIXTY NATIONS.' COMMAND PERSONNEL 

WITHIN THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTE MORE THAN SEVENTY PERCENT OF THE MeRE THAN 

14,000 MEMBERS, THROUGHOUT ITS EXISTENCE, THE IACP HAS STRIVEN TO ACHIEVE PROPER, 

CONSCIENTIOUS AND RESOLUTE LAW ENFORCEMENT. IN ALL OF ITS ACTIVITIES, THE IACP 

HAS BEEN CONSTANTLY DEVOTED TO THE STEADY ADVANCEMENT OF THE NATION'S BEST WEL­

FARE AND WELL-BEING. WE ADDRESS THIS SUBC0MMlrTEE'TODAY ON BEHALF OF OUR MEMBERS 

AND THE THOUSANDS Of LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS WHOSE LIVES ARE THREATENED BY THE 

AVAILABILITY OF BULLETS CAPABLE OF PENETRATING THEIR SOFT -BO'DY ARMOR. 

BULLET-RESISTANT VESTS HAVE BEEN AVAILABLE FOR QUITE SOME TIME; H011EVER, 

BECAUSE THE EARLY VERSIONS WERE SO BUL'KY AND UNCOMFORTABLE, OFFICERS DID NOT 

WEAR THEM ROUTINELY. THE RAPID INCREASE IN POLICE INJURIES AND DEATHS DURING THE 

PERIOD FROM 1960 TO 1970 PROMPTED THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF LAW r.NFORCH1ENT AND 

CRIMINAL JUSTICE (NOW THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF JUSTICE) TO SPONSOR A PROGRAM TO 

DEVELOP LIGHTWEIGHT BODY ARMOR WHICH AN OFFICER COULD WEAR CONTINUOUSLY WHILE ON 
DUTY. THIS PROJECT WAS VERY SUCCESSFUL. 

IT IS RECOGNIZED THAT IN ORDER TO PRODUCE A VEST THAT OFFICERS WILL WEAR 

CONTINUOUSLY, IT IS IMPOSSIBLE TO COMPLETELY PROTECT THEM FROM ALL THREATS. IN' 

ORDER TO AID POLICE AGENCIES IN SELECTING GARMENTS APPROPRIATE FOR THEIR PARTICU-
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LAR OFFICERS, lACP IN 1978 COMPLETED A COMPREHENSIVE REPORT ENTITLEO "A BALLISTIC 

EVALUATION OF POLICE BODY ARMOR." IN THIS STUDY, SOFT-BODY ARMOR WAS CLASSIFIED 

ACCORDING TO FIVE THREAT LEVELS. AT EACH THREAT LEVEL, THE BULLETS AND CALIBERS 

WHICH THE AR~lOR WAS CAPABLE OF PROTECTING AGAINST WERE IDENTIFIED. EACH DEPART­

MENT COULD THEN DECIDE WHICH VESTS WERE NEEDED TO PROVIDE FULL-TIME PROTECTION 

AGAINST THE THREAT MOST LIKELY TO BE FACED BY ITS OFFICERS. 

AS A RESULT OF ALL OF THIS RESEARCH, APPROXIMATELY FIFTY PERCENT OF ALL 

LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS IN THIS COUNTRY CURRENTLY WEAR BULLET-RESISTANT VESTS. 

lF LEGISLATION INTRODUCED IN THE HOUSE BY CONGRESSMAN 1. T. VALENTINE IS PASSED, 

ALL OFFICERS WILL BE PROVIDED WITH VESTS. THE BILL, H.R. 4346, AUTHORIZES FEDERAL 

FUNDS FOR THE PURCHASE OF SOFT-BODY ARMOR FOR POLICE OFFICERS. 

THE RECORD SINCE SOFT-BODY ARMOR CAME INTO REGULAR USE BY LAW ENFORCE­

MENT OFFICERS HAS BEEN IMPRESSIVE. OFFICER FATALITIES HAVE BEEN SHARPLY REDUCED 

SINCE 1975, WHEN THE LIGHTWEIGHT VESTS WERE FIRST INTRODUCED IN QUANTITY, EVEN 

THOUGH THE ASSAULT RATE HAS NOT BEEN REDUCED. THE VESTS ARE CREDITED WITH SAVING 

THE LIVES OF SOME FOUR HUNDRED POLICE'OFFICERS ACROSS THE COUNTRY. SPECIFICALLY, 

BETWEEN 1975 AND 1978, TWO HUNDRED FIFTY-FIVE OFFICERS WERE SHOT IN GUN BATTLES 

WHILE 11EARING SOFT-BODY AR~10R. THE VESTS SAVED THE LIVES OF TWO HUNDRED FIFTY 

OF THESE OFFICERS. THE FIVE IoIHO LOST THEIR LIVES WERE SHOT IN UNPROTECTED AREAS. 

IN ADDITION TO MEMBERS OF THE LAW ENFORCEMENT COMMUNITY, THE USE OF BULLET-RESISTANT 

APPAREL BY POLITICIANS AND OTHER HIGH-LEVEL GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS HAS GROWN IN RE­

CENT YEARS DUE TO THEIR INCREASING EXPOSURE AND VULNERABILITY TO ACTS OF VIOLENCE. 

HOWEVER, THE SECURITY THAT BULLET-RESISTANT APPAREL PROVIDES IS BEING VIOLATED. 

A REAL AND IMMEDIATE THREAT HAS BEEN POSED TO THE LIVES AND SAFETY OF PERSONS 

RELYING ON SUCH PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT. 

SOFT-BODY ARMOR IS MADE OF A LIGHTWEIGHT, PROTECTIVE MATERIAL CALLED 

"KEVLAR" (A REGISTERED TRADEMARK OF E. 1. duPONT de NEMOURS AND COMPANY). UN­

OFFICIAL TESTS HAVE SHOWN THAT CERTAIN CALIB~RS OF THE TEFLON-COATED KTW BULLET 

CAN PENETRATE UP TO SEVENTY-TWO LAYERS OF KEVLAR. THE MOST POPULAR SOFT-BODY 

ARt·lOR WORN BY POLlCE OFFICERS IS COMPOSED OF ONLY EIGHTEEN LAYERS OF KEVLAR .. IN 

A TEST CONDUCTED BY THE LOS ANG~LES POLICE, DEPARTMENT OF A .38-CALIBER KTW BULLET 

AT A MEASURED VELOCITY OF 1,051 FEET PER SECOND, THE BULLET PENETRATED THE FRONT 

PANEL OF THE DEPARTMENT'S BODY ARMOR AND CONTINUED THROUGH THREE AND ONE-HALF 

INCHES OF "DUXSEAL," A SUBSTANCE WITH A DENSITY SIMILAR TO THAT OF HUMAN FLESH. 
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IN ORDER TO PROTECT THEMSELVES AGAINST SUCH A MENACE, OFFICERS WOULD . 
HAVE TO WEAR EXTREMELY BULKY, HEAVY PROTECTION. AS EXPERIENCE HAS SHOWN, THESE 

VESTS WOULD NOT BE WORN EXCEPT IN EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES. WHEN THE OFFICER. 

KNOWS THE SEVERITY OF THE DANGER HE IS ABO~~ TO FACE. 

CURRENTLY, FEDERAL LAW DOES NOT RESTRICT THE SALE OF ANY TYPE OF AMMUNI­

TION. DESPITE THE FACT THAT MANUFACTURERS OF AMMUNITION SPECIFICALLY DESIGNED TO 

PENETRATE BULLET-RESISTANT APPAREL CLAIM THEIR BULLETS ARE FOR POLICE AND MILITARY 

USE ONLY, THERE HAS NOT BEEN ANY ATTEMPT TO LEGALLY PREVENT THEIR AVAILABILITY TO 

THE PUBLIC. INDEED, THESE PACKAGING LABELS ARE MERELY A LUDICROUS PLOY TO GAIN 

MARKET ACCEPTABILITY, SINCE NO ENFORCEMENT OF THE REGULATION IS POSSIBLE. FURTHER­

MORE, THESE BULLETS ARE NOT USED BY EITHER LAW ENFORCEMENT OR THE MILITARY. BE­

CAUSE OF THEIR INCREDIBLE PENETRABILITY AND THE GREAT RISK THAT THEY MAY RICOCHET 

AND STRIKE AN INNOCENT BYSTANDER, AS WELL AS THEIR LACK OF STOPPING POWER, THESE 
J 

BULLETS HAVE BEEN FOUND UNACCEPTABLE FOR USE BY LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCIES. RIGHT' 

HERE IN WASHINGTON, D.C. THE METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT HAS EXPRESSLY PRO­

HIBITED OFFICERS FROM CARRYING ARMOR-PIERCING ~IUNITION EITHER ON OR OFF DUTY. 

WHEN ARMOR-PIERCING AMMUNITION WAS OFFERED TO THE UNITED STATES MILITARY, IT WAS 

NOT INTERESTED. 

TWO YEARS AGO, NORMAN DARWICK, THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF IACP, APPEARED 

BEFORE THE HOUSE SUBCOMMITTEE ON CRINE TO TESTIFY IN SUPPORT OF LEGISLATION SIMI­

.LAR TO THAT BEFORE THIS SUBCOMMITTEE. MUCH OF WHAT HE SAID THEN IS REPEATED HERE. 

HOWEVER, SINCE THAT rIME THE POSITION OF THE ASSOCIATION HAS GROWN STRONGER. 

AT A MEETING OF THE IACP BOARD OF OFFICERS WHICH WAS HELD ON FEBRUARY 18, 

1984, THE BOARD VOTED UNANIMOUSLY TO SUPPORT S. 555 AND rTS COMPANION BILL IN THE 

HOUSE, H.R. 953. IN THE PAST, WE VOICED CONCERN OVER THE DEFINITION THAT WILL BE 

USED TO IDENTIFY THOSE BULLETS THAT WILL BE BANNED. WE FEEL THAT THOSE RESERVA­

TIONS MUST BE PUT ASIDE SO THAT LEGISLATION CAN BE PASSED TO PROTECT THE LIVES 

OF THE DEDICATED POLICE OFFICERS WHO DA'ILY RISK THEIR LIVES FOR THE WELFARE AND 

PROTECTION OF OUR CITIZENS. THIS BILL WILL PROVIDE THkT PROTECTION. NOT ONLY 

DOES IT ESTABLISH MANDATORY MINIMUM PRISON SENTENCES FOR PERSONS WHO USE OR CARRY 

ARMOR-PIERCING BULLETS DURING THE COMMISSION O' A FELONY, BUT IT ALSO IMPOSES 

PENALTIES ON PERSONS WHO IMPORT, MANUFACTURE Ok ;ELL RESTRICTED BULLETS. AN EX­

CEPTION IS PROVIDED FOR THOSE SPECIFICALLY 'JTHORIZED TO DO SO FOR PURPOSES OF 

THE MILITARY OR LAW ENFORCEMENT. 
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THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CHIEFS OF POLICE CAN FIND NO LEGITIMATE 

USE, EITHER IN OR OUT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT, FOR THIS TYPE OF AMMUNITION. AS LONG 

AS THE MANUFACTURE AND SALE OF ARMOR-PIERCING AMMUNITION REMAINS UNREGULATED, THE 

POSSIBILITY THAT A POLICE OFFICER WILL BE KILLED OR SERIOUSLY WOUNDED REMAINS UN­

ACCEPTABLY AND UNNECESSARILY HIGH. WE URGE YOU TO TAKE IMMEDIATE ACTION AND PASS 

S. 555. 

THANK YOU. 

statement submitted by David J. steinberg, Executive Director and 
Acting Chairman of the ~ational Council for a Responsible Firearms 
Policy to the U.s. Senate Committee on the Judiciary in support 
of 5.555, a bill to stop the proliferation of "cop killer" bullets 

March 20, 1984 

The National Council for a Responsible Firearms Policy is a 
private, nonprofit organization established in 1967 under the 
leadership of the late ~ames V. Bennett, who for about 27.years 
had been the highly esteemed Director of the Bureau of Pr~sons 
in the u.s. Department of Justice. Dedicated to public.safety, 
and respectful of the rights and privileges of all Amer~cans 
(those who own guns and those who do not), the Council is not 
and has never been "anti-gun", or "anti-handgun" per se. Nor 
is it "pro-gun" or "pro-handgun". It is "anti" the easy acc7s­
sibility of guns and ammunition ~o persons w1;lo lack ~he cruc~al 
qualifications for safe, respons~ble possess~on.o~ ~~rearms, and 
"pro" policies that seek to prevent such accesB~b~l~ty. ~t ad­
vocates public-awareness programs on the dangers and sP7c~al 
responsibilities of private possession of guns of al~ k~nds. It 
seeks policies that clearly advance the overall publ~c ~nterest 
in every aspect of this subject. 

Within the framework of these principles, the Council supports 
measures to prohibit production and sale, for private use, of hand­
gun bullets capable of penetr.ating the protection-vests used by 
the police. These "armor-piercing" bullets are not needed by 
persons who use handguns for legitimate purposes. We understand 
that such ammunition is not even used by police departments. Many 
states and localities have already prohibited the sale and use of 
such bUllets. A federal law along these lines is needed to ensure 
nationwide application of this stricture. We therefore support 
5.555. 

In view of the possibility that definition of uarmor-piercing" 
bullets to be banned may be a matter of some dispute, we suggest 
:':hat the bill require the Secretary of the Treasury (in ""hose de­
partment the enforcement of firearms legislation is located) to 
provide appropriate and ample opportunity for gun owners, ammuni­
tion manufacturers and other interested parties to be heard on 
the question of which bullets deserve to be banned from public 
distribution pursuant to the purpose of this statute. 

The American people have a huge stake in protecting their 
police officers against a~unition capable of ~ullifying the 
effectiveness of the spec~al apparel these off~cers ma~ ""7ar for 
protection against hostile gunfire. Much more than th~s ~s ne7ded 
to secure a firearms policy that fully adVances the total pu~l~c 
interest. Additional reforms apparently will be delayed unt~l a 
much later time. Action on armor-piercing bullets is something 
for which an unusually wide range of public and police support 
should be, and may be, at hand. The public interest demands 
action now! 
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STATEMENT OF 
THE 

INTERPATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF POLICE OFFICERS 

The International Brotherhood of Police Officers (IBPO), is 

pleased to have this opportunity to present our views on the Law 

Enforcement Officers' Protection Act of 1983 (S-555). This legis-

lation would stOG the proliferation of the certain restricted bul-

lets, the so called "cop-killer" bullets. 

The International Brotherhood of Police Officers is one of 

the largest police unions in the country. We are part of the 

Pational Association of Government Employees, and an affiliate 

of the Service Employees International Union (AFL-CIO). We repre-

sent police officers employed in federal, state and local crovern-

r:;ents throughout the countr:y. Our organization has long supported 

legislation which improves the "lorking conditions of our nation's 

police officers. We have played an active role in such legis-

lation as Public Law 94-430, the Public Safety Officers Eenefit 

Act of 1976. 

Police officers with the mission of protecting public 

safety and the arrest of criminals are on the front lines of 

our judicial system. Increasingly, police officers have become 

a target of violent crimes. The number of police officers killed 

in the line of duty has more than tripled in the last two decades. 

t·-:any of these deaths were accomplished through the unlawful use 

of handguns. The growinq numbers of police officers killed or 

ffiaimed in the line of duty indicates that their profession is one 

of our nation's most dancrerous. 

The cost of these injuries and deaths to the taxpayers and 

to the officers and their families is staggerinrr. The cost of 

injury to the officer and his family needs no elaboration. At 

a time when all levels of crovernment suffer budgetary restraints, 

these injuries are a severe handicap to government's ability to 

fight crime. 

The IBPO has long supported efforts to improve the health 
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and safety of our nation's police officers. Realistic measures 

must be taken to protect the safety of our police if they are 

to continue to fight crime effectively. 

Actions can be taken by local governments to improve the 

health and safety of our nation's police officers. 

Local governments can improve the safety of police work 

through the use of modern equipment and throuqh proper training 

and supervision. Under certain conditions however, there are 

limitations on the ability of local governments to protect 

their police and fight crime. Congress has long recognized that 

the federal goverl'.ment has an important role to play in fighting 

crime, and in protecting those who are on the front lines of that 

endeavor. 

Many deaths and injuries to police officers were accomplished 

by means of a handgun. The frequency which police officers have 

been killed or wounded has convinced many federal, state and lo­

cal governments to supply their police officers with bullet proof 

vests. These vests have provided a measure of protection to po­

lice officers against criminals who \IIould use quns to further 

their unlawful ends. Most police-issued vests are made of a ma­

terial called Kevlar and is generally effective against the bul­

lets fired by handguns and submachine guns. Our organization has 

SUpPol"!:ed the issuance of vests as a method of improving the safety 

of a police officer's job. 

Recently, it has come to the ~'lidespread public attention 

that bullet proof vests provided by government are totally in­

effective against a Teflon-coated green tipped bullet called KTN. 

The bullets are made of machine steel and nonferrous alloy which 

are harder than conventional lead slugs. These bullets do not 

deform much on impact and because they are coated with Teflon, 

they encounter ess r~c ·~on.... _ 1 f · t' Accord 4 ng to literature printed 

by the manufacturer, a KT~'l slug fired from a .357 Hagnum can 

pierce 1-3/4 inches Of cold rolled steel. Firearms specialists 

report that the bullet can shoot through concrete blocks, an 
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automobile engine block, barricades or an armor plate. Most bul­

let proof vests used by police officers are made of 16-18 layers 

of Kevlar. A KTvl fired from a .357 magnum will fly through 72 

layers of Kevlar. 

The penetrating power of this and similar bullets makes it 

a danger to the public safety. The primary practical use of this 

bullet is to penetrate bullet proof vests. The bullets appear to 

have no practical use for hunters or sportsmen. Except in the 

hands of law enforcemtn personnel, the sole purpose of this type 

of bullet appears to be as an instru~ent to achieve an unlawful 

end. 

This bullet with such horrifying destructive potential is 

readily available to the general public and can be purchased 

over the counter in gun shops. There have been reports that sales 

of the KTW are growincr rapidly follOl·,ino national publicity about 

the bullets' destructive capabilities and easy accessibility. 

The IBPO believes that the KTW bullet presents significant 

danger to the safety of our nation's police officers and to the 

public at large. The bullet provides criminals with a legal 

instrument of destruction whose primary purpose is to penetrate a 

police officer's protective armor. The easy accessibility pro­

vides a threat nationally to the public safety. The issue needs 

to be addressed comprehensively by this Congress. 

The IbPO stronly supports S-555 as a comprehensive and 

necessary step to protect the safety of our nation's police of­

ficers and insure their continued capacity to fight crime. 

This legislation introduced by Senator Moynihan prevents 

t.he manufacture, importation, sale or use of certain classes of 

restricted bullets such as the KT'il. The Secretary of the Treasury 

is authorized to determine which bullets are restricted in accord-

ance with the guidelines established by Congress. Basically, a 

restricted bullet is one which, when fired from a handgun with 

a barrel five inches or less in length, is capable of penetratinq 

body armor. stiff penalties in this legislation serve as a strong 
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deterrent to the production, sale or use of this bullet or others 

with its destructive potential. There is no intention on the part 

of the sponsors, or supporters of the legislation, of which we 

are aware, to limit the availability of conventional ammunition 

to law abiding citizens for self defense and sporting purposes. 

This legislation is desiqned solely to exclude as bullets which 

have one purpose and only one purpose --- to kill police officers. 

The Congress has already adopted a policy of restricting the 

availability and use of certain type of firearms and weapons in 

order to assist police officers fioht crime. In Article 18, 

Section 922 of the united States Code, the Conqress outlawed the 

sale of the short barrelled rifle, the sawed off shotgun, machine 

guns and classes of weapons known as "destructive devices". 

Congress has provided a stiff deterrent to the sale or possession 

of such weapons as a means of controlling ~heir availability. 

This method has provided the best method for combatting avail-

ability and use. 

Police officers have a very difficult and dangerous job. 

They are exposed to unseen dangers every day. If we are serious 

about fighting violent crime, we must take steps to protect those 

who are on the front lines of this battle. Ne must provide rro­

tection for our police against known and preventable dangers. 

We, therefore, urge your favorable consideration of S-555, which 

protects police from the danqers of the Teflon bullet. 

Finally we would like to thank Chairman Laxalt and mem­

bers of the Sub-Cow~ittee for focusing national attention once 

again on this important problem. We would also like to thank 

Senator ~oynihan for his leadership on this issue. 

Q 
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STATEHENT SUBHITTED TO THE SENATE JUDICIARY CONl-lITTEE 
SUBCONNI TTEE ON CRHlINAL LAW 

Harch 7, 1984 
by 

Donald E. Fraher 
Legislative Director 
Handgun Control, Inc. 

Handgun Control, Inc., is a national citiZens or
9
anization of 

over 821,000 Americans concerned about handgun VIolence. We are 
working for the passage of a federal law to keep handguns out of 
the wrong hands. HCI strongly supports the Law Enfo:cement 
Officers Protection Bill (5. 555) and applauds the tlreless 
efforts of Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan and Congressman Hario 
Biaggi to achieve passage of this vital legislation. 

The proliferation of cop-killer bullets is of great concern to 
our Supporters, many of whom serve in th~ law en~orcement , 
community, Handguns account for Over 75k of pOlIce deaths In, 
the line of duty, For that reason, nearly half of the nation s 
police wear bulletproof vests for protection. It is Our firm 
belief that the production of handgun bullets designe~ , 
specifically to defeat those vests should be stopped lmmedlately. 

When the Law Enforcement Officers Protection Bill was first 
introduced, Handgun Control, Inc., supported it and assumed it 
would pass the Congress virtually unopposed. Before long, 
however we realized the bill faced a fierce challenge by the 
Nationai Rifle Association. It was then that we joined the law 
enforcement campaign to urge the bill's passage. The basis for 
Our involvement is perhaps best expressed in a letter from a 
woman in Alexandria, Virginia, Who Wrote: 

Dear Congressmen: 

As the mother of a local police officer I urge you to ban 
the cop-killer bullet. I'm tired of the NRA having control 
of everything connected with guns in this country. A~ide 
from police officers one of you gentlemen or the Presldent 
may well be the next target of one of these bullets! 

Her sentiments are echoed by thousands of others __ police 
officers and their friends and families as well as concerned 
Americans with no other personal stake in this issue but the 
safety of Our law enforcement community and public offiCials. 
Host compelling of all are the letters we've r~ceived f:om . 
police themselves -- members of the rank and flle ~ho rlsk thelr 
lives every day in the line of duty. One such offIcer wrote: 

The public needs to be aware of this situation that we 
police officers are in. It's n~t bad enoug~ that they 
(meaning the bad guys) have vehlcles that wlll leave 
us in the dust, and better equipment than the sma lIe: 
Dept. can offer the officer, but to give them somethlng 
of this quality that is capable of penetrating a vest that 
a police officer has gone to all the tr~ub17 to put,on and 
then put up with all the hassle of WearIng It. It Just doesn't seem fair. 

Thousands of these rank and file law enforcement officers have 
signed Our petitions endorsing S. 555. Not only individuals, 
but the largest law enforcement organizations in the country as 
well have demanded a ban on cop-killer bullets. At last count, 
36 police groups had offiCially endorsed S. 555, including the 
Fraternal Order of Police, the International Brotherhood of 
Police Officers, the International ASSOCiation of Chiefs of 
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Police, and state and local police organizations from Las Vegas, Nevada to Reading, Pennsylvania. 

In addition, we submit for the record a compilation of 136 
editorials from all across America calling for passage of the 
Hoynihan-Biaggi bill. More newspapers endorse the bill each wt'!ek. 

The reasons for this public outcry are sound. It may be true 
that bulletproof vests were never intended to protect the wearer 
from every firearm attack. But they were deSigned to defend 
police from the most common and deadly-attack __ by handguns. 
FBI crime statistics show that street criminals simply do not 
kill police with long guns, fists, bottles, bricks, knives, or 
any other conceivable weapon nearly as often as with handguns. 
The same is true for Our elected officials __ the chief threat 
to Our President and other prominent public figures is the 
concealable handgun. The purpose of bulletproof vests is to 
protect against handgun fire, and since 1975 they've been doing 
a good job. According to the Department of Justice, approxi­
mately 400 police lives have been saved by the vests, and in the 
first years the vests were used (1974 - 1981), police deaths declined 31%. 

That's why cop-killer bullets are such a terrible threat. When 
fired from an ordinary handgun, these bUllets negate any benefit of wearing a bulletprool vest. 

Perhaps defense of these bullets would be feasible if they had 
any legitimate use. Opponents of the cop-killer bullet ban are 
hard-pressed to find any SUch purpose. Law enforcement has 
refused to Use them, despite any contention by their 
manufacturers that they are deSigned for police. Aside from the 
fact that police rarely reqUire a handgun bullet capable of 
penetrating walls, cement blocks and steel, the bullets are 
simply too dangerous to Use. If they hit their target, they are 
quite likely to keep on going and injure innocent bystanders Or 
even people beyond walls. They also riCOchet far more than 
ordinary bUllets and, again, increase the risk of hitting the wrong target. 

Responding to the widespread OPposition to continued sale of 
cop-killer bullets, at least 10 state legiSlatures and the City 
Council of the District of Columbia have outlawed them. Kansas, 
Oklahoma, Alabama. Rhode Island, Illinois, Hawaii and California 
paved the way in 1982. In 1983, Florida, Indiana and Texas 
jOined them. These states represent every geographical area of 
the United States, and the margins by which their legislatures 
enacted cop-killer bullet bans were universally overwhelming. 

The problem is that state laws end at state lines. Even those 
states that have acted On this threat are sUbject to prolifer­
ation of the bullets from their neighbors. We need a uniform 
national law to stop the cop-killer bullet. Even President 
Reagan acknowledged that fact When he addressed the National 
Rifle Association's national convention last year. 

Despite its broad-based support, the Law Enforcement Officers 
Protection Bill has still to be enacted three years after its 
original introduction. The Reagan administration must accept 
partial responsibility for this failure. The Department of 
Justice promised to provide Congress witb a test for identifying 
cop-killer bullets by the end of last summer, but has 
continually delayed. However, the National Rifle ASSOCiation 
and the peddlers ,of cop-killer bullets, Whose sole concern is 
profit, are far more CUlpable. They have sought to deceive the 
Congress about the true impact of this legislation. 
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The most misleading argument against S. 555 claims that 
cop-killer bullets cannot be defined and any legislation to ban 
them would inevi tably outlm" a host of commonly used sporting 
ammunition. Yet the very proponents of that argument 
simultaneously assert that the manufacturers of cop-killer 
bullets have been instructed by the Treasury Department to sell 
them to police only, and therefore they pose no threat. There 
is something wrong with this logic. First, if the bullets can't 
be defined adequately, how did the Treasury Department manage to 
make an agreement with their manufacturers to restrict their 
sale? Second, if opponents of S. 555 believe that such an 
agreement was a positive step, why do they balk at making that 
agreement the law, with effective enforcement and mandatory 
sentencing for violators to back it up? As William Summers of 
the International Association of Chiefs of Police put it: 

Claims that this ammunition is designed for police use 
only are merely a ludicrous ploy to gain market accept­
ability, since no enforcement of the regulation is 
possible. 

This point is illustrated by the experience of Arthur Kassell, 
Chairman of the California Narcotics Authority. During an 
interview in 1982 on the NBC Magazine television pr0p,ram, he 
explained how he had purchased KTW bullets, labeled 'For Police 
Use Only." 

One of the stores that was mentioned, we contacted them 
and just said we'd like to get some KTW bullets ... And 
they said fine. And I gave them my address and they sent 
them to me C.O.D. 

Mr. Kassell was never asked if he was a police officer or if the 
bullets were for police use. It isn't difficult to imagine this 
scenario repeated hundreds, perhaps even thousands, of times 
throughout the country, whether the bullets are intend:d for 
police Use only or not. As long as no law governs thelr sale, 
cop-killer ,bullets will be available to criminals and assassins. 

A second argument, repeated often by the NRA, is that cop-killer 
bullets simply are not used to kill police and therefore no 
threat has been demonstrated. This reasoning fails to acknow­
ledge that information on police shootings is not always 
complete with details of the type of ammuniton used. The FBI 
did not even note until 1980 whether or not a slain officer wore 
a bulletproof vest. Furthermore, police only began wearing 
bulletproof vests in the mid-seventies, and so it was not until 
after that time that criminals had any reason to even contem­
plate means of defeating soft body armor. 

There are in fact at least two documented cases of cop-killer 
bullets being used against police. The bullets caused the death 
of one victim and the disability of another. How many police 
need to die bel ore the NRA is convinced that the threat is 
realT Twenty? One hundred? Waiting for tragedy to provide 
evidence of the danger is irresponsible when legislation to help 
prevent such tragedy awaits p~ssage. 

In the face of Congressional inaction and NRA pressure, an 
alternative to banning cop-killer bullets has been offered in 
the House and incorporated in the Criminal Code Bill (So 1762), 
which passed the Senate last month. This alternative is 
mandatory sentencing for using cop-killer bullets in the commis­
sion of a crime. Proponents of the measure say it overcomes any 
confusion over defining the,"bullets. The sentence only would be 
imposed on criminals who carry bullets that could penetrate a 
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bulletproof vest if fired from the handgun used in the particu­
lar crime in question. 

Many well-meaning legislators agree that thfs idea may be the 
answer: it evades the question of definition while focusing on 
criminals. Yet successful execution of this idea would have to 
be next to impossible. Its implication would be that every time 
a criminal were caught with a handgun, the law would require 
local police to test the bullets contained in the weapon to 
determine whether or not they were in fact armor-piercing when 
fired from that particular gun. Given the number of armed 
criminals arrested every day, one has to wonder where police 
would find the facilities, time and inte~est to perform 
ballistics tests routinely in an effort to enforce this law. 
Aside from any testing problems associated with mandatory 
sentencing alone as a means of stopping cop-killer bullets, the 
fact remains the mandatory sentencing proposals do not address 
the central issue: saving police lives. S. 555 would impose 
mandatory sentences for using cop-killer bullets in crime while 
taking the crucial step of stopping their manufacture and sale. 
It is of the slightest consolation to the spouses, families, 
friends and colleagues of a slain police officer to know that 
his killer is behind bars -- if, that is, the killer is one of 
the few that is caught, conviCted, and sentenced. Tbose who 
have recognized the cop-killer bullet threat and therefore 
endorsed the mandatory sentencing proposal have simply stopped 
short of a real answer. If the Moynihan-Biaggi bill saves even 
one life, it will have done a far better job than mandatory 
sentencing alone ever can. 

There is only one objective for which we should all be working: 
protecting our police. The nation's largest police 
organizations, newspapers from across America, thousands of rank 
and file police who have signed Our petitions, and 10 State 
legislatures are asking the Congress to stop cop-killer 
bullets. 17 Senators and 182 Congressmen have responded by 
cosponsoring the Moynihan-Biaggi bill. Handgun Control, Inc" 
urges this Committee to take action as well and favorably report 
the bill. Remember that until these bullets are outlawed, no 
police officer, nor even Our President himself, can feel 
protected by his bulletproof vest. In the words of an officer 
in Iowa City, Iowa: 

The odds for the officer out on the street aren't 
always good to begin with, and as for myself, knowing 
these bullets are available to the average man on 
the street won't make me feel any bette~ When I put 
on my vest every night before wotk. 

Surely our police deserve whatever protect~on the law can 
afford. Each and every day these men and women risk their lives 
for our safety and security. The very least we can do in return 
is to pass the Law Enforcement Officers Protection Bill. Thank you. 

'" 
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Statement By 

The Wildlife Legislative Fund of America 

In Opposition to 

S. 555 

The Wildlife Legislative Fund of America, on behalf of hunting and 

shooting sportsmen. takes strong objection to S. 555 in its present 

form, by which "restricted handgun bullets" as defined by the Secretary 

of the Treasury may not be imported, manufactu}"ed or sold in this 

coulltry. 

We object because the potential breadth of prohibition by the bill 

will make types of bullets illegal which are used by hunters and target 

shooters, and which have posed no problem to law enforcement officers of 

the sort to which the bill is directed. 

What will be prohibited by the bin will depend upon the l"egulations 

adopted by the Secretary of the Treasury. The only standards given him 

by the bill are a five-inch barrel and that the bullet must be "capable 

of penetrating body armor"·, wh'ich is defined as "a commercially avail­

able, soft, lightweight material with penetration resistance equal to or 

greater than that of eighteen layers of Kevlar". 

The bill leaves variables to the discretion of the Secretary of the 

Treasury that will have a significant effect on the cover'age of the law, 

and thus whether it will unnecessarily and adversely affect innocent 
users. 

We respectfully call the committee's attention to the statement of 

Rudolph Giuliana, Associate Attorney General, U.S. Department of Justice, 

before the Subcommittee on Crime, Committee on Judiciary, House of 

Representatives, on May 12, 1982, pOinting out that the Department had 

been unable to describe armor-piercing handgun ammunition in a way that ~ 
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reaches all rounds capable of defeating soft body armor without in­

cluding a number of popular handgun bullets which have long been widely 

used for legitimate sporting and recreational purposes. 

Also, as noted by Robert E. Powis, Department of the Treasury, in 

criticizing a similar bill, the performance of a bullet is dependent 

upon a number of factors including the quantity and type of propellant 

power used to assemble the bullet into a cartridge. The bill before 

this committee totally overlooks this fact. Mr. Powis stated: "Many 

sporting rifle cartridges \~ould end up being restricted by this bill"-­

because the cartridges are usable in a handgun, and thus would fall 

under the bill IS prohibition. 

The National Rifle Association has called this bill a "Trojan 

horse". He fi nd thi s a most fitti ng descri pti on for a bill that on its 

face offers much, but in its effect will result in something very 

different and undesirable. 

37-220 0 85 - 9 
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STATEMENT OF 
JOHN M. SNYDER 

DIRECTOR OF PUBLICATIONS AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS 
CITIZENS COMMITTEE FOR THE RIGHT TO KEEP AND BEAR ARMS 

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: 

Please accept my thanks for this opportunity to present 
my views o~ legislation pending before this Subcommittee. 

The Citizens Committee for the Right to Keep and Bear Arms 
opposes S. 555, by Sen. Daniel P. Hoynihan of New York, and 
H. R. 953, by Rep. Mario Biaggi of New York. 

While ~hese proposals to outl~w all handgun bullets capable 
of penetrat~ng the 18-layer Kevlar vest except those for military 
and police use have been hailed in some quarter~ as great 
humanitarian initiatives designed to eliminate so-called "cop 
killer" bullets from the general public, this really is not the 
truth of the matter. 

The truth is that the "cop-killer" bullet argument is a bogus 
argument. Passage of the Noynihan-Biaggi measure would bad the: . 
vast majority of the ammunition currently available to the 
general shqoting public, including jacketed cartridges and 
military-type cartridges. 

Available evidence suggests that the so-called "cop-killer" 
bullet designation given certain ammunition by certain individuals 
and groups is in reality a phony designation since there is in fact 
no such thing as a "cop-killer" bullet in the first place. 

Proponents of the legislation in question have not demonstrated 
that the designated ammunition is necessarily the amrrmnition 0f 
choice of criminals who murder police officers - the real "cc-p 
killers." Nor have thE:" shOl·m that, even if that were the case, its 
elimination from the general shooting public would result in a 
reduction of murders of police officers. 

The truth of the matter is that ammunition subjected to the 
"cop-killer" designation is legitimate ammunition used by millions 
of law-abiding American shooters. 

The legislative attempt to ban so-cC'..lled "cop-killer" 
ammunition must be seen for what it really is - a cheap political 
attempt to trick members of this Louy into denying Americans the 
right to keep and bear arms by denying them the right of access 
to the ammunition used in many of those arms. . 

If proponents of this legislation really want to stop the 
murder of police offiCers, they should get after the real cop-killers, 
criminals who murder police officers, and not ammunition currently 
on the market to tens of millions of law-abiding American gun owners. 

It's important to 8r.!e the KTN-bullet ban movement for '\>,That it 
really is, an attack on legitimate shooting in general under the 
bogus humanitarian argument of protecting police officers from 
criminals. 

A conci"f! analysis of this entir:'~ subject was prepared last 
summer as a monograph by Douglas Zimmer, Public Affairs Director 
of the Second Amendment Foundation. For thn benefit o£ the Members 
of the Subcommittee, I respectfully request that the full text 
of Mr. Zimmer's monograph be included in the record of these 
proceedings. A 
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KTW Bullets: Deadl, Controvers, or Media Hype? 

Introduction 

A great deal of controversy has been generated recentlY,over 
the existence of KTW-type "super bullets"with plastic-coated 
tips capable of zipping tnrough police soft body armor as though 
it were cheese. Cries for the banning of such "cop-killer" 
bullets echo through the halls of government, yet government 
'agencies such as the U.S. Justice and Treasury Departments have 
called the furor a tempest in a teapot and have said that 
proposed bans would be unworkable, unenforceab+e and impractical. 

Unfortunately, due to the smoke screen created,by the media, 
. many Americans do not fully understand this highly complex and 
often confusing issue. 

In January of 1982, NBC Magazine aired a program, depfcting 
in a spectacular fashion how speclalized bullets can 'penetrate 
soft body armor of the. type currently worn by many policemen. 
The sensationalistic program left a false impression that such 
high-penetration bullets were being used solely to kill 
policemen. 

Not to be outdone, CBS devoted broadcast time to the subject 
in June and later did a Sixty Minutes segment on' it. Bothe 
programs deplore,d the existence of high-penetration ammunition 
and implied that it was easily available to criminals as well as 
the general public. Both suggested that by banning bullets 
capable of penetrating Kevlar-type vests, communities would be 
safeguarding the lives of their policemen without depriving 
sportsmen of legitlmate sporting ammunition. The programs left 
the impression that bullets capable of penetrating soft body 
armor served no sporting purpose or, indeed, any purpose except 
to kill policemen. '. 

The truth of the matter' is that the existence of such 
bullets is not new information to either police or knowledgable 
gun enthusiasts. Bullets capable of' piercing the Kevlar vests 
existed long before the vests themselves did. It may, however, 
have been news to criminals. 

During the month follow~ng the networks' first programs 
about KTW-type bullets and their effect on police body armor, 
four' vest-wearing officers -- two in Chicago, one in Detroit and 
one in ~olumbu~, "Ohio, were killed by head or neck shots. 
Informed' b'y J:,he: .. media that 'police ",ere wearing armored vests, 
criminals responcled' not 'by using exotic ammunition, but simply by 
sho~ti'ng at.,~xp.osed, non-armored, portions of the body. I 

. . 
Mil i tary forces have been using armor-piercing ammunition 

since the turn of the century and police forces have been using 
such bullets since the 1930s to stop suspects fleeing in 
vehicles. The KTI'I bullet itself was developed over a dozen years 
ago by two policemen and a county coroner in Ohio because they 
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wanted police to have a b~llet that would reliably shoot through 
a c~r door. The KTW name ~tself comes from the first initials of 

.thelr last names: Kopsch, Turcus and Ward. 

Yet since its development in 1968, there is no evidence that 
the so-called "cop-killer" round has ever been used in a crime or 
an assault on a police officer. KTW ammunition is expensive 
!$1.S0 ?e~ round) and i~ ~old only to law enforcement personnel. 
The ma]Orlty of the llm1ted amounts produced each year are 
exported to foreign governments for use by tneir domestic police 
forces. ~s a t:"esul t, most knowlegable firearms experts do not 
regard KTW-type bullets as a gr.:at threat to the lives of our 
nation's policemen. 

Unfortunately, the press and some uninformed politicians 
have continued to call for a ban on armor-piercing bullets, 
coated bullets, or bullets "capable of piercing a policeman's 
bullet-proof vest." The problem with such proposed laws is that 
they are of~en based on some type of penetration criteria, such 
as penetratlng 17 layers of Kevlar -- the standard strength of 
t~pe-1 body armor. Unfortunately, such a ban would eliminate 
vlrtually all bullets used by big-game hunters. 

Armor-Piercing Bullets and Bullet-Proof Vests 

Body armor comes in many types and grades. l1any manufac­
turers .prod~ce several g~ades of armor, offering increasing 
protectlon wlth correspondlng increases in expense and weight 
Many .of th~ ~est grades will stop KTW bullets. The lowest grade~ 
a:-e lnsuff~clent to stop many types of standard pistol ammuni­
tlon. Onl~ a few e~t7emely heavy vests will stop standard rifles 
usin~ hunt~ng ammunltlon. 

Most vests are s<;>ld with a chart showing what types of 
ammuni tion they will Wl tnstand. Some will absorb certaln types 
of rounds when f.ired from a short-barreled gun, but not when 
fired from one .w~th a longer barrel which develops more velo­
cit.y. Even us~ng the same gun, certain brands of ammunition 
achleve greater penetration than others. 

. The pr~b~em t~at becomes clear,. then, is that bullets cannot 
be slmply dlvlded lnto classes that will or will not pierce body 
armor. Any . attempt to define anti-cop bullets runs a serious 
risk of bannlng many types of ammunition now used by sportsmen. 

What is an Armor-Piercing Bullet? 

Due to its greater· power and much greater velocity most 
standard hunting ~mmunition will penetrate all but the h:aviest 
bOdy. a.rmor. .Incldentally, the government has classified many 
tradltlonal rlfle rounds as handgun ammunition, since there are 
handguns ch~m?ered for those loads. Even the famous .30-30 is 
today class~fled as a handgun round. 

. The military "hard-ball" surplus ammunition used' by many 
pllnkers and target shooters would be banned by such criteria as 
would many ~yper. of .bullets designed for handgun hunting and 
loaded for hlgh veloclty and penetration. In fact such a ban 
based on penetration would wipe out nearly all but'the weakest 
slowest loads· and calibers. ' 

The mass media have made much of the green Teflon coating on 
KTW bull.etsi many believe that the bullet owes most of its 
penetratln~ power to the plasti~. ~n reality the plastic coating 
on. the KTW s and other armor-plerclng rounds is a lubricant used 
malnly t~ protect gun barrels from the extra wear created by the 
fast-mov~ng~ extra-hard bullets. At best, the lubricating effect 
of the coatlng adds 10 or 20 percent to the depth of penetration 
of the target. 
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Unfortunately, an attempt to ban "coated bullets" would also 
end up outlawing the plastic-coated bullets now used on many 
indoor target ranges to decrease the amount of lead fumes 
released into the atmosphere. Lead is highly toxic and in the 
past, shooters have become seriously ill from firing lead bull~ts 
in enclosed spaces. Some manufacturers have begun coating their 
target loads with plastic to ~educe these fumes as well as 
decreasing the "leading" of the bores of fine target guns. 

Many bench shooters in pursuit of pin-point accuracy have 
begun using super-hard, plastic-coated bullets both for greater 
ballistic stability and reducing the barrel wear on their expen­
sive rifles. These shooters also would be denied their sport by 
a general ban on coated bullets. 

Ironically, KTW bullets are probably among the least threat­
ening to police officers because of their small production 
numbers, high cost and limited distribution. Also their enhanced 
penetration makes them unlikely to cause death or maiming unless 
they hit a specific vital area, such as the heart. Otherwise the 
wound channel they create tends to be much smaller and the hydro­
static shock to the victim is much less than that created by 
standard soft-nosed ammo. 

As a matter of fact, armor-piercing rounds, since that is 
what a KTW really is, are not new at all. Nor are the fully 
jacketed rounds that drive straight through all but the heaviest 
body armor. Oddly enough, they were once thought of as a 
"humanitarian" advance in the art of warfare. 

History of Armor-Piercing Bullets 

In the latter part of the 19th century, with the advent of 
smokeless powder, manufacturers discovered that the increased 
temperatures and speeds of the new ammunition were literally 
mel ting the lead bullets as they raced through the gun barrel. 
To overcome that problem, bullet manufacturers began experi­
menting with various metal covers or "jackets" for the soft lead 
cores. These jacketed bullets did stand up to the higher temper­
atures and velocities of the new cartridges but at the same time 
manufacturers discovered that they had much higher penetration 
than the earlier soft-lead bullets. These new bullets, the mili­
tary soon discovered, would go right through a target without 
expanding and without expending much of their velocity upon 
impact. 

Initially this was thought to be a great advantage -- a 
humanitarian stroke in the terrible field of civilized warfare. 
Now it was considered. possible to shoot an enemy "cleanly" with­
out leaving the terrible crushing wounds of the type that dismem­
bered so many soldiers in the American Civil War where both sides 

'J primarily used soft lead bullets. Now a soldier who was hit on 
the field of battle stood a much better chance of survival 
because of the "clean" wounds left by the non-expanding bullets. 

Unfortunately, the disadvantages of these jacketed bullets 
soon became apparent to soldiers pitted against a truly committed 
enemy. Their high penetration characteristics often made them 
zip right through an oncoming foe, delivering a mortal wound but 
leaving enough mobility in the wounded man for him to push home 
his attack, often with fatal results to the surprised shooter. 

To counteract this unsatisfactory state of affairs, several 
nations experimented with expanding bullets designed to "mush­
room" upon impact to create greater shocking power and larger 
wound cavities, resulting in quicker kills. 

These "dum-dum" bullets; so called because an early British 
experiment in such matters had taken place at the Dum-Dum arsenal 
in British India, were much more effective in stopping fanatical 
tribesmen, but were generally deplored for use against civilized 
troops. Indeed, during the Boer War at the turn of the century, 
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both sides had a tendency to arbi trarily execute any prisoners 
found to be carrying soft-nosed bullets. 

As the world progressed into World War I and developed more 
sophisticated methods of making the other fellow die for his 
country, a military philosophy arose that declared it was more 
effective to wound your enemy than to kill him, since wounded men 
require care -- often taking as many as nine men out of combat to 
care for one casualty. Jacketed bullets, now called "hard-ball," 
became the accepted "humane" cartridge for military purposes. In 
fact, they were certified as such by the famous Geneva Conven­
tion. 

World War I also saw the advent of armored vehicles on the 
battle field and it didn't take long for the armorers of both 
sides to realize that by reinforcing the jackets of the bullets 
just a bit, they could be made to penetrate much of the so-called 
armor plate. By the end of World War II, such "armor-piercing" 
bullets were so common that they made up about one in four of the 
rounds fired in battle. 

With the cessation of hostilities, millions of military 
firearms, no longer needed by the belligerent nations, became 
available to the civilian population along with millions of 
rounds of mil i tary ammuni tion. Because of their condition and 
availability, these weapons were sold at bargain-basement prices, 
often through the mail, and found the~f way into the hands of 
thousands of Americans across the nation. 

Although armor-piercing ammunition was of little interest to 
many civilian shooters because its over-penetration made it 
unsuitable for hunting, many target shooters picked up on it 
because of its accuracy and especially because of its low price 
as the military dumped large stocks of aging ammo on the civilian 
market. Much of th is hard-ball ammo was picked up by weekend 
shooters and plinkers for recreational target 'shooting. More was 
purchased by shooters who favor self-loading handguns because 
many auto~loaders will not function properly with soft-nosed 
ammo. For years, surplus "hard-ball" ammo was a bargain bonanza 
for economy-minded shooters. 

At the same time, police generally deplored the use of soft­
nosed ammo as inhumane and used hard-nosed rounds specifically 
for humanitarian reasons. 

Crime Control and Armor-Piercing Bullets 

Unfortunately, the ~~erican criminal is more enterprising 
than humane and with the development of heavier and stronger 
handgun cartridges and high-impact hollow-point bullets, police 
began to find themselves outgunned and firing markedly inferior 
bullets. Many departments slipped back into using soft-nosed or 
hollow-point bullets to increase bullet impact on suspects and 
decrease officer injuries. This, in turn, created more problems 
as the soft-lead low-velocity bullets were incapable of pene­
trating barriers such as car doors and garbage cans -- allowing 
criminals st\:cely ensconced behind their garbage cans with their 
superior magnum-granted firepower to shoot and kill officers with 
near impunity. 

The result was the increased use of body armor by police, 
beginning as attempts by individual officers to protect them­
selves and increasing to the point where nearly half the police 
in the country are wearing some form of bullet-resistant body 
armor. The lives of hundreds of policemen have been saved by 
vests absorbing rounds from suspect's firearms. Yet no officer 

. has been killed wi th an armor-piercing round. There is no 
evidence that criminals have sought out such exotic ammunition 
with criminal intent. There is evidence~ however, that they~ave 
responded to the broadcasts in a different way. 
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with the increased publicity about body armor and the 
't t d by the media's anti-KTW bullets'required'to penetrate ~ crea e 

campaign police deaths have begun to rise again. Not fro~ the 
use of a;mor-piercing rounds, or the failure of vests to p~r orm~ 
neither of these have ever occurred. Alert~d by the me~~~ that 

man olicemen wear body armor and that the~r bullets m~g t no 
ie~c: it, criminals have begun to shoot at areas of the body not 

~rotected by the vest-type armor. Thus w~at be9an perhaps as a 
well-intentioned crusade by the media to a~d pol~ce has beco~~ a 
serious problem to sportsmen and a deadly horror to po ~ce 
officers. 

Conclusion 

Although it is clear that criminals do not seek out armor­
piercing bullets to counter, po~ice bO~y armo~ t . :ndwo~i;h~~ih b!h: 
experts all agree that bann~ng Ja.c~ete ammun~ ~ n di 

kable solution, some polit~c~ans and mucn of the me a 
~~~tinue to call for totally needless and unenforceable bullet 
bans. 

Richard C Davis president of one of the nation's, largest 
bod a~mor man~factur:rs put the whole KTW controversy ~n pro~­
pec{ive in his 'testimony before Congress in March of )982: Dav~s 
was testifying against KTW-ban proposals although h~S t~~:~~~~~~ 
are the vest-buying police ban proponents say are mos 
by the ammo: 

"I am probably in a position to b~ m07e sens~~~ve than any­
one to reports of KTW or pther armor-p~e~c~ng ammo being used by 
criminals to penetrate vests," Davis sa~d. n In spite of news 
stories -- it just hasn't happened." 

Davis went on to point a finger at the real problem in ~~e 
whole issue. "My general feeling," Davis said, "is that th!re ~s 

. approximately a hundred times greater chance o~ ,the pOl~c~men 
being killed by a head shot due to this vest pUbl~c~ty than t ere 
'b ' , 1 seeking out exotic armor-piercing ammo and then ~s y a crlmlna 'b d in law 
deliberately shooting a policeman with It. Every 0 ~ , , 
enforcement has to realize that vest ~ubl~city of any k~nd k~lls 
cops! Somebody talks, somebody else d~es. 

Second Amendment Foundation 

Douglas Zimmer 
Public Affairs Director 
Second Amendment Foundation 

June 14, 1983 
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Testimony of the 
National Association of Police Ogunizations (NAPO) 

in Support of S. 555 

The National Association of Police Organizations (NAPO) is an organization 

which represents some 45,000 working police officers nationwide, and is primarily 

concerned with national legislation which affects the well-being of public safety 

officers throughout the United States. 

Of all the legislation concerning public safety officers it would seem that this 

bill, S. 555, and H.R. 953, introduced by Congressman Hiaggi in the House, is one 

upon which all segments of the law enforcement community and the executive and 

legislative branches of government could agree. We frankly do not understand the 

opposition to this bill, nor the foot-dragging that has blocked the passage of this 

legislation for over two years. 

As an organization which represents "line" police officers we know only too 

well the statistics which point up the cases of death and serious injury to officers 

who might be unfortunate enough to be the targets of a criminal weapon without 

the light body armor which many of our police officers now wear. We also know 

the statistics which show the high incidence of lives saved and serious injuries 

avoided as the result of the use of protective vests. This alone should be enough 

"evidence" to support the ban on the manufacture, importation, and sale of 

ammunition which can penetrate the most common protective vests. 

But the statistics alone can never tell the whole story. The personal tragedy 

of losing a police officer in the line of duty is one which we unfortunately live with 

on .1 daily basis. When police officers are killed by criminals, it is a loss to their 

family and friends, to their COlleagues, and to the community as a whole. For it is 

the communi ty which has lost an individual who has said he will risk his life to 

insure public safety and order. The United States Congress has the opportunity, 

through the passage of this legislation, to affirm that it values the sacrifice of its 

public safety officers, and that it will not allow even one life of policemen to be 

lost if it could have been saved. 

This is not an anti-sportsman bill nor is it an anti-gun bill. We have precise 

enough knowledge of what kind of ammunition pierces light body armor and what 

kind does not. The time for debate has now passed. We ask for action on this bill 

now. 
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TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL K. BEARD, PRESIDENT, THE NATIONAL COALITION 
TO BAN HANDGUNS, REGARDING S.555, THE "LAW ENFORCEMENT 

OFFICERS PROTECTION ACT OF 1983" 

America must do everything it can to ensure the safety of its 
police officers. Because of this, the National Coalition to Ban 
Handguns (NCBH) strongly urges that The Subcommittee on Criminal 
Law act favorably on S.555, the "Law Enforcement Officers 
Protection Act of 1983." 

Founded in 1975, The National Coalition to Ban Handguns consists 
of 31 national organizations, including such groups as the 
National Urban League, the U. S. Conference of Mayors, and the 
American Association of Suicidologists. The combined membership 
of these groups is over 10 million. NCBH also has over 120,000 
individual members. 

NCBH's goal is to ban the private possession of handguns in 
America (with the exception of military and law enforcement 
personnel, target shooters, and collectors whose handguns have . 
been rendered inoperable). NCBH focuses only on handguns, and ~s 
not concerned with long guns. Because the Coalition recognizes 
the legitimate sporting uses of rifles and shotguns, a main 
concern of NCBH was that S.555 would not have any undue impact on 
rifle ammunition. After analysis of the bill, and assurances 
from its sponsors that every effort would be made to ensure that 
it would not, NCBH fully supports S.555. 

Since 1974, over 950 police officers have been killed in the line 
of duty--two thirds of them by handguns. Were it not for the 
availability of police body armor this number would have been 
much higher. Over the past ten years, over 400 police lives have 
been saved by these vests, and more than half of America's 
528,000 policemen now wear them. 

These vests can stop the majority of handgun bUllets. But 
there are armor-piercing handgun bullets, readily available, that 
can cut right through them. These bullets are commonly known to 
both the police and public as "cop killer bUllets." 

Handgun bullets that can shoot through concrete block, an 
automobile engine block, or armor plate have no legitimate 
hunting or target shooting purpose. Even police have found no 
use for armor-piercing bullets because of their low stopping 
power and tendency to ricochet unpredictably. They ~ amazingly 
suited for one thing though--shooting through body armor. 

Arthur M. Kassel, chairman of the California Addict Evaluation 
Authority has stated that "Anybody that's using this bullet is 
out to kill a cop and that's just about what it's used for. 
Nothing else. Nothing else is it good for." The gun lobby's 
response to statements like this has been predictable. Neal 
Knox, former National Rifle Association (NRA) lobbyist and Board 
Member, stated in 1982 that, "There's no such thing as a good 
bullet or a bad bullet." And a 1983 NRA Issues Brief assures the 
reader that "No police officer has ever been shot with a KTW [one 
of the 8 known types of armor-piercing bullets that the FBI has 
identified as being available in America]. No criminal misuse of 
this ammunition has ever been documented since the bullet was 
developed twelve years ago." 

Unfortunately,· both of these statements are f.alse. Three law 
enforcement officers have already been shot with armor-piercing 
handgun bullets. 

In 1976, state Highway Patrolman Phillip Black and visiting 
Canadian policeman Donald Irwin were shot and killed with 9mm KTW 
ammun~tion in Broward County, Florida. Their killers were 
arrested shortly ~fter the murders with more of the bullets in 
their possession. 
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In 1974 Protective Service Officer John Rixham, Jr. was 
patrolling the Social Security Building in Woodlawn, Maryland 
when he came upon a drunken man and woman in a parked car. The 
man grabbed Rixham's revolver and shot him at point-blank range. 
kixham's bulletproof vest stopped the slug. Seconds later 
another shot was fired by the ~]oman from a second handgun. The 
bullet, a 9mm armor-piercer, penetrated the back of Rixham's 
vest, cut a hole through his abdomen and exited l;hrough the front 
of the vest. Rixham is now permanently disabled. The criminals 
escaped. 

The gun lobby is aware of these fact.s, but will not acknowledge 
them. And even if; they did, .i. t is unlikely that they would view 
only three known 'misuses' of these bullets as adequate reason 
for banning them. These are the same people that consistently 
tell us that 23,000-24,000 annual handgun deaths are a fair price 
to pay for the approximately 200 times a year handguns are used 
by civilians to kill criminals. 

Although some have tried to Qeal with the problem of "cop killer 
bullets" by denying it, others have taken more concrete action. 
Kansas, Oklahoma, Alabama, Rhode Island, Illinois, California, 
Florida, Texas and Indiana have already outlawed armor-piercing 
handgun bullets. Bills have been filed in other states, 
including Pennsylvannia, Ohio, Connecticut, Massachusetts, and 
New York. 

Police groups across the country, including the International 
Association of Chiefs of Police, the International Brotherhood of 
Police Officers, The National Association of Police Officers The 
Fraternal Order of Police, the New York Patrolmen's Benevole~t 
Association, and the Los Angeles Police Department have also 
called for this ammunition to be banned. 

The gun lobby's efforts to stop 8.555 are based on neither 
reasoned analysis of the facts, nor concern for hUman life. 
Their actions are based on fear--the fear of establishing banning 
as a precedent in national legislation. 

They have made their choice. It is now the responsibility of 
Con~ress~ with t~e support of the police and public, to pass this 
leg~slat~on and ~ncrease the safety of our nation's police. 

America must do everything it can to protect its police. Tc this 
en~, the ~ational Coalition to Ban Handguns strongly urges that 
th~s comm~ttee act favorably on S.555. 

Mr. Chairman, I would also like to SUbmit for the record the 
names of the 31 national organizations that are the National 
Coalition to Ban Handguns. They are: the American Association 
of Suicidology; American Ethical Union; Americans for Democratic 
Action; American Jewish Congress; American Psychiatric 
Association; American Public Health Association; Black Women's 
Community Development FOUndation; B'nai B'rith Women' Board of 
Church & Society, United Methodist Church; Center fo; Social 
Action, United Church of Christ; Church of the Brethren 
Washingt?n Office! Friends Committee on National Legisl~tion; 
Internat~onal Lad~es' Garment Workers Union; Jesuit Conference 
Office of Social Ministries; National Alliance for Safer Citie~. 
National Association of Social Workers; National Council of ' 
Jewish I~omen Inc.; National Council of Negro Women' National 
Jew~sh Welf~re Board; National Urban League, Inc.;'political 
Act70n Commlttee, Women's National Democratic Club; The Bible 
~ol~ness Movement. Internatio;'lal; The Program Agency, Presbyterian 
Ch~rch, (~SA); Unl~n ~f Amer:can Hebrew Congregations; Unitarian 
un7versal~st Assoc~at~on; Un~ted States Conference of Mayors' . 
Un~ted States Student Association; United Synagogue of Ameri~a' 
Women's DiViSion, Board of Global Ministries, United MethOdist' 
Chu~ch~ Women's .Le~gue for Conservative Judaism; Young Women's 
Chr~st~an Assoc~at~on of the U.S.A., National Board. 
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'NATIONAi ' 
ASSOCIATION 

of 

COUNTIES 
.... 0 First St. sIr: lr'asbillgt(lIl. DC .WOO I 

2021393·6226 

M~rcli 6'~';1994' . 

The Honorable Paul Laxalt 
Chair, Criminal Law Subcommittee 
United States Senate 
SD-148 Dirksen Senat~ Office Building 
Washington, D. C. 20510 

Dear Senator Laxalt: 

The National Association of Counties' Justice and Public 
Safe!y Steering Commi~tee has closely followed Senate Bill 
S. 5~5 and the companlon House Bill H.R. 953 that would prohibit 
the manufacture, importati?n.and sale of the armor-piercing hand­
gun ~ullet, except a~ speclflca~ly authorized for the purposes of 
publlC safety. or nat~o~al securlty. The Committee was very pleased 
to learn that the Crlmlnal Law Subcommittee will be holding hearings 
on S. 555 o~ March 7~ 1984~ and wishes to commend you for providing 
an opportunlty for dlSCUSslon of this important legislation. 

~t their.January 24,.1983 meeting, the JUstice and Public Safety 
Steerlng ~omml~tee passed a resolution that encourages Congress to 
enact legls1atl0n that would ban the future manufacture importation 
or sale of armor-piercing bullets, except as specificaliy authorized 
for the purposes of public safety or national security. This resolution 
~as ~pproved bY.NACo'~ membership at their July 1983 Annual Conference 
~n Mll~auk~e, Wlscons~n. A copy of the resolution is enclosed for 
lncluslon ln the hearlng record. 

NACo.fully.supports S. 555 and urges that your Committee give it 
full cOhs~deratl0n .. Donal~ Murray of my staff will be happy to answer 
any questl0ns regardlng thlS issue. 

Sincei'ely. 

MBC:bw 

Enclusure 
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ADOPTED AT NACo's 
48th ANNUAL CONFERENCE 

July 19, 1983 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

RESOLUTION ON THE ARMOR-PIERCING BULLET 

WHEREAS, certain bullets have been deSigned specifically for the purpose 

of armor penetration; and 

WHEREAS, these armor-piercing bullets were intended for police and mili-

tary use, but are available commerCially; and 

WHEREAS, these bullets can pierce an auto engine block, the side of a 

house and go through several bullet-proof vests without lOSing substantial 

velocity; and 

WHEREAS, these bullets can pier~e the Kevlar bullet-proof vest that has 

been credited with saving the lives of 400 police officers over the last 10 

years; and 

WHEREAS, these bullets endanger the lives of law enforcement officers, 

public officials and private citizens; and 

WHEREAS, law violators use these armor-piercing bullets to diffuse the 

effectiveness of law enforcement activities; and 

WHEREAS, our nation's law enforcement officers need and deserve the best 

protection that we can provide them; and 

WHEREAS, there is considered to be no legitimate use of these bullets by 

private citizens; and 

WHEREAS, the banning of armor-piercing bullets should not interfere with 

the rights of the legitimate sportsman; and 

WHEREAS, numerou~ cities, counties and states have passed their own legis-

lation banning armor-piercing bullets; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the National Association of Counties urges 

Congress to enact legislation, with heavy penalties, that would ban the future 

manufacture, importation, possession or sale of armor-piercing bullets, except 

as specifically authorized by a governmental agency for the purposes of public 

safety or national security. 
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Des Moines Police Burial and Protective Association 
Municipal Court Building 

DES MOINES, IOWA 50309 

Mr. Bill Miller 
U.S. Senate Judiciary Committee 
Subcommittee on Criminal Law 
\'{ashington, D.C. 20510 

Dear Mr. Miller: 

.... 35 

20 March 1984 

On 14 March 1984, a special meeting of the Des Moines Police 
BUrial Association was held and the following is the resolution which passed unanimously: 

1. The Des Moinks Police Burial Association opposes Senate 
Bill 555 because of the provisions in this particular bill which 
will ban most sporting rifle ammunition and much legitimate pistol 
ammunition in the name of protecting police officers aga.inst armor piercing bullets. 

2. We support the testimony of Lt. Kayne Robinson before the 
U.S. Senate. We endorse the proposal outlined by the Treasury and 
Justice Departments for strong mandatory sentences without parole 
or probation for use of firearms or armor piercing bullets. 

3. Since most police officers are killed by dangerous crimi­
nals on early release from a previous conviction, l"e believe police 
lives can be saved by keeping such persons in prison longer. 

4. We will SUpport legislation which prevents criminal misuse 
of armor piercing ammunition without interfering with lawful pri­vate firearms ownership. 

Sincerely, 

~~WJ;,Zh~~ 
Dennis C. Westover, President 
Des MOines Police Burial Association 
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